The dilemma cannot be sidestepped. The future of
the proletariat requires heroic decisions. If there
are some organizations attempting to strangle the
revolution, we must be ready to shoulder the re-
sponsibility of a moment in history which, by rea-
son of its very grandeur, presupposes a series of
measures and decisions that are not out of tune
with the present hour.

With the Revolution, or lined up against it.
There can be no middle ground.

In La Noche of April 7, Balius had an article entitled “In this
grave hour. The sovereign will resides in the people,” in which
he reiterated the viewpoint he had spelled out in his April 5%
article and repeated his attacks on Companys.

Also in La Noche, there were several articles by Mingo,?° re-
markable for their vehemence, sounding the alarm about the
advance of the counterrevolution, eulogizing anarchism’s rev-
olutionary spirit (which was held to be incompatible with gov-
ernmental collaborationism, which had to be ended forthwith),
attacking the UGT, the PSUC, Comorera and Companys over
their constant defamation of the Confederation, agreeing that
there was an overriding need (as spelled out by Balius) to do
away with the Generalidad, and echoing the growing malaise
among the people. But the most interesting of these articles
was the one given over to the municipalities, because his think-
ing (merely outlined here) was to be spelled out in full in the
program set out by the Friends of Durruti in El Amigo del Pueblo
after May. In that article,?! Mingo stated:

% Articles in La Noche bearing Mingo’s signature are “Nuestra labor.
La Revolucién ha de seguir avallzando” (April 2, 1937), “Al pueblo se le ha
de hablar claro”(April 8, 1937), “La Revolucién exige una labor depuradora”
(April 9, 1937) and “Una labor revolucionaria. La revalorizacién de los Mu-
nicipios” (April 13, 1937).

! Mingo: “Una labor revolucionaria. La revalorizacién de los Municip-
i0s,” in La Noche (April 13, 1937).
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promise with groups that not only have no feeling
for the revolution but are also in the minority.

Balius published (in the March 27, 1937 edition La Noche) an
article entitled “The revolution has its requirements. All power
to the unions,” in which he dealt with the protracted crisis in
the Generalidad government. His view of the trade unions as
organs of the revolution is very interesting. He classified the
Generalidad government crisis as the product of the tensions
characterizing a situation of dual power: the Generalidad made
laws and passed decrees, but the unions paid no heed to the
Generalidad’s decisions. In Balius’s view, for the revolution to
move forward and consolidate, power had to pass to the work-
ing class, and this was encapsulated in the slogan: ‘All power
to the unions.

Balius also penned an intriguing article entitled “A histori-
cal moment. A categorical dilemma” (La Noche April 5, 1937),
in which he probed the significance of the crisis in the Gener-
alidad government. As far as Balius was concerned, the Gener-
alidad was a relic from the past, one that was incongruent with
the new revolutionary needs:

The Generalidad government is a hang-over from
the past, from a petit-bourgeois system that
involves all sorts of incongruencies, vacillation
and hypocrisy.

Thus, according to Balius, there could be only one resolu-
tion of the Generalidad government crisis. A change of govern-
ment personnel would achieve nothing. And Balius even made
a veiled appeal for the CNT to replace the Generalidad
with the power of the workers, and sweep the counter-
revolutionary parties out of existence:

We are not pessimists, but we honestly believe that
we have not been equal to the challenge.

51



signed to the bourgeois parties which had no feel-
ing for the revolution, in that their task was to
champion the interests of the petite bourgeoisie
and of the UGT which had a very tiny following in
Catalonia compared to ours. (...) By entering into
a compact with them, we have lost hegemony over
the Revolution and have found ourselves required
to compromise day after day, with the result that
the Revolution has been disfigured as the initial
revolutionary gains have been whittled away.

Out of this has arisen the formation of the “Friends
of Durruti,” in that this new organization has as
its primary object the preservation, intact, of the
postulates of the CNT-FAL

Pablo Ruiz concluded the interview by setting out his own
view of how the revolution might be set back on the right track:
1. Propaganda should be carried out within the CNT, with-
out recourse to violence. 2. There should be pressure for trade
union (CNT) direction of the economy. 3. The political parties
should be pushed aside. 4. No alliance and no compromise with
the forces harboring the counterrevolution, that is, the PSUC

and the UGT:
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The direction of the economy and of society ought
to be vested in the trade union organization [the
CNT], with no place for the political parties, on
the basis that these do not meet the criteria to be
regarded as renovative. None of which implies im-
position through force, but rather through propa-
ganda within CNT ranks. [...] And I am opposed
to involving the political parties, being convinced
that that would entail loss of the revolution, which
has to be prosecuted by every means short of com-
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for the Gelsa militias opposed to militarization of the columns.
We are offered a short but intriguing biographical sketch of
Pablo Ruiz, thanks to which we know that he was a member
of the Figols revolutionary committee back on January 8, 1933,
that he fought at the head of forty men in Las Rondas and the
Paralelo in the July events, that he had a hand in the siege and
final assault upon the Atarazanas barracks, alongside Durruti
and Ascaso, and that he had set off for the Aragon front in the
Durruti Column, and had been on active service there in the
Gelsa sector ever since. After a paean to the virtues and advan-
tages of the anarchist peasant collectivizations in Aragon, the
interviewer asks his views on militarization. His answer was
considered, prudent and nuanced: but at the same time quite
coherent and radical, as if to underline the incompatibility be-
tween anarchistldeasand the war’s being directed by the bour-
geoisie and the Republican State:

to reorganization of the Army, we have no objec-
tion, for it ought to be remembered that we were
the first to call for a single, common command (...)
in the care of delegates from the various columns
by way of ensuring homogeneity in the perfor-
mance of them all. Let restructuring proceed,
but let the people’s Army not be in thrall to the
Generalidad, nor to the Central Government. It
must be under the Confederation’s control”

In the interview, Pablo Ruiz alludes to the constant retreat
from the revolutionary gains of July and to the inception of the
Friends of Durruti:

When we left for the front we left it to our com-
rades to ensure that the Revolution would march
on to victory, in the anarchist sense. But, in the
elaboration of that Revolution, a role has been as-
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cializations of firms being dismantled just as soon as the war
was won.

In La Noche of March 13, 1937, Balius had an article entitled
“We must wage war. Our future requires it,” calling for a war
economy and criticizing the Generalidad’s economic policy.

Balius’s article, “Fascist barbarism. We must use the mailed
fist” (in La Noche of March 16, 1937) referred to the air raids
on Barcelona, attacked the exchanges of refugees through the
embassies and called for the stamping out of the fifth column.
He even recommended that neighborhood watch committees
be set up. The writer’s conclusion was that an immediate purge
of the rearguard was imperative and a necessary prerequisite
for success in the war:

No purge has been made of the rearguard. (...) Fas-
cists are still at large in huge numbers. (...) Our
enemies must be rounded up and eliminated (...)
Anyone attempting to dampen the fires of popular
justice is an enemy of the Revolution. Let us act
with the utmost vigor. Heedless of our soft hearts,
let us show the mailed fist.

The March 18 edition of La Noche carried an insertion re-
porting the formal launching of the Friends of Durruti. Félix
Martin(ez) was listed as the group’s secretary and Jaime Balius
as vice-secretary. José Paniagua, Antonio Puig, Francisco Car-
reno, Pablo Ruiz, Antonio Romero, Serafin Sobias and Eduardo
Cervera were listed as members of the steering committee.

On Tuesday, March 23, 1937, Balius had a piece published in
La Noche under the title “Time to be specific: Catalonia’s role in
the Spanish Revolution,” wherein he championed the Catalan
proletariat’s role as the driving force of a thorough-going social
revolution, which was not, as in Madrid and other regions in
Spain, hobbled by the immediate needs of the war.

In the March 24" edition, the paper carried a lengthy inter-
view with Pablo Ruiz, a member of the Group and spokesman
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Preface to the
English-language Edition

Agustin Guillamoén’s monograph on the Friends of Durruti
Group affords readers of English the most comprehensive and
thorough exploration and account of the history and ideas
of that group. Few groups if any have suffered from such
widespread misunderstanding, exaggeration and interested
misrepresentation. Guillamén has brought new evidence to
light and disposes effectively of some of the most enduring
misrepresentations.

Liberals, Stalinists, marxists and libertarians have vied with
one another in their condemnation and misrepresentation of
the group and its message. Italian Stalinists accounted associ-
ation with the group grounds enough upon which to execute
political opponents. On May 29, 1937, the Italian Communist
Party paper Il Grido del Popolo carried an item which referred to
Camillo Berneri as “one of the leaders of the ‘Friends of Durruti’
Group, which (...) provoked the bloody insurrection against the
Popular Front Government in Catalonia [and] was given his
just desserts during that revolt at the hands of the Democratic
Revolution, whose legitimate right of self-defense no antifas-
cist can deny.” There is no evidence at all to connect Berneri
with the Friends of Durruti. On behalf of the “Errico Malatesta”
group, Domenico Ludovici, an Italian anarchist, retorted that
“The unfortunate comrade Berneri was not a member of the
‘Friends of Durruti’ Group, not that there would be anything
wrong in that and it would never excuse the cowardly murder
of which he was the victim. No doubt the democratic ‘journal-



ist’ from Il Grido del Popolo must be a co-religionist of the per-
petrators of the barbarous act hence the concern to represent
the ‘Friends of Durruti’ as the provocateurs of the bloodshed,
which everybody, the whole world, save Il Grido del Popolo,
knows were of ‘democratic’ derivation.”! Curious that the Ital-
ian anarchists of the Ascaso Column, whose scrupulous com-
mitment to principle over pragmatism frequently set them at
odds with their Spanish colleagues, seem to have found little if
anything to criticize in the performance of the Friends of Dur-
ruti. Even with the benefit of ten years of hindsight, Ernesto
Bonomini could speak approvingly of the group.?

As to the allegation that the Friends of Durruti had instigated
the fighting in Barcelona in May, they rebutted that when it
came from Las Noticias. “They must think us real idiots, be-
cause, had the groups they named [the Friends of Durruti and
the Libertarian Youth] been the instigators of the revolt, no
way would we have surrendered the streets

If the Friends of Durruti certainly did not instigate the
events of May 1937, they equally certainly were among the
few with a ready response to them. They had been alive to the
encroachments of the revived Catalan State and bourgeoisie
for quite some time and had been yearning for a return to
the uncomplicated radical confrontations that had brought
such promise with the victory over the fascists in July 1936.*

! Writing in Ideas (Bajo Llobregat) No 24, June 17, 1937, p. 4.

? Ernesto Bonomini wrote an eyewitness account of the May events in
Barcelona for Volonta No 11, May 1, 1947.

* El Amigo del PuebloNo 4, June 22, 1937, p. 3, “El asalto a la Telefonica”.

* Spanish anarchism was more comfortable with radical contrasts than
with the blurred edges created by, say, the antifascist umbrella, or, earlier,
republican ralliement. “We Spanish anarcho-syndicalists were faithful to the
dialectical principle to the very end. Liberal or reformist government we
made an especial target of our spleen, out of a secret feeling of competition.
We would rather unemployment lines than unemployment benefit. Given a
choice between enslavement to bosses and cooperativism, we preferred the
former. And emphatically rejected the latter” — José Peirats Examen critico-

On March 6, 1937, Balius had an article in La Nocheentitled
“Counter-revolutionary Postures. Neutral positions are damag-
ing,” in which he catalogued the features of the new security
force set up by the Generalidad government, identifying it as a
bourgeois corps in the service of the capitalist State and inimi-
cal to the most elementary interests of the workers.

March 8, 1937 saw the publication in La Noche of one of those
articles so typical of Balius’s style, where, through an astute
admixture of news and opinion, he recorded the spectacle of
trains crammed with residents of Barcelona off into the coun-
tryside in search of foodstuffs. By means of a description of the
folk thronging the carriages, Balius lashed out at the new ap-
proach being adopted in the provision of supplies, an approach
introduced by the Stalinist leader, Comorera.

In its March 11, 1937 edition, La Noche carried an article pay-
ing tribute to the figure of Durruti. Balius recalled the address
given by Durruti over the radio from the Madrid front just days
before he died, an address in which he had deplored the failures
of the rearguard to take the war to its heart. The solution, as
Durruti saw it, lay in waging war properly, enrolling the bour-
geois into fortification battalions and placing all workers on
a war footing. According to Balius, Durruti’s death had been
followed by a funeral fit for a king, but no one had taken his
reasoning to heart. As a result, the journalist concluded, the ar-
gument was beginning to be heard that the civil war was a war
of independence and not the class war that Durruti had called
for. Balius closed the article by asserting that Durruti was more
relevant than ever, and that there could be no loyalty to his
memory that did not include subscription to his ideas.

The following day, March 12, Balius had a piece in La Noche
entitled “Comments by Largo Caballero: Counter-revolution
on the march,” in which he was critical of statements by the
UGT leader, describing them as counterrevolutionary, in that
they confirmed an intention to revert to the situation which
had obtained prior to July 19, with the collectivizations and so-
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piece, became, thanks to its not being an organizational paper,
the paper in which the Friends of Durruti were able to give free
expression to their criticisms of the official policy of the CNT.

Without doubt the most outstanding articles are those from
Balius, but we cannot fail to mention those above the signature
of Mingo, on the subject of the Municipality and trade union
management of the economy, because these represent a very
significant factor in the political theory of the Friends of Dur-
ruti.

In the March 2, 1937 edition, Balius published an article en-
titled “Careful, workers, Not a single step backwards,” which
had the merit of catching the eye of Nin, who, in the March
4™ edition of La Batalla , gave a glowing welcome to the views
set out by Balius, and also to the launching of the Friends of
Durruti Group announced in the same edition, on account of
the chances that it might give a revolutionary fillip to the CNT
masses, whom the anarchist leaders were leading down the
path of the crassest and most short-sighted reformism.

In that article, Balius railed against the view, increasingly
widespread in some anarchist circles, that, if the war was to
be won, the revolution had to be abjured. And he bluntly cited
an article signed by the prominent treintista militant Juan
Peir6. After noting the onslaught of counterrevolution, which
was now demanding that the Control Patrols be disbanded,
he placed the blame for this upon the ongoing policy of
appeasement pursued by the CNT. The article called for an
amendment of this policy, for only if the revolution made
headway in the rearguard could the war be won on the
battle-fronts. The article’s title, “Not a single step backwards!”
was therefore a very telling one.

Cataluna, 15, principal, (CNT Journalists’ branch) between five and seven in
the evening. —
The steering commission —
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Such a feeling was a rather diffuse presence in many sectors
of the libertarian movement in Catalonia. The dalliance of
the organizations’ higher committees with politicians and
their pursuit of a unified and disciplined policy as an aid
to them in their dealings with the latter had led to certain
unwelcome changes in the everyday practices of those orga-
nizations. By January 1937 Ideas was issuing reminders of
the proprieties of trade union federalism with the capitalized
warning: “The so-called higher committees ought to be
bound by the accords of the trade union organization.
The unions dispose and the committees see to it that the
dispositions are implemented. That is what federalism
is, whatever else is done is dictatorship and that cannot
be tolerated for one minute more.”® That same month the
Libertarian Youth paper Ruta was pointedly reminding its
readers that “All we can expect of self-sufficing minorities
seeking to set themselves up as infallible guides is dictatorship
and oppression.”®

There seem to have been three major preoccupations among
those uneasy with the stagnation and ebbing of the revolution:
1. the attempt to relegate the revolution to second place behind
the war effort; 2. the erosion of accountability of the higher
committees; 3. the suspicion that some compromise resolution
brokered by outside powers was being hatched.” Many reck-

constructivo del Movimiento Libertario Espariol (Editores Mexicanos Unidos,
Mexico DF, 1967) p. 42.

5 Ideas No 4, January 21, 1937, p. 4.

¢ Ruta (Barcelona) No 13, January 7, 1937, p. 6, “Centralismo.”

7 Boldly displayed on the front page of El Amigo del Pueblo No 2, May
26, 1937, was this item: “We are against any armistice. The blood shed by
Spanish workers is an impregnable bulwark upon which the intrigues spon-
sored by home-grown politicians and capitalist diplomats around the world
will founder. Victory or death. There is no other solution.” Similar defiance
of suspected intrigues designed to bring about a diplomatic resolution of the
war and taking things out of the hands of Spanish workers featured in Ideas,
Ruta and other papers also.



oned that their very own leaders had been seduced and cor-
rupted by association with politicians.

The Friends of Durruti shared and addressed all of these con-
cerns. Alone among all the dissidents in the libertarian camp,
they sought to devise a coherent set of alternatives. But the en-
forcement of discipline and the strength of sentimental attach-
ment to organizations hobbled their efforts and reduced their
audience. The mixture of discipline and sentiment is clearly
seen in the letter which two members of the Friends of Durruti
published in the pages of Solidaridad Obrera on May 29, 1937.
Following a threat by the regional committees of the CNT and
FAI and by the CNT’s Local Federation in Barcelona to expel
all members of the Friends who failed to publicly disassociate
themselves from the Group, Joaquin Aubi and Rosa Muiioz re-
signed from it, albeit specifying that “I continue to regard the
comrades belonging to the ‘Friends of Durruti’ as comrades:
butIsay again what I have always said at plenums in Barcelona:
‘The CNT has been my womb and the CNT will be my tomb.”

That dictum in fact could serve as an epitaph for the Friends
of Durruti as a whole. It does not appear that the committees’
decision to proceed with expulsions was ever activated, and
that in itself seems to confirm the degree of rank and file sup-
port for the Friends, as does the CNT national plenum of re-
gionals’ endorsement of Catalonia’s intention to “expel from
the Organization the leading lights of the ‘Friends of Durruti’
Group and to take whatever steps are necessary to ensure that
no split ensues as a consequence of this®

Again the Friends had to remind their “superiors” of the
norms of the organization. No one ever joined the CNT, the
Confederation. All CNT members belonged to local unions and
federations and sovereignty resided in these. “We can only

% José Peirats La CNT en la revolucién espafiola (Ed. Madre Tierra,
Madrid, 1988, Vol. 11, p. 220) citing a CNT National Committee resume of
the accords reached at a national plenum of regionals meeting on May 23,
1937.

Lerida,'® Ideaswas the most outstanding mouthpiece of the an-
archist revolutionary current prior to May.

Balius was appointed director of La Noche on January
26, 1937 by the Local Federation of Unions. La Noche was
an evening daily, run by a cooperative of workers, most of
whom belonged to the CNT, although it was not part of the
organizational press of the CNT.

It was in La Noche of March 2, 1937 that the first report
came of the aims and membership conditions of a new anar-
chist grouping which had taken the name of the “Friends of
Durruti Group.”!’ Between early March and the May events,
La Noche, while it never became the Group’s official mouth-

8 For Acracia of Lerida and its director, Peirats, it is interesting to con-
sult the latter’s memoirs, especially for the stark description of the tremen-
dous disappointment which the CNT-FAI’s collaboration with the govern-
ment created in lots of anarchist militants. See José Peirats Valls “Memorias,’
in Suplementos AnthroposNo. 18, Barcelona, January 1990.

In addition toldeasin Hospilalet and Acracia in Lerida, the follow-
ing were prominent anarcho-syndicalist opposition newspapers critical of
the CNT’s collaborationism: Ciudad y Campo in Tortosa and Nosotros in Va-
lencia. Mention should also be made of Ruta and Esfuerzo, organs of the Lib-
ertarian Youth of Catalonia.

!9 The notice in La Noche (March 2, 1937) states:

“At the instigation of a number of comrades of the anarchist Bue-
naventura Durruti who knew how to end his life with those same yearn-
ings for liberation that marked his whole personal trajectory, it has been
adjudged appropriate that a group should be launched to keep alive the mem-
ory of the man who, by dint of his integrity and courage, was the very sym-
bol of the revolutionary era begun in mid-July. We invite all comrades who
cherished Durruti while he was alive and who, after that giant’s death, have
cherished the memory of that great warrior, to join the “Friends of Durruti.”

The “Friends of Durruti” is not just another club. Our intention is
that the Spanish Revolution should be filled with our Durruti’s revolutionary
spirit. The Friends of Durruti remain faithful to the last words uttered by our
comrade in the very heart of Barcelona in denunciation of the work of the
counterrevolution, tracing, with a manly hand, the route that we must take.

To enroll in our association, you must be a CNT member and fur-
nish evidence of a record of struggle and of love forldeasand for the rev-
olution. For the time being, applications are being received at Rambla de
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attack upon the President of the Generalidad, Luis Companys,
which was carried in Ideas No. 15 of April 8, 1937, under the
title “Let’s make revolution!®

Ideas was a direct antecedent of El Amigo del Pueblo. Al-
though not every contributor to Ideas'” was a member of the

Friends of Durruti, we can state that, along with Acracia in

cismo” (No. 1, December 29, 1936), “La Revolucién ha de seguir avanzando”
(No. 3, January 14, 1937), “El fracaso de la democracia burguesa” (No. 4, Jan-
uary 21, 1937), “La Revolucidn exige un supremo esfuerzo” (No. 7, February
11, 1937), “Despues del 19 de julio” (No. 14, April 1, 1937) and “Hagamos la
revolucion” (No. 15, April 8, 1937).

No. 11 of Ideas(March 11, 1937) carries an unsigned article entitled
“iDestitucién inmediata de Aiguadé!,” denouncing the counterrevolutionary
activities of the Generalidad’s councilor for Security, two months ahead of
the May events, over his theft of twelve tanks from the CNT through the use
of forged documents, and over his systematic recruitment of monarchist and
fascist personnel into the Generalidad’s Security Corps.

16 Balius states: “It is intolerable that an individual without the slightest
support in the workplace should attempt to lay claim to the Power which
belongs to the working people alone. That of itself is enough to tell us that,
had he a sizable body of men at his disposal, that same politician would once
again place the working class in the capitalist harness. [...] For those guilty
of the Revolution’s failure to sweep aside the enemies of the working class,
we have to look to the workers’ ranks, to those who, for want of decisiveness
in the early stages have allowed the counterrevolutionary forces to grow to
such dimensions that it will be an expensive business to put them in their
place”

'7 Issue No. 1 ofIdeascarries the following list of the editors of and con-
tributors to the “mouthpiece of the Bajo Llobregat Libertarian Movement”:
Liberto Callejas (former director of Solidaridad Obrera), Evelio G. Fontaura,
Floreal Ocaria, José Abella and Ginés Alonso, as editors. And Senén Félix as
administrator. As contributors: Jaime Balius, Nieves Nufiez, Elias Garcia, Sev-
erino Campos, José Peirats (director of Acracia in Lerida and future historian
of the Spanish anarchist movement), Fraterno Alba, Dr. Amparo Poch, Ri-
cardo Riccetti, Ramoén Calopa, Luzbel Ruiz, Vicente Marcet, Manuel Vifiuales,
Antonio Ocafa, Tomas and Benjamin Cano Ruiz, Francisco Carrefio (a mem-
ber of the Durruti Column, its delegate to Moscow and a future leading mil-
itant of the Friends of Durruti), Antollio Vidal, Felipe Alaiz (a prominent an-
archist theorist), Acracio Progreso, Manuel Pérez, José Alberola and Miguel
Giménez. The cartoonists included Joaquin Cadena and E. Badia and Bonet.
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be expelled from the confederal organization by the
assemblies of the unions. Local and comarcal plenums
are not empowered to expel any comrade. We invite the
committees to raise the matter of the ‘Friends of Durruti’
in the assemblies, which is where the organization’s
sovereignty resides.”’

A similar concern with constitutional procedure can be seen
in the Friends’ reaction to the news that the arch-Treintista
Angel Pestania, leader of the Syndicalist Party, had been read-
mitted into the CNT fold. “We cannot understand how Pestafa
had been admitted without having been required to wind up
his Syndicalist Party, a precondition stipulated on other occa-
sions when there was talk of his possibly rejoining.”!°

Preoccupied as it was with preserving the CNT-FAT’s clout
within the Republican coalition, the leadership of that conglom-
erate was ever alert to infiltration and to abuse of its initials.
And prompt to see threats of both in the Friends. There were
dark hints of “marxism”, due to certain common ground in
the declarations of the minuscule Bolshevik-Leninist contin-
gent and of the Friends, as well as the Friends’ non-sectarian
acknowledgment of how the POUM had acquitted itself dur-
ing the street-fighting in May. Here again, misrepresentation
has been rife. Balius was moved to challenge his detractors
to substantiate the charges of “marxist” leveled or whispered

® El Amigo del Pueblo No 2, 26 May 1937, p. 3. The Friends pointedly
added:

“Whenever, in contravention of every confederal precept,
someone goes over the heads of assemblies and militants and sets
himself up as a general, making mistake after mistake, he has no
option, assuming he has any shred of dignity left, but to set down.
Garcia Oliver fits that bill!”

' El Amigo del Pueblo No 8, September 21, 1937, p. 2. “The admission
of Pestana sets the seal upon the bourgeois democratic mentality in a broad
swathe of confederal circles. Watch out, comrades.”



against him.!! Guillamén deals definitively with the allegations
of POUM and Trotskyist connections, laying those allegations
to rest. Less easily disposed of is the mythology surrounding
what the Friends themselves recognized was a “slight innova-
tion,” the Revolutionary Junta.

The first thing that needs to be said is that Junta in Spanish
does not have the same pejorative connotation as it does in En-
glish. Each CNT union was run by a Junta. In Mexico, the Mex-
ican Liberal Party of the brothers Magén was run by a Junta.
So the word itself carries no suggestion of authoritarianism.

The next point to be made plain is that the Friends were agi-
tating for a Junta, not reporting the formation of one. Had they
actually formed one and admitted the POUM into it alongside
themselves, then the charges of “anarcho-Bolshevism” some-
times leveled against them, might stand up on the basis of that
substitutionism. But no Junta was ever formed, in spite of what
José Peirats among others claims.!?

One of the most invidious representations, or misrepresentations

regarding the Friends has been the decision by César M.
Lorenzo to incorporate into the footnotes of his book Los
anarquistas espafioles y el poder (Paris, 1972) of a reference to
a Manifiesto de Union Communista purporting to speak for the
‘Friends of Durruti’, the POUM and certain elements of the Lib-

1 El Amigo del Pueblo No 4, June 22, 1937, p. 3, “En defensa propia: Nece-
sito una aclaracién” “I am aghast at countless instances of my being labeled
a marxist, because I am 100 percent a revolutionary.” This comment suggests
that Balius regarded marxists as being something short of 100 percent rev-
olutionaries, although the Friends were generous enough to recognize that
the POUM had acquitted itself well in the street-fighting in Barcelona in May
1937. This rejection of marxism would have applied not to the marxian anal-
ysis of capitalist economics, but to the marxist recipe for changing society,
not to the descriptive but to the prescriptive element.

12 José Peirats La CNT en la revolucién espafiola Vol 11, p. 147. Peirats
reproduces a text which opens “A Revolutionary Junta has been formed [em-
phasis added] in Barcelona” César M. Lorenzo reproduces this text given by
Peirats. But the Peirats text is not a quotation but a mistaken paraphrase.

10

One of the last articles Balius published in Solidaridad Obr-
era (on December 6, 1936) under the title “Durruti’s testament,’
is deserving of a detailed mention. The article is a commen-
tary upon the radio broadcast made by Durruti from Madrid
on November 5,'* only days before he died: written in what
might have appealed to many anarchists a provocative man-
ner, this article gives us an inkling of what was to become one
of the basic ideological pillars of the future Friends of Durruti
Group, namely, the totalitarian character of any proletarian
revolution:

Durruti bluntly stated that we anarchists require
that the revolution be of a totalitarian nature.
And that the comrades standing up to fascism so
doggedly on the fields of battle are not prepared
to let anyone tamper with the revolutionary and
liberating import of this present hour.

(...) Durruti’s testament lives on. It lingers with
even greater force than on the night he harangued
us. We shall see to it that his last wishes are made
a reality.

December 29, 1936 saw the appearance of the first issue of
Ideas the mouthpiece of the CNT federation in the Bajo Llobre-
gat comarca. Balius had an article published in virtually every
edition of Ideas. His articles insistently denounced the advance
of the counterrevolution.!> Outstanding among them was the

' Radio broadcast reprinted in Solidaridad Obrera (November 6,1936).
That edition of Soli attributed the following words to Durruti: “If this mili-
tarization decreed by the Generalidad is intended to frighten us and force
iron discipline upon us, they have made a mistake, and we invite those who
devised the Decree to go to the front ... and then we will be able to make
comparisons with the morale and discipline of the rearguard. Rest easy. On
the front, there is no chaos, no indiscipline.”

' Balius’s most outstanding articles carried inldeasare as follows: “La
pequera burguesia es impotente para reconstruir Espafia destruida por el fas-
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At the beginning of November 1936, Liberto Callejas was
stood down as managing editor of Solidaridad Obrera. Jacinto
Toryho was appointed in his place.!! Bear in mind that at the
beginning of November Durruti had gone to the Madrid front
and four confederal ministers had joined the Republican gov-
ernment. Toryho’s appointment was in response to the need
for the director of Solidaridad Obrera to be an adamant cham-
pion of the CNT’s circumstantialist and collaborationist policy.
By the end of December, Toryho had managed to get rid of Lib-
erto Callejas’s old editorial team of Jaime Balius, Mingo, Alejan-
dro Gilabert, Pintado, Galipienzo, Borras, Gamén,!? etc., who
were against the official CNT policy, and their place was taken
by contributions from prominent anarcho-syndicalist leaders
such as Peird, Montseny and Abad de Santillan, faithful friends
of Toryho, such as Leandro Blanco (erstwhile editor of a monar-
chist newspaper) and the prestigious bylines of “progressives”
like Canovas Cervantes and Zamacois."

ruti” (December 6, 1936) and “La revolucion de julio ha de cellal el paso a los
arribislas” (December 17, 1936).

! See the “Ponencia..” on deposit with the AHMB.

'2 See the “Ponencia..” on deposit with the AHMB.

13 See Balius’s remarks on the replacement of Liberto Callejas by Jac-
into Toryho as managing editor of Solidaridad Obrera, the CNT’s leading
daily newspaper: “And I who served as editor [of Soli] alongside Alejandro
Gilabert, Fontaura and others, ought to make it clear that a distinction has
to be made between Soli under Liberto Callejas’s management and the Soli
run by Jacinto Toryho. As long as Callejas was director the CNT’s July gains
were at all times defended, and anarchist principles praised and propagated.
But once Jacinto Toryho was imposed as director of Solidaridad Obrera, by
the counterrevolutionaries ensconced in the committees, that is, by the ca-
bal which has no goal other than to dispose of the authentic CNT, then not
only was militarization championed, as F. Montseny implies, [but there was]
something else. Day after day one could read in Soli about comrade Prieto
and comrade Negrin. Let us come out with it all: men of dubious repute, like
Canovas Cervantes and Leandro Blanco, former editor of EI Debate, joined
the editorial team at Soli. Life at Soli became impossible. I quit.” (Jaime Balius
“Por los fueros de la verdad,” in Le Combat Syndicaliste of September 2, 1971.)

See also “Ponencia ...”
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ertarian Youth. On the face of it, this clinches the case for the
Friends’ having associated, indeed amalgamated themselves
with marxist elements in a self-appointed vanguard union. But
it is nothing of the sort. Lorenzo states that the manifesto was
“distributed at the beginning of the month of June,” without
specifying where.!® In fact, the text he cites comes from a
leaflet distributed in Paris at the Velodrome d’Hiver on June
16, 1937 by militants of the tiny French Union Communiste
organization by way of a retort to Garcia Oliver and Federica
Montseny, to contrast their official CNT-FAI line with the
revolutionism displayed by the three named groups in May
1937. Whether Lorenzo’s failure to make this clear is due to
an oversight or to its serving his purposes in representing the
Friends as an anarcho-Bolshevik formation is unclear, but the
misrepresentation has been taken up uncritically by others
and contributed to the shadow of ignorance hanging over the
group and its ideas.!*

Union Communiste stole a march on anarchist sympathiz-
ers with the Friends (such as Andre Prudhommeaux) by pub-
lishing translations of articles from EI Amigo del Pueblo in its
own paper, L’Internationale in December 1937. Union Commu-
niste somewhat overstates the case, however, when it added
the comment that: “What the Friends of Durruti cannot say
within the narrow confines of an editorial in a clandestine pub-
lication is that this revolutionary theory is the handiwork of
a vanguard. The necessity of revolutionary theory implies the
necessity of an organized vanguard, thrown up by the struggle,

13 César M. Lorenzo Los anarquistas espanoles y el poder (Ruedo Iberico,
Paris, 1972) p. 219, n. 32.

' The full text of the leaflet from which Lorenzo quotes can be found in
Henri Chaze Chronique de la revolution espagnole: Union Communiste (1933~
1939) (Paris, Cahiers Spartacus, 1979) pp. 114-115. Juan Goémez Casas An-
archist Organization: The History of the FAI (Black Rose Books, Montreal-
Buffalo, 1986, p. 210) uncritically reproduces Lorenzo’s curious footnote as
if it were a Friends of Durruti text.
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which debates and devises the elements of the revolution’s pro-
gram. The necessity, therefore, of a “party”, or, since this word
party has been overused to mean treacherous organizations, of
a banding together of the most clear-sighted, most active, most
committed workers.” And their prediction that “... the Friends
of Durruti will assuredly continue this trend which brought
them into association with the left-wing elements of the POUM
and which may lead them to the constitution of the revolution-
ary party that the Spanish proletariat lacked in the battles of
recent years”, was well wide of the mark, as Guillamén makes
plain.’®

That there were certain questions raised but not quite clar-
ified in the pages of El Amigo del Pueblo and in the Group’s
fuller manifesto Towards of Fresh Revolution cannot be denied.
The Friends were making an honest effort to articulate in an
anarchist idiom what they thought might provide a way out of
the impasse of their much-abused generosity towards other an-
tifascists and a second wind to the revolution which had been
so denatured by collaboration under the umbrella of antifas-
cism. One recurrent phrase is their claim that revolutionaries
had to quemar una etapa (step things up a notch). They sought
to re-found antifascism by asserting the hegemony of the work-
ing class libertarian element, ensuring that due recompense
was received for effort expended. They sought to reinvigorate
the trade unions which had become, if not moribund, then at
least less vibrant, by reclaiming their autonomy and reassert-

ing the protagonism lost to collaboration.!®

'3 Henri Chaze, op. cit. p. 82 (from L’Internationale No 33, December 18,
1937.

16 Exasperation with their republican “allies” was widespread by the
summer of 1937 and before. There were even embarrassed arguments about
the ingenuousness of anarchists. “Let us make very plain the principle that
we owe no loyalty to him who is disloyal with us: that we owe no respect
to him who secretly betrays us, that we have no duty of tolerance to anyone
disposed to coerce us just as soon as he is strong enough to do so and get
away with it, that principle cannot oblige us to respect the freedom of him
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1936), published without byline® as expressions of the Solidari-
dad Obrera policy line. But whatever the extent of his involve-
ment in the drafting of these editorials, it can be affirmed be-
yond doubt of any sort that Balius, through the pages of the
CNT’s organ in Catalonia, in September and October 1936, dur-
ing Liberto Callejas’s time as managing editor, played a very
prominent ideological role as molder and shaper of the polit-
ical stance of the CNT’s main daily newspaper. Ever present
in his articles was insistence upon defense of the revolution-
ary gains of July and the need to press these home to which
end he urged tough, decisive repressive measures or, as Bal-
ius liked to call them, invoking the French Revolution, “public
safety” measures against the counterrevolutionary threat from
the bourgeoisie.!

no han de faltar prendas que son indispensables para sobrellevar la campaiia
de invierno” (October 16, 1936).

® We must not omit to highlight (whether or not it was written by
Balius) the editorial carried anonymously by Solidaridad Obrera (October 11,
1936) under the headline “Ha de constituirse el Consejo Nacional de Defensa,”
because of the way in which it was taken up later in El Amigo del Pueblo, as
one of the most original points in the Friends of Durruti’s revolutionary pro-
gram, to wit, the formation of a Revolutionary Junta or National Defense
Council.

10 See some of these articles of a political nature, in addition to those
named above: “Ha de imponerse un tributo de guerra” (September 8, 1936),
“Once de septiembre” (September 11, 1936), “Como en la guerra. Es de inmedi-
ata necesidad el racionamiento del consumo” (September 16, 1936), “Han
triunfado las tacticas revolucionarias” (September 23, 1936), “Como en la
guerra. La justicia ha de ser inflexible” (October 11, 1936), “Seamos con-
scientes. Por una moral revolucionaria” (October 18, 1936), “Problemas fun-
damentales de la revolucién. La descentralizacion es la garantia que ha de
recabar la clase trabajadora en defensa de la prerrogativas que se debaten
en las lineas de fuego” (October 24, 1936), “Como en la guerra. Los agiotis-
tas tienen pena de la vida” [an uncredited article which can be put down to
Balius] (October 31, 1936), “Como en la guerra. La justicia ha de ser fulmi-
nante e intachable” [attributable to Balius] (November 1, 1936), “Como en la
guerra. Se ha de establecer un control riguroso de la poblacién” (November
3, 1936), “La cuestion catalana” (December 2, 1936), “El testamento de Dur-
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Balius’s journalistic trajectory between July 1936 and the
end of the war is very telling. His political stance of advo-
cacy of permanent revolution remained virtually unchanged
whereas his professional and personal standing underwent
rapid change with the incoming tide of counterrevolution.

Between July and early November 1936, Balius, who, with
no help other than his friend Gilabert, saw to it that Solidaridad
Obrera hit the streets on July 20,” published numerous articles
in that paper, the chief organ of the CNT. Some were purely
informative® in character, as was appropriate for journalistic
reportage: but many of them, and without doubt the most in-
teresting among them, were expressions of political opinion.
These articles, which filled a regular column in Solidaridad Obr-
era,” occasionally appeared on the cover by way of editorial
comment by the paper.® And there is every likelihood that Bal-
ius was the writer of several editorials (in September-October

> “Ponencia que a la Asamblea del Sindicato presenta la seccién de pe-

riodistas para que sea tomada en consideracion y elevada al Pleno y pueda
servir de controversia al informe que presente el director interino de Sol-
idaridad Obrera, dated Barcelona, February 21 and 22, 1937, on behalf of
the Asamblea de la Seccién de Periodistas. [Document on deposit with the
Archivo Histérico Municipal de Barcelona (AHMB).]

¢ See some of the new articles carried by Solidaridad Obrera, like “La
ciudad de Barcelona” (August 18, 1936), “En el nuevo local del Comite de
Milicias Antifascistas” (August 23, 1936), “Ha caido en el cumplimiento de su
deber” (October 3, 1936), “Los galeotos de la retaguardia” (October 4, 1936),
“Solidaridad con los caidos...” (October 9, 1936) or “Los péajaros de la revolu-
cién” (October 16, 1936).

See also, in the September and October 1936 editions of Solidaridad
Obrera, articles similar to those of Balius, under the bylines of Mingo, Floreal
Ocania, Gilabert, etc.

" Balius’s regular column was headlined “Como en la guerra,” and, on
occasion, the articles were not credited. Endériz, among others, also had a
regular column.

8 See some of the articles above Balius’s byline carried on the cover,
like “No podemos olvidar. 6 de octubre” (October 6, 1936), “la revolucién no
ha de frenarse. El léxico de la prensa burguesa es de un sabor contrarevolu-
cionario” (October 15, 1936), “Como en la guerra. En los frentes de combate
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More recently, a rather absurd reading of the facts surround-
ing the Friends of Durruti and the character of Jaime Balius
has emerged from the pens of a duo of Spanish academic his-
torians, Enric Ucelay da Cal and Susana Tavera. Starting from
the laudable intention of tracing the group dynamics within
libertarian circles in Catalonia and with special reference to
the ensconcement of Jacinto Toryho as editor of Solidaridad
Obrera and as the spokesman for the “official line” of the CNT-
FAI in Catalonia, the authors concoct a Machiavellian tale of
Balius’s frustrated journalistic ambition festering into cynical
exploitation of the misgivings and resentments of dissenting
libertarians. Guillamén rightly dismisses the article in question
as “nonsense,” “outrageous” and “derogatory” and it would be
a pity if the authors’ academic distinction were to breathe life
into what is unquestionably a very shabby and shoddy piece of
historical research, all the more aggravating for the pair’s self-
congratulation. Their concoction offers the reader a description
of the launching of the Friends of Durruti in March 1937 as “an
attempt to inject significant political content into personal frus-
tration, singling out as the enemy the counter-revolution and
the Stalinists and, to a lesser extent, those responsible for his
[Balius’s] displacement within the CNT’

Agustin Guillamoén is to be congratulated for having under-
taken his research in a spirit of scientific inquiry. He deals com-
prehensively with the usual fictions and offers us a scrupu-
lously accurate account of theldeasand objectives of what re-
mains the most fascinating and most articulate of the dissent-
ing groups within the greater family of Spanish libertarianism
in the crucial year of 1937.

whose principle is to take away our freedom” (Beobachter, in Ideas No 29,
August 6, 1937).

'7 Susana Tavera and Enric Ucelay Da Cal “Grupos de afinidad, disci-
plina bélica y periodismo libertario 1936-1938” in Historia Contemporanea,
9, (Servicio Ed. Universidad del Pais Vasco, 1993) pp. 184.
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the “journalistic” critique of the CNT-FAI’s collaboration with
the government, as spearheaded by Jaime Balius, opposed the
CNT’s circumstantialist ideology (which provided the alibi for
the jettisoning of anarchism’s quintessential and fundamen-
tal characteristics) as embodied, to varying degrees, by Feder-
ica Montseny, Garcia Oliver, Abad de Santillan or Juan Peiro,
among others.

Repudiation of militarization of the People’s Militias caused
grave unease in several anarchist militia units, and was articu-
lated at the plenum of confederal and anarchist columns held
in Valencia from February 5 to 8, 1937.2 Pablo Ruiz attended
as delegate from the Durruti Column’s militians of the Gelsa
sector who were resistant to militarization, and Francisco Pel-
licer® was present to represent the militians of The Iron Col-
umn. The Gelsa sector even witnessed a defiant refusal to com-
ply with the orders received from the CNT and FAI Regional
Committees that militarization be accepted. The acrimony be-
tween those Durruti Column militians who agreed to the mil-
itarization and those who rejected it caused serious problems,
leading in the end to the formation of a commission from the
Column, headed by Manzana, which raised the problem with
the Regional Committee. The upshot of these discussions was
the decision that all militians be given a fortnight to choose
one of two courses of action: accept the militarization imposed
by the Republican government, or quit the front.*

? Frank Mintz La autogestion en la Espafia revolucionaria (La Piqueta,
Madrid, 1977) pp. 295-308. Also Abel Paz, op. cit. pp. 275-294. And Paul
Sharkey The Friends of Durruti: A Chronology (Editorial Crisol, Tokyo, May
1984).

® Jaime Balius, Pablo Ruiz and Francisco Pellicer were the leading or-
ganizers behind the meeting held by the Friends of Durruti in the Poliorama
Theater on Sunday, April 19, 1937.

* See Jaime Balius’s interview with Pablo Ruiz in the newspaper La
Noche No. 3545 (March 24, 1937): and El Amigo del Pueblo No. 5 (July 21,
1937): and Paul Sharkey, op. cit.
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4. Origins of the Friends of
Durruti; The Opposition to
Militarization and Balius’s
Journalistic Career

The Friends of Durruti Group was formally launched on
March 17, 1937, although its origins can be traced back to
October 1936. The Group was the confluence of two main
currents: the opposition on the part of anarchist militians from
the Durruti Column (and the Iron Column') to militarization
of the people’s militias, and the opposition to governmental-
ism, best articulated in the writings of Jaime Balius (though
not Jaime Balius only) in Solidaridad Obrera between July and
November 1936, in Ideas, between December 1936 and April
1937, and in La Noche between March and May 1937.

Both currents, the “militia” current repudiating militariza-
tion of the people’s militias, as represented by Pablo Ruiz, and

! On the Iron Column, see Abel Paz’s splendid study Cronica de la
Columna de Ferro (Hacer, Barcelona, 1984). As early as September and Oc-
tober 1936, the Iron Column had figured in sensational incidents concerned
with cleansing the rearguard (Valencia city), traveling there from the front
lines in order to demand the disarmament and disbanding of armed corps in
the service of the State and the despatching of their members to front-line
service. Repudiation of militarization of the militias was debated inside the
Iron Column as it was in every other confederal column. In the end, the Col-
umn’s assembly gave its approval to militarization, since it would otherwise
be denied weapons, pay and provisions. Then again, in the event of its be-
ing disbanded, there was a danger that the militians might enlist into other,
already militarized units.
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1. Introduction and
Chronology

The Friends of Durruti were an anarchist affinity group
founded in March 1937. Its members were militians with the
Durruti Column opposed to militarization and/or anarchists
critical of the CNT’s entry into the Republican government
and the Generalidad government.

The historical and political importance of the Friends of
Durruti Group lies in its attempt, emanating from within
the ranks of the libertarian movement itself (in 1937) to con-
stitute a revolutionary vanguard that would put paid to
departures from revolutionary principles and to collaboration
with the capitalist State: leaving the CNT to defend and press
home the “gains” of July 1936, instead of surrendering them
little by little to the bourgeoisie.

This edition of Balance examines the process whereby the
Friends of Durruti emerged, their ideological characteristics
and the evolution of their political thinking, their dealings with
the Trotskyists, and the reasons behind the failure of their fight
to recover anarcho-syndicalism’s doctrinal purity and salvage
the Spanish revolution of 1936.

There follows a chronology which, though selective rather
than exhaustive, contains heretofore unpublished information.
This chronology is intended to afford familiarity with the es-
sential historical events, so that the arguments spelled out in
this study may be more readily and strictly comprehensible.

! The most important studies of the Friends of Durruti Group are:
Francisco Manuel Aranda: “Les amis de Durruti” in Cahiers Leon Trotsky
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CHRONOLOGY

July 17-21, 1936: Servicemen and fascists rebel against the
government of the Republic. Where the workers offer armed
resistance, the rebels fail, securing victory only where there
are attempts at conciliation or no armed confrontation. Civil
war erupts.

July 21, 1936: Establishment in Catalonia of the Central Anti-
Fascist Militias Committee (CAMC). No workers’ organization
takes power.

August 19-25, 1936: Trial of the Sixteen in Moscow. Zinoviev,
Kamenev and Smirnov executed. Radek placed under arrest.

September 26, 1936: Three anarchists — Doménech, Fabre-
gas and Garcia Birlan — join the Generalidad government in
Catalonia.

October 2, 1936: the CAMC is wound up.

October 12, 1936: A Generalidad decree dissolves the (revo-
lutionary) Local Committees. These are shortly to be replaced
by new, Popular Front-style town councils.

October 27, 1936: A Generalidad decree orders militarization
of the People’s Militias.

November 4, 1936: Four anarchist ministers — Garcia Oliver,
Frederica Montseny, Joan Peird and Juan Lopez — join the Re-
public’s government.

November 5, 1936: Durruti makes a radio broadcast from the
Madrid front, in which he opposes the decree issued by the
Generalidad militarizing the militias, and calls for greater com-
mitment and sacrifice from the rearguard if the war is to be
won.

No. 10 (1982); Jordi Arquer: Historia de la fundacié i actuaci6 de la “Agru-
pacién Amigos de Durruti” Unpublished; Georges Fontenis: Le message révo-
lutionnaire des “Amis de Durruti” (Editions L, Paris, 1983); Frank Mintz and
Manuel Pecifia: Los Amigos de Durruti, los trotsquistas y los sucesos de
mayo (Campo Abierto, Madrid, 1978); Paul Sharkey: The Friends of Durruti:
A Chronology (Editorial Crisol, Tokyo, May 1984)
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One final observation: May 1937 signaled the final defeat of
the revolutionary process launched in July 1936. But it was not
the end of the process of counterrevolution, nor the end of CNT
collaborationism, which would culminate in the conclusion of
the CNT-UGT pact in March-April 1938 and in entry into the
Negrin government.

*%

a la Cerdanya (1936-1939) El “Cojo de Malaga” i els fets de Bellver (Pub. Aba-
dia Montserrat, Barcelona, 1991). It has to be stressed that all of these books
have been published by the publishing house of the Montserrat Monastery,
which of course suggests plain ideological servility, which we refuse to ac-
cept as valid in any “objective” evaluation of Jaime Balius and Antonio Mar-
tin, much less their constant delirium, defamation and prejudices with regard
to the libertarian movement.

See too the nonsense and outrageous remarks about Balius, and the
derogatory remarks about the libertarian movement, uttered from a pedan-
tic, academic perspective, incapable of comprehending the meaning in the
1930s of an action group, a trade union, a workers’ athenaeum or a general
strike, in the article “Grupos de afinidad, disciplina belica y periodismo lib-
ertario, 1936—-1938” by Susana Tavera and Enric Ucelay da Cal, in Historia
Contemporanea No. 9, (Servicio Ed. Universidad del Pais Vasco, 1993)

By contrast, well worth reading are Josep Eduard Adsuar’s interest-
ing and illuminating articles on the libertarian movement. See, for example,
“El Comité Central de Milicies Antifeixistes” in L’Aven¢ No. 14 (March 1979),
“La fascinacion del poder: Diego Abad de Santillan en el ojo del huracan” in
Anthropos No. 138 (November 1992). Very interesting too are articles by Anna
Monjo and Carme Vega in the review Historia Oral No. 3, (1990): “Clase obr-
era y guerra civil” and “Socializacién y Hechos de Mayo,” and, of course, Els
treballadors i la guerre civil. Historia d’una industria catalana colectivitzada
by Anna Monjo and Carme Vega ((Empuries, Barcelona, 1986)
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Let us caution the reader that this approach presupposes a
very particular political option® that examines and accounts for
the events, ideologies and contradictions of the Spanish revo-
lution of 1936-1939 in terms of the consequence of the non-
existence of a revolutionary party.

Naturally, the term “uncontrollable” was not, and even to-
day, is not employed as an innocent, neutral term. It is abso-
lutely a derogatory, class term, through which the bourgeoisie
was trying to discredit and defame revolutionaries. It is no ac-
cident that in May 1937 the Friends of Durruti were obliged to
hear themselves insulted as uncontrollables as well as agents
provocateurs and mavericks, even by the FAT itself. Their only
offense was to have attempted to present revolutionary goals
to the proletariat fighting on the barricades.

In every historical narrative, there is always an option in fa-
vor of a particular political assumption. Very rarely is it explicit,
and it is virtually always denied and hidden, in favor of a sup-
posed “objectivity” which is both sublimated and nonexistent.’

8 As spelled out in the thesis on the nature of the revolution and the
Spanish civil war set out in Chapter 2 of this edition (No. 3) of Balance. See
also No. 1 of Balance, which examines the theses of the Italian Fraction (Bor-
diguists) on the Spanish civil war.

? See the defamatory remarks about the Catalan anarchist movement
and the allegations made against Jaime Balius or Antonio Martin, who are
depicted as savage ogres by H. Raguer, J.M. Solé and J. Villarroya, who es-
pouse a “neutrality” which is bourgeois, sanctimonious and Catalanist. See,
for instance, the utterly extravagant accusations, dissevered from the con-
text of a revolutionary situation proper, leveled at Balius on pages 256-258
of the book by the Benedictine friar H. Raguer Divendres de passio . Vida i
mort de Carrasco i Formiguera (Pub. Abadia Montserrat, Barcelona, 1984) and
on pages 67 and 68 of La repressié a la reraguarda de Catalunya (1936—1939)
(Pub. Abadia Montserrat, Barcelona, 1989) by J.M. Solé Sabate and J. Villar-
roya Font. Also worth mentioning is a little volume offering a Catalanist
version of the anarchist government of Cerdaiiia, which involved complete
anarchist control of the border with France, and of the bloody incidents in
Belver, (a direct precedent of the May Events in Barcelona), following which
the Generalidad government managed to capture absolute control in that
border region. See J. Pons i Porta and J.M. Solé i Sabate Anarquia i Republica
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November 6, 1936: The Republic’s government (along with
the four new anarcho-syndicalist ministers) flees Madrid for
the safety of Valencia. The populace of Madrid’s response is
the cry of “Long live Madrid without government!”

November 7, 1936: the International Brigades intervene on
the Madrid front.

November 9, 1936: Formation of the Madrid Defense Junta.

November 20, 1936: Durruti loses his life on the Madrid
front.

December 6, 1936: In Solidaridad Obrera, Balius publishes an
article entitled “Durruti’s Testament” in which he states: “Dur-
ruti bluntly asserted that we anarchists require that the Revo-
lution be totalitarian in character”

December 16, 1936: the POUM is excluded from the Gener-
alidad government.

December 21, 1936: Stalin offers advice to Largo Caballero.

December 29, 1936: Publication of issue No. 1 of Ideas.

January 26, 1937: Balius appointed director of La Noche.

February 5-8, 1937: Plenary assembly of the confederal and
anarchist militias meeting in Valencia to consider the milita-
rization issue.

March 4, 1937: the newspaper La Noche carries an announce-
ment introducing the aims, characteristics and membership
conditions of the Friends of Durruti Group.

March 4, 1937: the Generalidad issues a decree winding up
the Control Patrols. In La Batalla , Nin passes favorable and
hopeful comment on an article by Balius carried in the March
2"d edition of La Noche.

March 11, 1937: Ideas calls for the dismissal of Aiguadé.

March 17, 1937: the Friends of Durruti Group is formally es-
tablished. Balius is appointed vice-secretary. Ruiz and Carrefio
are on its steering committee.

March 21, 1937: the Iron Column meets in assembly to vote
on militarization or disbandment: it agrees to militarization.

17



Late March-early April 1937: A flyer bearing the endorse-
ment of the Friends of Durruti Group is issued.

April 8, 1937: In Ideas, Balius has an article published entitled
“Let’s make revolution,” in which he says: “if [Companys] had
a larger contingent of armed forces at his disposal, he would
have the working class back in the capitalist harness.”

April 14, 1937: the Friends of Durruti issue a manifesto op-
posing the commemoration of the anniversary of the procla-
mation of the Republic.

(Sunday) April 18, 1937: The Friends of Durruti hold a rally
in the Poliorama Theater. Chaired by Romero, it hears contri-
butions from Francisco Pellicer, Pablo Ruiz, Jaime Balius, Fran-
cisco Carrefio and V. Pérez Combina.

April 25, 1937: the UGT leader Roldan Cortada is murdered
in Molins del Llobregat.

April 27 and 28, 1937: Armed conflict between anarchists and
Generalidad forces in Bellver de Cerdafia. Antonio Martin, the
anarchist mayor of Puigcerda, is shot dead.

Late April 1937: A poster from the Group is pinned up on
trees and walls throughout the city of Barcelona. In it, the
Friends of Durruti set out their program: “All power to the
working class. All economic power to the unions. Instead of
the Generalidad, the Revolutionary Junta”

(Saturday) May 1, 1937: An ordinary working day, for the
Generalidad has banned commemoration of the First of May, in
an effort to avert disturbances and confrontations. The General-
idad government meets in session, congratulating its Commis-
sar for Public Order on the successes achieved. A panel is made
up of Tarradellas (Prime Councilor), Rodriguez Salas (Commis-
sar for Public Order) and Artemi Aiguadé (Councilor for Inter-
nal Security): it promptly holds a meeting behind closed doors
to tackle urgent business relating to public order and security.
The Bolshevik-Leninist Section issues a leaflet.

(Sunday) May 2, 1937: Friends of Durruti rally in the Goya
Theater, at which the film “19 de julio” is screened to comments
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the attacks by all political forces, including the CNT-FAI and
POUM, upon the so-called “uncontrollables””

This derogatory label fitted comfortably with facile high-
lighting of outrages and abuses by a few delinquents. But the
charge also targeted the CNT and the measure of its “control”
over its own membership. Indeed, in the newspapers — not
excepting the confederal press, the vast majority of which sup-
posed collaborationism — the term “uncontrollable” was used
as a synonym for criminal. This implication was unremarkable
in the bourgeois or Stalinist press, because they regarded
revolutionaries as criminals. The serious paradox was when
the CNT or the POUM used the idea of “uncontrollable” to
excuse abandonment of their own ideological principles.

In every revolutionary process, there arise groups or individ-
uals who utilize force of arms for their own advantage. But this
minority can quickly and easily be subdued by a consolidated
workers’ power, as the Russian case demonstrates. In the Cata-
lan case, it is apparent that the attack on the “uncontrollables”
is almost always an attack upon proletarian justice (alien to
bourgeois legality) and on revolutionaries, which is to say, on
those refusing to let go of the gains secured by the proletariat

in the July uprising, or indeed, keen to take them “further.”’

defense groups at its disposal. Groups comprised an indeterminate member-
ship that could oscillate between six and ten. Every one of these comrades
had a rifle and even a pistol kept permanently in his care. The Clot district,
where I operated, boasted 15 defense groups, which, at a conservative esti-
mate, meant around a hundred rifles. But to this strength must be added the
factory groups, with their roots in the Clot district; these too had their own
defense groups with their own weapons, up to and including machine-guns.
Finally, the Libertarian Youth groups and anarchist groups also had to be
included. This motley assortment was the material with which our district’s
Defense Committee had to work.

7 See, for instance, Garcia Oliver’s threatening and contemptuous
snubbing of Companys when the latter called at the CACM headquarters
on July 25" to register a protest at the civil disorder and the activities of
uncontrollables, in Juan Garcia Oliver El Eco de los Pasos op. cit. pp. 193-194.
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munications, were in the eye of the hurricane. For revolution-
ary militants, labeled “uncontrollables” in the terminology of
their adversaries, retention of control over public order, the
borders and communications and, of course, the existence of
the Control Patrols were the basic threshold marking the point
of no return in the unceasing concessions by the CNT leader-
ship.

The revolutionary insurrection of July 1936 had been based
on the district or local Defense Committees set up and trained
many months in advance.” In the wake of the July events, the
Control Patrols were afforded “legal” recognition as a revolu-
tionary police answerable to the CAMC.

But the Control Patrols did not account for the whole of
the insurrectionist movement. There were also all these district
or local Defense Committees and other groups and militants.
Furthermore, we need to underline the radically different na-
tures of the Control Patrols and the Defense Committees. The
Control Patrols were an organization created by the CAMC,
to which they owed their organization, orders and manpower.
The Defense Committees were a CNT insurgent agency, in exis-
tence from well before July 1936. The Control Patrols were the
institutionalization of the success of the workers’ uprising; the
Defense Committees, converted into Revolutionary Commit-
tees, which led a vegetative existence between July 1936 and
May 1937, represented the insurrectionist movement.® Hence

> See Juan Garcia Oliver El movimiento libertario en Esparia (2) Colec-
cién de Historia Oral. Fundacion Salvador Segui, Madrid, undated.

® See the detailed description offered by Abel Paz: Viaje al pasado
(1936-1939) (Ed. del Autor, Barcelona, 1995, pp. 63-64):

The Defense Committees which, with the army coup attempt, had
turned into Revolutionary Committees, once the Central Antifascist Militias
Committee of Catalonia had been launched, had ignored the latter’s author-
ity and their activities had led to a local orchestration, based in the Casa
CNT-FALI itself, making these committees a power within the power of the
CNT-FAI higher committees; but they were a real power, greater even than
the power of the higher committees. Each district committee had its own
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from Balius: there are speeches by Liberto Callejas and Fran-
cisco Carrefio as well. CNT militants interrupt a telephone con-
versation between Companys and Azana.

(Monday) May 3, 1937: A little before 3:00 P.M. three
truckloads of Guards commanded by Rodriguez Salas attempt
to seize the Telephone Exchange, on the orders of Artemi
Aiguadé. Armed resistance from the CNT workers on the
upper floors thwarts this. Within a few hours, a host of armed
bands has been formed and the first barricades erected. The
mobilization resolves into two sides: one made up of the
CNT and the POUM, the other of the Generalidad, the PSUC,
the ERC and Estat Catala. Businesses close down. The train
service stops at 7:00 P.M. At that hour, in the Casa CNT-FAI
in the Via Durruti, the CNI Regional Committee and the
POUM Executive Committee meet. The maximum demand is
that Rodriguez Salas and Artemi Aiguadé resign. Companys
doggedly opposes this.

(Tuesday) May 4, 1937: Gun-battles throughout the night.
Many barricades and violent clashes throughout the city. In the
Sants barrio 400 Guards are stripped of their weapons. Com-
panys asks the Valencia government for aircraft to bomb the
CNT’s premises and barracks.? The CNT-controlled artillery on

% According to an affidavit by Jaume Anton Aiguadér, nephew of
Artemi Aiguadér, signed in the presence of witnesses in Mexico City on Au-
gust 9, 1946: “At the time of the May events, the Generalidad government
asked for aircraft from Spain in order to bomb the CNT buildings and the
latter refused the request” This statement is borne out by the teletype mes-
sages exchanged between Companys and the central government. In those
messages, on Tuesday, May 4, 1937, the Generalidad President informed the
cabinet under-secretary that the rebels had brought artillery out on to the
streets, and he asked that Lieutenant-Colonel Felipe Diaz Sandino, comman-
der of the Prat de Lllobregat military air base, be instructed to place himself at
the disposal of the Generalidad government: “Generalidad President informs
cabinet under-secretary that rebels have brought cannons on to streets. Asks
that Sandino be ordered place himself disposal of Generalidad government.”
[Documentation on deposit in the Hoover Institution.]
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Montjuich and Tibidabo is trained on the Generalidad Palace.’
Abad de Santillan, Isgleas and Molina manage to halt in Lerida,
“en route to Barcelona,” the divisions despatched by the CNT’s
Maximo Franco (a Friends of Durruti member) and the POUM’s
José Rovira. At 7:00 P.M. in the Principal Palace in the Ram-
blas, which has been commandeered by the POUM, Jaime Bal-
ius, Pablo Ruiz, Eleuterio Roig and Martin, representing the
Friends of Durruti, meet Gorkin, Nin and Andrade, represent-
ing the POUM’s Executive Committee. Following an analysis
of the situation, and in view of the stance adopted by the CNT,
they come to an agreement to suggest an orderly armed with-
drawal of combatants from the barricades. At 9:00 P.M. the Gen-
eralidad radio station issues an appeal from the leaders of the
various organizations (Garcia Oliver representing the CNT) for
an end to fighting. The POUM Executive Committee releases a
manifesto. The Bolshevik-Leninist Section issues a handbill. On
the night of May 4-5, the Friends of Durruti Group drafts and
prints up a handbill.

(Wednesday) May 5, 1937: A handbill is distributed by the
Friends of Durruti. Over the radio, the CNT disowns the
Friends of Durruti Group. Fighting is now confined to the city
center: the rest of the city being in the hands of the confederal
Defense Committees. At 1:00 P.M. the UGT leader Sesé, a
recently appointed Generalidad councilor perishes in gunfire
emanating from the premises of the CNT’s Entertainments
Union. At 3:00 P.M. the Generalidad transmitter issues a fresh
appeal for calm from the leaders of the various organizations
(Federica Montseny for the CNT). A brother of Ascaso is killed.
Berneri and Barbieri are arrested by Guards and UGT militants
from the Water Union. Their corpses show up later.

(Thursday) May 6, 1937: La Batalla reprints the Friends of
Durruti handbill. In the same edition, La Batalla appeals for

* According to the testimony of Diego Abad de Santillan.
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ticipants in the CAMC. For this reason, the dissolution of the
CAMC was not a traumatic event, nor unduly important: it was
just one of many steps in the process of reconstructing the State
power, dismantled and battered after the July events. The for-
mation of the new Generalidad government, with the CNT and
the POUM being incorporated into it, was the logical sequel to
the work carried out by the various parties and trade unions
within the CAMC.

This counterrevolutionary process, this process of recon-
struction of capitalist State power necessarily spawned a
number of contradictions, and naturally was camouflaged or
covered up by the CNT’s leading cadres with the familiar
“circumstancialist” arguments invoking antifascist unity, the
need to win the war, the CNT’s being a minority elsewhere in
Spain, the dangers of scandalizing the western democracies,
etc. Or even the most naive argument — that they were turning
away from an “anarchist dictatorship.”

For the CNT, the chief contradiction in this unstoppable re-
conquest of all of the capitalist State’s proper functions, lay in
the fact that this was feasible only at the cost of an equally con-
tinuous and irreversible loss of the “gains” which the masses
had won in July.

Between December 1936 and May 1937, we witness a tug
of war and a growing tension between constant concessions
by the CNT, marginalization of the POUM, the Generalidad’s
insatiable pressure to recover all of its functions, and the over-
bearing pressures from the Soviets and their infiltration into
the State apparatuses, in Catalonia and in the central govern-
ment alike.

It was for that reason that the Control Patrols, and every-
thing having to do with public order, border control and com-

Azafia and Balius himself. See especially Nin’s article “El problema de los
organos de poder en la revolucion espanola,” published in French in Juillet.
Rvue internationale du POUM No. 1, Barcelona-Paris, June 1937.
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ment. But instead of centralizing the revolutionary power of
the committees — local committees, defense committees, work-
ers’ committees, peasants’ committees and committees of ev-
ery sort — it became the chief impediment to their unification
and reinforcement. The CAMC was a life-jacket tossed to a
Generalidad awash in a sea of local revolutionary committees,
isolated from one another, which in Catalonia wielded the only
real power between July 19 and September 26.

At no point was there a dual power situation in exis-
tence. This notion is crucial to any understanding of the Span-
ish revolution and civil war. The CAMC was a class collabora-
tionist agency. It was not the germ of workers’ power at log-
gerheads with the power of the capitalist State. And this was
obvious to all the main political leaders,* whether or not par-

* Munis contends that after the July events all that remained was the
governing power of the committees: “If the situation in the weeks following
July 19 is to be characterized more precisely, it has to be defined as power
diffused into the hands of the proletariat and the peasants. These were fully
cognizant of their local power, although they lacked appreciation of the need
to coordinate their power across the country. For its part, during those first
weeks, the bourgeois Government lacked the capacity and will to combat the
nascent workers’ power. There can be no talk of duality until later, when the
Popular Front government came to, realized that it had survived, marshaled
around itself whatever armed forces it could muster and set about contest-
ing power with the committees of the proletariat and peasants.” (G. Munis
“Significado historico del 19 de julio” in Contra la corriente No. 6, Mexico,
August 1943.)

We shall not here enter into analysis of the dual power thesis ad-
vanced by Munis for the period following July 19, 1936, which is to say, for
the period between early October 1936 and May 1937. The difference be-
tween the position of the Italian Fraction and Munis’s position resides in the
fact that the Bordiguists reckoned that, in the absence of utter destruction of
the capitalist State, there can be no talk of revolution, whereas Munis took
the line that the bourgeois State had been momentarily eclipsed. We simply
point out the discrepancy and shall delve no further into the issue. What we
are concerned to indicate here is the role played by the CAMC as a class
collaborationist agency.

* This has been explicitly stated by, among others, figures as prominent
and simultaneously so politically divergent as Garcia Oliver, Nin, Tarradellas,
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workers to back down. Solidaridad Obrera disowns the Friends
of Durruti handbill .

(Friday) May 7, 1937: La Batalla reiterates its appeal, mak-
ing it conditional upon withdrawal of the security forces and
retention of weapons. Transport services are restored and a de-
gree of normality returns. Assault Guards sent by the Valen-
cia government reach Barcelona around 9:00 P.M. Companys
surrenders control of public order. The Control Patrols place
themselves at the disposal of the special delegate in charge of
public order sent down by the Republican government.

(Saturday) May 8, 1937: Barricades are dismantled, except
for the PSUC barricades, which persist into June. The Friends
of Durruti distribute a manifesto reviewing the events of May.
In that manifesto there is talk of “treachery” by the CNT lead-
ership.

(Sunday) May 9, 1937: Solidaridad Obrera dismisses the man-
ifesto as demagoguery and the Group’s members as provoca-
teurs.

May 17, 1937: Negrin takes over from Largo Caballero as
premier. The UGT Regional Committee for Catalonia demands
that all POUM miilitants be expelled from its ranks and presses
the CNT to mete out the same treatment to the Friends of Dur-
ruti.

May 19, 1937: Issue No. 1 of El Amigo del Pueblo appears.

May 22, 1937: A plenary session of the CNT’s Local and Co-
marcal Federations hears a proposal that the Friends of Durruti
be expelled. A session of the Sabadell city council agrees that
councilor Bruno Lladé Roca (also the Generalidad’s comarcal
delegate for Economy) be stood down for having displayed a
Friends of Durruti poster in his office.

May 26, 1937: Issue No. 2 of El Amigo del Pueblo appears,
having evaded the censor. Balius is jailed a few days later as
the director of a clandestine publication, following a complaint
from the PSUC.
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May 28, 1937: La Batalla is shut down as is the POUM’s radio
station. The Friends of Durruti’s social premises in the Ramblas
are shut down.

June 6, 1937: The Control Patrols are disbanded.

June 12, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 3.

June 16, 1937: The members of the POUM Executive Commit-
tee are rounded up. The POUM is proscribed and its militants
persecuted.

June 22, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 4.

June 22-24, 1937: Andrés Nin is kidnapped and murdered by
the Soviet secret police.

June 26, 1937: Showing solidarity with the POUM militants
persecuted by the Stalinists and the Republic’s police, the
Bolshevik-Leninist Section calls for concerted action by the
Section, the left of the POUM and the Friends of Durruti.

July 2, 1937: A handbill from the Bolshevik-Leninist Section
of Spain (on behalf of the Fourth International) expresses soli-
darity with the POUM militants persecuted by the Stalinists.

July 20, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 5.

August 10, 1937: The Council of Aragon is forcibly disbanded
by the government.

August 12, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 6.

August 31, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 7.

September 21, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 8.

October 20, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 9.

November 8, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 10.

November 20, 1937: El Amigo del Pueblo No. 11.

January 1938: Towards a Fresh Revolution pamphlet drafted
by Balius and published by the Friends of Durruti.

February 1, 1938: El Amigo del Pueble No. 12.

July to September 1939: L’Espagne Nouvelle Nos. 7 to 9.
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either collectivized or socialized: and set up People’s Militias,
which set off for Aragon.

Power was in the streets. The people was armed. But no
proletarian organization assumed power. The working class
retained its trade union and political organizations, without
creating new organs of (unified) workers’ power. And that is
not all. In order to keep afloat the spectral, discredited and im-
potent bourgeois Generalidad government, which was melt-
ing like a sugar-cube, the so-called Central Antifascist Mili-
tias Committee (CAMC) was established. At no time was the
CAMC ever the embryo of a new workers’ power: it was, rather,
a class collaboration agency,? a provisional government that
helped to restore the power of the bourgeois, republican Gener-
alidad. The CAMC supplanted the Generalidad government in
those functions — relative to the army, public order and produc-
tion — which there was no one else capable of performing, fol-
lowing the disintegration of bourgeois institutions. President
Company’s power was merely nominal, but it was also the
potential power of the capitalist State, which anarchists not
merely allowed to subsist but actually helped to survive and
resurrect itself, allowing it to “legalize,” post facto, the revolu-
tionary gains made during the events in July. Without looking
for it, the CAMC acquired all of the accoutrements of a govern-

were founded to see to the maintenance of the nascent, new revolutionary
order (...)

The Spanish proletariat’s answer (...) was highly categorical and
intelligent. The reaction had been crushed on the streets and expropriated
economically, and the proletariat set itself up as the country’s arbiter (...)”

(Jaime Balius “Recordando julio de 1936” in Le Combat syndicaliste
of April 1, 1971) [This article by Balius lifts whole sentences, word for word,
from pages 292-294 of G. Munis’s book Jalones de derrota, promesa de victoria
(Zero, Bilbao, 1977)]

? See, for instance, the sharp and radical alternative posited by Garcia
Oliver: “Between social revolution and the Militias’ Committee, the Organi-
zation plumped for the Militias Committee” (Juan Garcia Oliver El eco de los
pasos Ruedo Ibérico, Paris-Barcelona, 1978, p. 188)
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3. From July to May:
Uncontrollables or
Revolutionaries?

The gestation of May 1937 began one week after the revolu-
tionary events of July 1936.

In Catalonia, the revolutionary uprising of the working
masses had successfully defeated the military, thrown the
State’s administrative and repressive machinery into disarray
and removed the bourgeois class from its leadership functions.
Not only had the military rising against the Republic been
frustrated, but the capitalist State itself had succumbed. The
Catalan working class seized weapons from the barracks it had
stormed, ensured that the repressive agencies fraternized with
the people in arms and introduced a new, revolutionary order!:
it organized and directed production inside firms, which were

! See Balius’s arguments: “the establishment of committees of workers,
peasants, militians and sailors was an instantaneous reaction to the destruc-
tion of the capitalist machinery of coercion. There was not a single factory,
working class district, village, militias battalion or vessel where a committee
was not set up. The committee was the ultimate authority, whose ordinances
and agreements had to be abided by. Its justice, revolutionary justice, to the
exclusion of every other (...) the only law was the imperious requirements of
the revolution. Most of the committees were democratically elected by the
workers, militians, sailors and peasants, regardless of denomination, thereby
representing proletarian democracy, superseding a treacherous bourgeois
parliamentary democracy. In short, there was but one power in the work-
place: labor and the workers.

Generally, expropriation of the bourgeoisie and landowners was
carried out as the committees were established (...) there was a similar trans-
fer of powers with regard to arms. (...) Militias were set up (...) Control patrols
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2. Towards July 19

In the elections of February 16, 1936, which the Popular
Front won by a narrow margin, the anarchists mounted only
token propaganda on behalf of their abstentionist principles
and watchwords. According to their revolutionary analysis of
the situation, the anarcho-syndicalist leadership took the view
that confrontation with the military and with the fascists was
inevitable, no matter how the elections might turn out.! So
they set about making serious preparations for an imminent
revolutionary insurrection.

! See Garcia Oliver’s answers (which date from the first half of 1950)
to a questionnaire from Burnett Bolloten [on deposit with the Hoover Insti-
tution]: “With regard to the February elections, the CNT-FAI adopted the
following line, which was peddled throughout Spain at rallies as well as
in writing. The forthcoming elections are going to be decisive for the
Spanish people. If the working class votes for the left, the latter will
take power, but we will have to confront an uprising by the military
and the right aimed at seizing power. If the working class does not
vote for the left, that would spell a lawful success for fascism. We for
our part advise the working class to do as it pleases with regard to
voting, but we say to it, that if it does not vote for the left, before six
month will have elapsed from the later’s victory, we shall have to re-
sist the fascist right with weapons in hand. Naturally, Spain’s working
class, which had for many years been advised by the CNT not to vote, placed
upon our propaganda the construction we wanted, which is to say, that it
should vote, in that it would always be better to stand up to the fascist right,
if they revolted, once defeated and out of government. The left won in the
February 1936 elections. Companys became the government in Catalonia
and the left became the government of Spain. We had honored our commit-
ments, but they honored none of theirs, in that they issued not one
weapon, nor did they take any preemptive action against the fascist
military plot”
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The “Nosotros” group, made up of Francisco Ascaso, Bue-
naventura Durruti, Juan Garcia Oliver, Aurelio Fernandez, Ri-
cardo Sanz, Gregorio Jover, Antonio Ortiz and Antonio Mar-
tinez “Valencia,” set itself up as a Central Revolutionary De-
fense Committee. Members of the “Nosotros” group were men
of action, who wielded undeniable working class sway over the
CNT masses. In the early morning of July 19, 1936, these men
climbed into lorries full of armed militants and slowly toured
the working class Pueblo Nuevo district en route to the city
center. They put into effect the libertarian practice of teaching
by example. The factory sirens issued a summons to workers’
insurrection. What few weapons were available to them had
been obtained in October 1934, gathered up from the streets
where they had been dumped by the Catalanists, or amassed
in the weeks leading up to July 19 in raids on armories, po-
lice, military depots, ships’ arsenals, etc. There were a lot more
militants than weapons, and for every combatant downed there
was another three to squabble over his rifle or handgun. But the
bulk of the weaponry had been captured in the course of street-
fighting. The revolt of the soldiery and the fascists became an
insurrectionary uprising when the people, following the storm-
ing of the San Andres barracks, seized some 35,000 rifles. The
workers had successfully armed themselves. It was this that lay
behind the resignation of Escofet, the Generalidad Commissar
for Public Order. It was important for the Republican Left of
Catalonia (ERC) and for the Generalidad government that the
army revolt be crushed: but this arming of the people was an
augury of a horrible disaster, more to be feared than a fascist
victory.?

? See the exchange between Companys and Escofet in the wake of the
crushing of the fascists’ rebellion: “Mr President” — I said to him — “I bring
you official word that the rebellion has been completely defeated [ ... ]”

“Good, Escofet, very good” — the President replied — “But the sit-
uation is chaotic. Uncontrolled armed riffraff have invaded the streets and

24

5. In the Spain of August 1936, revolution was no
more and there was scope only for war: A nonrev-
olutionary military war.

6. The collectivizations and socializations in the
economy count for nothing when State power is
in the hands of the bourgeoisie.

Secondly, attention needs to be drawn to the Gordian knot
which loomed as a dilemma in the week following July 19: ei-
ther the capitalist State would be swept away, and the prole-
tariat would step the class struggle up a gear with the introduc-
tion of libertarian communism and the launching of a revolu-
tionary war, or the capitalist State would be allowed to rebuild
its apparatus of rule.

Thirdly, there is room to ask why the revolutionary option
was not exercised. And the answer is very simple: there was
no revolutionary vanguard capable of steering the revolution.

In a logical, stringent, precise and telling way, these the-
ses on the Spanish revolutionary and counterrevolutionary
process account for and shed light upon many individual and
collective performances, which otherwise strike us as absurd,
inexplicable or stubbornly wrong-headed — for instance — the
summoning of the CNT leaders to a meeting with Companys
in the Generalidad Palace on July 21; a CNT-plenum’s accep-
tance of collaboration with the Generalidad government; the
formation and winding-up of the CAMC: the entry of CNT
militants into the Generalidad government, the militarization
of the militias: the entry into the Republican government of
anarcho-syndicalist ministers: the immediate endorsement by
these new “anarchist ministers” of the government’s flight
from Madrid: the cooperation of anarcho-syndicalist leaders
in the putting down of the workers’ uprising in May 1937:
the CNT-UGT unity compact of 1938: collaboration with the
Negrin government, etc.

* %
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terrevolution. And to that end, we must first set out the theo-
retical points® which afford us an insight into and which reveal
the nature of the historical process initiated (in Catalonia espe-
cially) in July 1936:

1. Without destruction of the State, there is no rev-
olution. The Central Anti-fascist Militias Commit-
tee of Catalonia (CAMC)® was not an organ of dual
power, but an agency for military mobilization of
the workers, for sacred union with the bourgeoisie,
in short, an agency of class collaboration.

2. Arming of the people is meaningless. The nature
of military warfare is determined by the nature of
the class directing it. An army fighting in defense
of a bourgeois State, even should it be antifascist,
is an army in the service of capitalism.

3. War between a fascist State and an antifascist
State is not a revolutionary class war. The prole-
tariat’s intervention on one side is an indication
that it has already been defeated. Insuperable tech-
nical and professional inferiority on the part of the
popular or militia-based army was implicit in mil-
itary struggle on a military front.

4. War on the military fronts implied abandon-
ment of the class terrain. Abandonment of the
class struggle signified defeat for the revolution-
ary process.

> And which are of course the expression of a given political viewpoint,
which may or may not be shared, but which we set out plainly here for what
it is, without pretending to or invoking any nonexistent, hackneyed aca-
demic objectivity.

¢ And the People’s Executive Committee in Valencia or the Defense
Committee in Madrid.
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Thanks to its militants’ class instinct, the CNT
not only managed to defeat the army revolt but
ensured the success of a proletarian uprising. But
when something more than class instinct was
required, when implementation of revolutionary
theory was required, everything went to pot. No
Revolutionary Theory, No Revolution. And
the very protagonists of the success of the work-
ers’ uprising were startled to find the revolution
slipping from their grasp.

We are not about to rehearse the deeds, nor the tactical
acumen which made the success of the popular uprising in
Barcelona feasible. Here all that concerns us is to emphasize
that the “Nosotros” group (abetted by other FAI affinity
groups) acted as a revolutionary vanguard astute enough to
steer the confederal masses towards a victorious uprising. We
are also concerned to underline the inability of that group,
and of all the labor leaders and organizations, anarchist or
otherwise, to consolidate the revolution, when power was
within their grasp and was there for the taking, because one
may be armed with a rifle but disarmed in political terms.
How are we to account for, how are we to understand the
undisputed leaders of the CNT trotting along to a rendezvous
with Companys in the Generalidad Palace? How could they
have heeded a man who in the early morning of July 19!
refused the CNT weapons, and who had so often harassed and

are committing all sorts of outrages. And anyway, the CNT, heavily armed,
is master of the city. What can we do against them?”

“For the time being, we have all been swept along, including the
CNT leaders themselves. The only solution, Mr President, is to contain the
situation politically, without letting any of our respective authorities go by
the board. If you, for your part, can succeed in that, [ undertake to take charge
of Barcelona whenever you order me so to do or when circumstances permit.”
[Federico Escofet: De una derrota a una victoria : 6 de octubre de 1934-19 de
Jjulio de 1936 (Ed. Argos-Vergara, Barcelona, 1984, p. 352)]
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incarcerated them? How come there was still a government in
the Generalidad? Why did they not march up to the General-
idad and do away with the bourgeoisie’s government? How
come they did not proclaim libertarian communism?*

? Garcia Oliver addresses many of these questions directly or indirectly
in his account of the interview with Companys: “The military-fascist upris-
ing had come just as we had predicted. Companys retreated into the Police
Headquarters in Barcelona, where I saw him at, it must have been, seven
in the morning on July 19, terrified of the consequences of what he could
see coming, in that he anticipated that, once all of the troop regiments in
Barcelona had revolted, they would easily sweep aside all resistance. How-
ever, almost single-handedly, the CNT-FAI forces held out for those two
memorable days, and after an epic and bitter struggle [...] we defeated all the
regiments [...] For all these reasons, Companys was bewildered and shocked
to find the CNT-FAT’s representatives before him. Bewildered because all he
could think about was the heavy responsibility he had with regard to us
and the Spanish people because of his failure to heed all our forecasts. [...]
Shocked, because although they had not honored the commitments they had
given us, the CNT-FAI in Barcelona and in Catalonia had beaten the rebels
[...] So, when he sent for us, Companys told us: “I know that you have lots
of grounds for complaint and annoyance where I am concerned. I have op-
posed you greatly and failed to appreciate you for what you are. However, it
is never too late for an honest apology and mine, which I am now going to of-
fer you, is tantamount to a confession: had I appreciated your worth, maybe
the circumstances now would be different; but it is too late for that now, and
you alone have defeated the rebel military and in all logic you ought to gov-
ern. If that is your view, I gladly surrender the Generalidad Presidency to you,
and, if you think that I can be of any assistance elsewhere, you need only tell
me the place I should take up. But if, since we do not yet know for sure
who has had the victory elsewhere in Spain, you believe that I may
still be of service in acting as Catalonia’s lawful representative from
the Generalidad presidency, say so, and from there, and always with
your agreement, we shall carry on this fight until it becomes clear
who are the winners.” For our part, and this was the CNT-FAT’s view, we
held that Companys should stay on as head of the Generalidad, precisely
because we had not taken to the streets to fight specifically for the social
revolution, but rather to defend ourselves against the fascist mutiny” [From
Garcia Oliver’s 1950 answers to Bolloten’s questionnaire, on deposit at the
Hoover Institution. ]

Garcia Oliver’s testimony deserves to be set alongside that of Fed-
erica Montseny: “In no one’s wildest imaginings, not even those of Garcia
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The unaccustomed speed of events, the rapidly shifting situa-
tions, features of any revolutionary era, took but a few months
to turn rebels into ministers, revolutionaries into advocates of
“softly, softly,” Stalinists into butchers, Catalanists into suppli-
cants before the central government, anarchists into loyal al-
lies and staunch bulwarks of the State, POUMists into victims
of a brutal and hitherto inconceivable political repression, so-
cialists into hostages to Stalinism and the Friends of Durruti
into mavericks and provocateurs.

Again we stress that we have no intention of rehearsing
events here, because there are already books available from a
number of writers and a variety of political outlooks, and to
these we would refer anyone who is keen to learn, explore or
review the concrete historical facts.* Our concern here is with
discovering, explaining and unveiling the mechanism by which
anarchists were turned into ministers, anti-militarists into sol-
diery, enemies of the State into collaborators with the State and
genuine revolutionaries tried and tested in a thousand battles
into unwitting stalwarts of counterrevolution.

Our real preoccupation is with explaining the phenomenon
which plunged so many revolutionary militants into confusion
and the paradox of believing that they were defending the revo-
lution when in reality they were acing as the vanguard of coun-

Oliver, the most Bolshevik of us all, did the idea of taking revolutionary
power arise. It was later, when the scale of the upheaval and the people’s ini-
tiatives became plain, that there began to be debate about whether or not we
should go for broke.” [Abel Paz: Durruti: El proletariado en armas (Bruguera,
Barcelona, 1978, pp. 381-382)]

* Among the most interesting of these are the anarchist Abel Paz (Dur-
ruti: El proletariado en armas), the Civil Guard Francisco Lacruz (El alza-
miento, la revolucion y el terror en Barcelona), the book, cited above, by Es-
cofet, the Generalidad’s commissar for public order, and the memoirs of
Abad de Santillan and Garcia Oliver. As for standard texts, we simply can-
not fail to mention Burnett Bolloten La Guerra civil espariola: Revolucién y
contrarrevolucion (Alianza Editorial, Madrid, 1989) and Pierre Broue Staline
et la revolution. Le cas espagnol (Fayard, Paris, 1993).
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The municipality is the authentic revolutionary
government.

According to Mingo, ever since July 19, 1936, the Generali-
dad government had been redundant. The only policy now was
economic policy, and that was the province of the trade unions.
So, according to Mingo, the municipality, run by the workers,
with economic policy supervised by the workers, could and
should have stepped into the shoes of the State.

In the April 14, 1937 edition of the daily La Noche, Balius
had an article, “A historic date: April 14, marking the anniver-
sary of the proclamation of the Republic, in which he under-
lined the petit-bourgeois character of the day when the Repub-
lic was proclaimed, attacked Catalanism, whether right-wing
or left-wing, Macia or Cambd, in that both had forsworn their
nationalism in the face of threats from the Catalan proletariat.

Without the slightest doubt, these articles of Balius’s, (and
of other members of the Friends of Durruti), touching upon
such a wide variety of topics, generally political opinion, but
also with a news content, were the mortar binding together
a critical current of opposition to the CNT’s collaborationist
policy. Balius was not the sole critic, but he was one of the
most outstanding and of course the one most consistent, co-
herent and radical. Balius’s merit resides in his having secured
the backing of a sizable group of militians opposed to the mil-
itarization of the Militias. The conjunction of these militians,
led by Pablo Ruiz, with other anarcho-syndicalists opposed to
the CNT’s collaborationist policy found its political views ar-
ticulated in theoretical terms in Balius’s articles and criticisms.
Those views were to crystallize in the program set out on the
poster dating from late April 1937 and would be spelled out
in greater detail in El Amigo del Pueblo newspaper, published
after the May Events.

So, to sum up: although the Friends of Durruti Grouping was
formally launched on March 17, 1937, its origins can be traced
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to the deep-seated malaise created in militians’ ranks by the
Generalidad decree on militarization of the People’s Militias,
which is to say, to late October 1936, when Durruti was still
alive. Then again, Balius had come to prominence as early as
1935 as a journalist and anarchist ideologue, known for his in-
teresting theoretical contributions on nationalism, his savage
criticisms of the Catalan bourgeoisie’s political activities, his
attacks on Macia and Companys, his expose of the Catalanist
fascism embodied in Dencas and Badia, as well as his analysis
of the events of October 1934 in Catalonia from a CNT perspec-
tive. Nor was collaboration between Jaime Balius and Pablo
Ruiz anything new, since they had jointly written a pamphlet??
and had both belonged to the same anarchist affinity group,
“Renacer” — that being the name of the publishing house which
had issued Balius’s pamphlets prior to July 1936.2% In addition
to Jaime Balius and Pablo Ruiz, the “Renacer” group included
Francisco Pellicer (who would be the Iron Column’s delegate
during the civil war) and Bruno Llad6 (who was a Sabadell city
councilor during the war and the Generalidad Department of
Economy’s comarcal delegate).?*

*%

22 The pamphlet [which we have not been able to consult] jointly cred-
ited to Jaime Balius and Pablo Ruiz is entitled Figols, 8 de enero, 8 de diciembre,
y Octubre and was published by Editorial Renacer.

# Although undated, these pamphlets by Balius came after October
1934 and before July 1936, and in order of publication they were: Jaime Bal-
ius De Jaca a Octubre Editorial Renacer, [Barcelona] undated; Jaime Balius
Octubre catalan Editorial Renacer,[Barcelona] undated; and, Jaime Balius El
nacionalisrno y el proletariado Editorial Renacer, [Barcelona] undated.

** As Balius stated in his letter of June 1, 1978 to Paul Sharkey: “I be-
longed to the FAT's Renacer group along with comrades Pablo Ruiz, Fran-
cisco Pellicer, since deceased and Bruno Lladd, likewise deceased.” [Letter
made available by Paul Sharkey, whom we thank for this information.]

54

upon that particular point in the Group’s program. There were
various items on the battle for Teruel, urban transport and Mon-
tjuic prison, speculation in the food sector and the corruption
obtaining on the borders.

No. 12 was probably the last issue of El Amigo del Pueblo
. However, Jordi Arquer, in his short history of the Friends of
Durruti argues that a total of 15 issues saw publication; and Bal-
ius, in his letter of June 10, 1946 to Burnett Bolloten, says that
it published right to the end of 1938. Our supposition is based
upon Balius’s claim in the foreword to the English edition of
that pamphlet, Towards a Fresh Revolution that the Group’s final
gathering took place after publication of that pamphlet. Given
that No. 12 of El Amigo del Pueblo mentions the recent publica-
tion of Towards ... we may conclude that following publication
of the pamphlet in January 1938, and of No. 12 of the Group’s
press mouthpiece on February 1, 1938, the Group held its final
meeting and to all intents carried out no further activity for the
remainder of the war. This supposition is in any case borne out
by the swingeingly effective repression that made life impossi-
ble for any revolutionary group. In January 1938, Fosco fled to
France to escape arrest. February 13, 1938 saw the capture of
the Bolshevik-Leninist Section by police, along with the arrest
of the printer Baldomero Palau, from whose printshop La Voz
Leninista and El Amigo del Pueblo was published. On April 19
the underground committee of POUM (José Rovira, Jordi Ar-
quer, Oltra Pico, José Rodés, Maria Teresa Garcia Banis, Juan
Farré Gass6, Wilebaldo Solano, etc.) was arrested.

Later, in the 1960s, a second series of El Amigo del Pueblo
was published, apparently funded by an inheritance which had
come Balius’s way. This second series, four issues of which we
have examined, contains nothing of interest. Balius’s name ap-
pears nowhere and Pablo Ruiz is listed as the editor-in-chief.
The most remarkable feature of it was that every edition con-
tained a poster for members in the interior, inside Spain itself,
to paste up on walls by way of clandestine propaganda.
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arguing that Durruti had been ready to abjure every revolu-
tionary principle for the sake of success in the war. The writer
in El Amigo del Pueblo saw this contention as wrong-headed
and the worst possible insult that could have been offered to
Durruti’s memory. The version of Durruti’s ideology'* offered
by the Group was the very opposite of the one proffered by Soli

Durruti at no time abjured the revolution. While
he did say that we had to abjure everything save
victory, what he meant was that we had to be ready
to face the greatest privation, and to lose our very
lives, rather than let fascism defeat us.

But in Durruti’s mouth, the notion of victory does
not imply the slightest dissociation of the war and
the revolution. [...] We do not believe — and of
this we are certain — that Durruti was arguing that
the class which had won everything at the cost of
the greatest sacrifices should be the one to give
ground constantly and compromise to the advan-
tage of the adversary class. [...]

Durruti was keen to win the war, but he had his
sights on the rearguard. [...] Buenaventura Dur-
ruti never forswore the revolution. Nor do we, the
Friends of Durruti, forswear it.

No. 12 of El Amigo del Pueblo, dated February 1, 1938, carried
a prominent editorial: “All power to the unions,” expounding

14 At no time do we enter into an examination of Durruti as a person,
nor of his political ideology. We merely mention the claims of his contem-
poraries. It is not out of place to recall that Balius held that the Friends of
Durruti Group, despite the name, had no ideological links with Durruti. Then
again, Durruti was primarily an activist and was never a theorist, nor did he
ever claim to be. We should point out also that Soli did not reprint Durruti’s
broadcast speeches verbatim and unabridged.
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5. The Friends of Durruti
Group from its Inception up
to the May Events

In October 1936, the order militarizing the People’s Militias
provoked great discontent among the anarchist militians of the
Durruti Column on the Aragon front. Following protracted and
bitter arguments, in February 1937 around thirty out of the
1,000 volunteer militians based in the Gelsa sector decided to
quit the front and return to the rearguard.! The agreement was
that militians opposed to militarization would be relieved over

! We can find a detailed description of the Gelsa militians and their
opposition to militarization, which was closely connected with the launch
of the Friends of Durruti, in the interview with Pablo Ruiz in La Noche Afio
XIV, No. 3545, of March 24, 1937.

See also the claims made by Balius himself: “The Friends of Durruti
Group has its origins in the opposition to militarization. It was the Gelsa Mili-
tians Group that relocated en masse to Barcelona. At the head of the Gelsa
Group was comrade Eduardo Cervero. So, in the Catalan rearguard, there
was a considerable number of comrades from the Aragon front around, shar-
ing the opinion that there was no way that the libertarian spirit of the mili-
tias could be abjured. Lest we embark upon an interminable list of comrades
who moved to the Catalan capital with arms and baggage, allow me to recall,
with great affection, Progreso Rédenas, Pablo Ruiz, Marcelino Benedicto and
others. It was agreed that a group should be set up in Barcelona, and it was
determined that it would be under the aegis of the symbol of Buenaventura
Durruti. Other members of the Durruti Group included comrades Alejandro
Gilabert, Francisco Carrefio, Maximo Franco, the delegate from the Rojine-
gra Division, Ponzéan, Santana Calero, and lots of others.” (Jaime Balius “Por
los fueros de la verdad” in Le Combat syndicaliste of September 2, 1971).

With regard to the number of militians from the Gelsa Group
who, having repudiated militarization, decided to quit the front, taking

55



a fortnight. These then left the front, taking their weapons with
them.

Back in Barcelona, along with other anarchists (advocates of
prosecuting and pursuing the July revolution, and opposed to
the CNT’s collaboration with the government), the militians
from Gelsa decided to form an affinity group, like the many
other affinity groups? in existence in anarcho-syndicalist cir-
cles. And so, the Group was formally launched in March 1937,

their weapons with them, Pablo Ruiz is a lot more statistically precise, and
probably a lot nearer the mark. “[After taking part in the storming of the
Atarazanas barracks], I joined the Durruti Column, and I led the 4™ Gelsa
Group, comprising over a thousand militians (...) whenever the Popular
Army was foisted upon us from within (...) I resigned and rejoined the rear-
guard along with three decades of comrades. On that basis and at the instiga-
tion of comrade Balius, we founded the Friends of Durruti Group (...)” [Pablo
Ruiz “Elogio poéstumo de Jaime Balius” in Le Combat Syndicaliste/Solidaridad
Obrera of January 22, 1981]

? The FAI was organized as a federation of affinity groups. During the
civil war, prominence was achieved by affinity groups like “Nosotros” (which
had previously gone under the name “Los Solidarios”), “Nervio,” “A,” “Z, “
“Los de Ayer y Los de Hoy,” “Faro,” etc.

* The newspaper La Noche on March 2, 1937 (page 6) carried the first
report on the foundation of the Group, which was formally launched on
March 17, 1937, according to this notice in the March 18,1937 edition of La
Noche:

The ‘Friends of Durruti’ Group has been launched. A steering com-
mittee appointed. The meeting to launch the ‘Friends of Durruti’ was held
last night.

The social premises — located on the first floor of 1, Ramblas de las
Flores — were packed with people. Proceedings got underway on the stroke
of ten o’clock. A panel was appointed to oversee the discussions. Several
comrades from the front and from the rearguard took part in the discussion.
Every one of the comrades who spoke reaffirmed his absolute support for the
postulates of the CNT and FAL There was broad discussion of the revolution-
ary course followed since July 19 and it was palpable that all of the assembled
comrades wish the Revolution to press ahead. Certain counterrevolutionary
maneuvers were lashed severely. [...]

In a disembodied way, our Durruti presided over the launch of the
group. It was notable that there was no hint of idolatry, but rather a desire
to carry out the wishes of our ill-fated comrade.
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5. Mobilization of the entire population.
6. Purging of the rearguard.

7. Workers’ control of the army.

8. The family wage. Abolition of all privileges.

9. Free municipality. Public order to be placed in workers’
hands.

10. Rationing of consumption across the board.

This, though, was merely a list of demands. There was no
hint as to how they might be achieved, nor of the tactics to
be employed in order to campaign for them. So it was merely
the exposition of a theoretical program for winning the war, a
program beyond the Group’s actual powers to implement, one
which it in any case was not proposing seriously, but only as a
propaganda or lobbying ploy. But direction of the war, or con-
trol of the army, or socialization of the economy, or control of
public order could scarcely be mere demands: because power is
not sued for, but seized. Consequently, we may claim that the
Group was, at this point, far removed from playing any real
part. It seemed to have run out of steam: and was becoming
a mere shadow of its former self. The program, the demands,
which may have been valid prior to May, were now a sad car-
icature and testified to the Group’s utter powerlessness in a
situation which had become thoroughly counterrevolutionary.

Issue No. 11 of El Amigo del Pueblo was dated November
20, 1937, the anniversary of Durruti’s death and was almost
entirely given over to commemorating that popular anarchist
hero. Among the articles commenting with more or less suc-
cess upon the person of Durruti, the most outstanding was un-
doubtedly the one entitled “Commenting on Durruti,” in which
Solidaridad Obrera was taken to task over Durruti’s ideology
and intentions. According to the author of the piece, Soli was
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tellingly declined to level any charges against the CNT and the
FAI on the grounds that “that would poison the waters of the
spring from which we all must drink” Plain in this article is
the Friends of Durruti’s tremendously limited vision of their
own fight. They confined themselves to gentle carping about
the “wayward” leaders of the CNT and counted their avoid-
ance of expulsion from the unions as their ultimate achieve-
ment. Their view was that, sooner or later, the two divergent
strands of anarcho-syndicalism would have to come together,
for, otherwise, they could not avoid being crushed by Stalinist
dictatorship. It was plain from this article that the Group was
drifting further and further from the radicalized stances it had
struck in May. The second article deserving of comment, “An
historic juncture,” analyzed the unfavorable course of the war,
as signaled by the fascists’ uninterrupted victorious advance
and their foreign backing. The Friends of Durruti wondered
why whole provinces like Malaga or the North had been sur-
rendered without their stores, industries or foodstuffs — which
provided booty for the enemy — having been destroyed. The
Group noted that the war on the Aragon front had been lost
because of the central government’s withholding of arms, be-
cause those arms would have gone to the CNT. The war ef-
fort was beset by treachery, because the officer class had not
been purged, and because there was no fighting moral in the
rearguard, and because bourgeois politicians had no thought
for anything other than amassing a tidy fortune abroad. The
Friends of Durruti called upon workers to win the war, and
this call boiled down to the following ten points:

1. Establishment of a Revolutionary Junta.
2. All economic power to the unions.
3. Socialization of production and consumption.

4. Introduction of the producer’s cart.
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following a lengthy period of incubation that had lasted for sev-
eral months, beginning in October 1936. The Steering Commit-
tee made the decision to adopt the name “Friends of Durruti
Group,” the name being, in part, an invocation of their com-
mon origins as former militians in the Durruti Column, and, as
Balius was correct in saying, there was no reference intended
to Durruti’s thinking, but rather to his heroic death and mythic
status in the eyes of the populace.

The Group’s central headquarters was located in the Ram-
blas, at the junction with the Calle Hospital. The membership of
the Group grew remarkably quickly. Somewhere between four
thousand and five thousand Group membership cards were is-
sued. One of the essential requirements for Group membership
was CNT membership. The growth of the Group was a conse-
quence of anarchist unease with the CNT’s policy of compro-
mise.

The Group was frenetically active and dynamic. Between its
formal launch on March 17 and May 3, the Group mounted a
number of rallies (in the Poliorama Theater on April 19 and the
Goya Theater on May 2), issued several manifestoes and hand-
bills and covered the walls of Barcelona with posters setting
out its program.* Two points stood out in that program: 1. All
power to the working class; and, 2. Democratic workers’, peas-

Next, the steering committee was appointed, along with a work-
ing party to draft the intentions by which the new group is to be informed.
[...] The steering committee is made up as follows: secretary, Felix Martinez:
vice-secretary, Jaime Balius: treasurer, José Paniagua: book-keeper, Antonio
Puig Garreta: committee members, Francisco Carrefio, Pablo Ruiz, Antonio
Romero, Serafin Sobias, Eduardo Cervero. The working part comprises: Pablo
Ruiz, J. Marin, Jaime Balius, Francisco Carreifio and José Esplugas.

Before the proceedings were wound up, the gathering agreed by
acclamation that a telegram should be sent to the CNT National Committee,
demanding the release of comrade Maroto and of the comrades incarcerated
in Valencia.

* Let us attempt to catalog all of the manifestoes, handbills, notices and
posters signed by the Friends of Durruti Group, insofar as we know them. We
shall not indicate place of publication because that is the city of Barcelona
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ants’ and combatants’ organs as the expression of this work-
ers’ power,” which was encapsulated in the term Revolution-
ary Junta.

They also called for the trade unions to take over the
economic and political governance of the country completely.
And when they talked about trade unions, they meant the CNT

throughout. Virtually all of these documents can be found in the Archivo
Historico Municipal de Barcelona (AHMB):

1. “Al pueblo trabajador” [Manifesto issued late March 1937.
Double-sided handbill.]

2. “Al pueblo trabajador” [ Manifesto opposing the commemoration
of the anniversary of April 14.]

3. “{Trabahadiers! Acudid el préximo dimingo, dia 18, al MITIN que
la Agrupacion Los Amigos de Durruti celebrala en el Teatro Poliorama”
[Notice advertising the rally on April 18, 1937.]

4. “Agrupacion de Los Amigos de Durruti. A la clase trabajadora.”
[Poster pasted on walls and trees. Late April 1937.]. “ACTO organizado por
la Agrupacion Los Amigos de Durruti.

5.Domingo, 2 de mayo a las 10 de la mafana, en el TEATRO GOYA.”
[Notice of the May 2, 1937 rally.].

6. “CNT-FAL Agrupacién ‘Los Amigos de Durruti’. jTRABA-
JADORES!” [Handbill distributed on the barricades on May 5, 1937.]

7. “CNT-FAIL Agrupacion ‘Los Amigos de Durruti’. Trabajadores.”
[Manifesto distributed on May 8, 1937.]

8. “Trabajadores. Miércoles dia 19. Aparecera el ‘Los Amigos de
Durruti’. “ [Notice of the appearance of the first issue of El Amigo del Pueblo,
scheduled for May 19, 1937.]

There are also some notices of lectures by Francisco Pellicer, spon-
sored by the CNT Foodstuffs Union, which we have not included.

3 See Juan Andrade “CNT-POUM” in La Batalla of May 1, 1937.
Reprinted in Juan Andrade La revolucion espanola dia a dia (Ed. Nueva Era,
Barcelona, 1979, p. 248.) The extract in which Andrade refers to the Friends
of Durruti is this one:

For instance, the ‘Friends of Durruti’ have framed their program
points in posters in every street in Barcelona. We are absolutely in agreement
with the watchwords that the ‘Friends of Durruti’ have issued with regard to
the current situation. This is a program we accept, and on the basis of which
we are ready to come to whatever agreements they may put to us. There
are two items in those watchwords which are also fundamental for us. All
Power to the working class and democratic organs of the workers, peasants
and combatants, as the expression of proletarian Power.
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theldeasset out previously, it had nothing new to contribute.
The remainder of the articles, which were fairly interesting,
dealt with a variety of topics: food supplies, opposition to
nationalist commemoration of the feast of September 11, the
Aragon front, Angel Pestafia’s return to the CNT fold.

In issue No. 9, dated October 20, 1937 carried an interest-
ing manifesto, rehearsing the history of their origins and rev-
olutionary action, as well as a programmatic inventory of the
Group’s political standpoints; this proved very controversial
and was much commented upon, so much so that issue No.
10, dated November 8, 1937, carried an editorial defending it.
The same edition greeted the appearance of Alerta, described
as an ideologically kindred newspaper. There was unmistak-
able venom towards Comorera, who was savagely criticized
for his policy as the man in charge of supplies, and for hav-
ing dismissed the fighters of July 19 as “tribesmen.” There was
a report that Balius had been jailed again “following a period
at liberty that has lasted barely fifteen or twenty days”!3: he
was convicted as the editor of El Amigo del Pueblo which was
condemned as a clandestine newspaper in that it had refused
to present itself for censorship since issue No. 2. The most in-
teresting articles were entitled “We must speak plainly” and
“An historic juncture.” In humorous tones, it rebutted the usual
charges hurled by the CNT at members of the Group who were
labeled as “uncontrollables, provocateurs and counterrevolu-
tionaries.” After defending the Group’s members and rehears-
ing their revolutionary and combat credentials, the article very

3 As he himself tells us, Balius had been jailed in May 1937: “I was
held on the first gallery of the Model Prison. This was in May 1937, after the
May events.” [ Jaime Balius “No es hora de confusionismos” in Le Combat
Syndicaliste of April 14, 1971]. However, the first report of Balius having
been jailed appeared in issue No. 4 of El Amigo del Pueblo dated June 22,
1937. Given that issue No. 3 of the Friends of Durruti’s mouthpiece was dated
June 12, 1937, the likelihood is that Balius’s incarceration coincided with the
mass arrests of POUM militants, launched on June 16 when the POUM was
declared outside the law.
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we are in danger of remaining an appendage
of bourgeois democracy and risk becoming the
victims of any sector that operates with audacity.

[.]

Our present hour should be read exclusively in the
light of past experience. If we persist in shutting
our eyes to reality, which still stinks of the bat-
tlefield, the jails and the overall onslaught of the
counterrevolution, we will be brutally driven out
of the Peninsula.

We may yet salvage the revolution. [...] Experi-
ence is a very hard taskmaster and from it we
must deduce that we have to assert ourselves with
the force of firepower and that we must annihilate
those forces which are enemies of the working
class and the revolution.

Let us bear in mind the lessons of experience.
Therein lies our salvation.

There was no plea for a deus ex machina: the Friends of Dur-
ruti were anarchists who had learned the lessons of the harsh-
est firsthand experience. What novelties they introduced to
anarchist theory may well have been old marxist postulates,
themselves merely elementary lessons from the class struggle.
But anyone who bandies about labels and regards that as hav-
ing settled the matter is ill-advised. If the firsthand experience
of the proletariat in the class struggle is not enough to remedy
errors and if history has nothing to teach us from past strug-
gles, we are left with an affirmation of the primacy of dogma
and belief and a denial that there is any validity in experience
and history.

The editorial in issue No. 8 of El Amigo del Pueblo, datelined
Barcelona September 21, 1937, labored the need for a program
if the revolution was to have any prospect of success. As with
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unions, not the UGT unions. In fact, some of the members of
the Group had quit the UGT in order to affiliate straight away
to the CNT, thereby fulfilling the essential prerequisite for
membership of the Friends of Durruti.

In reality, although the working class provenance of the
Group’s members ensured that they were CNT members, most
were members of the FAIL on which basis it can be stated that
the Friends of Durruti Group was a group of anarchists which
took a stand on purist anarchist doctrine and opposed the
collaborationist State-centered policy of the leadership of the
CNT and of the FAI proper.

They had the upper hand inside the Foodstuffs Union, which
had ramifications all over Catalonia, as well as in the mining
areas of Sallent, Suria, Figols, and Cardona, in the Upper Llobre-
gat comarca. They were influential in other unions too, where
they were in the minority. Some members belonged to the Con-
trol Patrols. But at no time did they constitute a fraction or
group, nor did they attempt to infiltrate the Patrols.

We cannot characterize the Group as a comprehensively
conscious, organized group that would undertake methodical
activity. It was one of many more or less informal anarchist
groups formed around certain characteristic affinities. Nor
were they good propagandists or theorists, but instead a group
of proletarians alive to an instinctive need to confront the
CNT’s policy of appeasement and the accelerating process of
counterrevolution.

Without question, their most outstanding spokesmen were
Jaime Balius and Pablo Ruiz. From March 1937 to May 1937,
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the Libertarian Youth of Catalonia® also set out in their wall
newspaper’ demands similar to those of the Friends of Durruti.

On April 14, 1937, the Group issued a Manifesto® in which
it set its face against the bourgeois commemoration of the an-
niversary of the proclamation of the Republic, on the grounds

% Ruta, the mouthpiece of the Libertarian Youth of Catalonia, had been
radically opposed to the CNT’s collaborationism since November 1936. Be-
tween March 1937 and late May 1937, it carried articles by Santana Calero (a
member of the Libertarian Youth of Malaga), who was also a prominent con-
tributor to EI Amigo del Pueblo and a member of the Friends of Durruti. Issue
No. 25 of Ruta, dated April 1, 1937, carried an article from the Friends of Dur-
ruti Group, entitled “Por el concepto anarquista de la revolucién,” in which
the same arguments are set out as in the late March handbill/manifesto: that
the CNT-FAI had failed to impose itself on July 19 and agreed to collaborate
as a minority player and afforded full scope to the petit-bourgeoisie: that
the war and the revolution had to be one: “the war and the revolution are
two aspects that cannot be dissevered. The War is the defense of the revo-
lution”: that the unions should have the direction of the economy: that the
army and public order should be under workers’ control: that arms had to
be in the hands of workers only, by way of a guarantee of the revolution:
that the petite bourgeoisie should man the fortifications battalions: that the
rearguard should take the war to heart: that work should be compulsory and
unionization obligatory, etc.

7 This was Esfuerzo: Peribdico mural de las Juventudes Libertarias de
Cataluria. A weekly publication, comprising of one poster-sized page for
posting on walls, it came out between the second week of March and the
second week of May. Completely anonymous, it was made up, not of articles,
but of watchwords, short manifestoes and appeals. It was a highly original
wall newspaper. The following “articles” stand out: “El dilema: Fascismo o
Revolucién social” (in No. 1, second week of March 1937), “Consignas de la Ju-
ventud Revolucionaria” (No. 2, third week of March), “El Orden Publico tiene
su garantia en las Patrullas de Control..” (No. 3, fourth week of March), “Los
‘affaires’ por la substraccion de 11 tanques. La provocacion de Orden Publico
en Reus, por Rodriguez Salas ...” and “A los ochos meses de revoluciéon” (No.
4, first week of April 1937). The last issue of this wall newspaper, No. 9, is
dated the second week of May 1937. Although the Friends of Durruti Group
is never mentioned by name, its watchwords, vision and ideological content
were very similar to those articulated and championed by the Friends of Dur-
ruti.

8 ‘Friends of Durruti’ Group “Al pueblo trabajador” Barcelona [April
14, 1937]
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etc. There was also an outstanding note of humor, very
indicative of the times, which went as follows:

We move the immediate expulsion from our
Organization of persons by the name of Mikhail
Bakunin, Peter Kropotkin, Sébastien Faure, Errico
Malatesta and Ricardo Mella.

By way of compensating for these expulsions, we
move that a tribute be paid to the ‘interventionists,;
on account of their having successfully defeated
the counterrevolutionary peril.

Our ‘orthodoxy renders us incompatible with
those who furnish ideological and material sus-
tenance to ‘uncontrollables, while it also fills us
with admiration for the glorious ‘infallibility’ of
the great interpreters of ‘circumstance.

The editorial analyzed the import of the May events, which
the Friends of Durruti held to be an insurrection intended to
remedy the mistakes made since July. It railed against the fence
sitting by certain prominent anarchist militants whose resis-
tance of “totalitarian temptations” amounted to nothing more
than an abdication of the introduction of libertarian commu-
nism. Repeatedly, it was argued that anarchists had to learn
the lessons of experience:

Totalitarian solutions have been shunned. An
official seal has been set upon the decision to
refrain from establishing libertarian communism!
The line which anarchism is to take — according
to the declarations from comrades in positions of
responsibility — is that no antifascist denomina-
tion should seek selfish advantage [...] Neither
dictatorships nor democracies! it is argued. Where
are we headed? Without a program of our own,
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Issue No. 6 also carried a report on the trial mounted against
the POUM and on the murder of Nin, for which the government
in place was held to be accountable: in addition to the custom-
ary article on the French Revolution, there were some others
of lesser interest. On the back page there was a printer’s stamp
reading “Imp. Libertaria-Perpignan.” There is every likelihood
that this was a false trail laid for the police, for El Amigo del
Pueblo was still being printed in Barcelona.!!

Issue No. 7 of the newspaper was datelined Barcelona,
September 31,'% and there were several articles which stood
out: on the repression unleashed in Aragon by the Stalinists
in the wake of the dissolution of the Council of Aragon and
the break-up of the anarchist collectives: rebutting the false
allegations about the Friends of Durruti peddled by Agustin
Souchy in an anonymous pamphlet published by Ediciones
Ebro: opposing the re-introduction of freedom of religion:
protesting at the unreasonable increase in basic living costs,

' In the indictment drawn up in February-March 1938 against the mili-
tants of the Bolshevik-Leninist Section, there is reference to a search carried
out at the print works of one of those indicted, the printer Baldomero Palau.
The search carried out at the print works in Barcelona’s Calle Salmeron un-
covered a masthead for La Voz Leninista, used in the printing of No. 3, dated
February 15, 1938. The document also mentions the discovery of two mast-
heads from the newspaper El Amigo del Pueblo. This was No. 12 of El Amigo
del Pueblo, published in Barcelona on February 1, 1938.

Moreover, in Circular No. 4 from the Regional Labor Confederation
(CNT) of Catalonia [held at the International Institute for Social history in
Amsterdam], there is a reproduction of a circular issued by the Friends of
Durruti (date unknown, but we imagine from August 1937) to all CNT unions
in Catalonia, requesting financial assistance in the purchase of a copying
machine because “it is becoming increasingly harder to get out El Amigo del
Pueblo. Printers fight shy of agreeing to typeset and print it, on account of
its clandestine status and for fear of the authorities. The day will come when
we will no longer be able to get it out, because of this problem”

'2 This was doubtless a printing error. The date should be August 31,
1937, since No. 8 is dated September 21 and there are only 30 days in Septem-
ber.
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that it was merely a pretext for reinforcing bourgeois institu-
tions and the counterrevolution. Instead of commemoration of
the Republic and in opposition to the Generalidad and Luis
Companys, which were the cutting edge of bourgeois counter-
revolution, the Friends of Durruti proposed commemoration of
July 19 and exhorted the CNT and the FAI to come up with
a revolutionary escape route from the dead-end street of the
Generalidad government’s crisis. That crisis started on March
4" with a decree ordering dissolution of the Control Patrols:
the CNT’s failure to comply implied the exclusion of CNT per-
sonnel from the Generalidad government.

The Manifesto catalogued a host of trespasses against revolu-
tionaries, from the most celebrated case of Maroto, which even
drew indignant comment from the docile Solidaridad Obrera,
through to lesser known cases, such as the incidents in Olesa
de Montserrat. In fact, the Manifesto reiterated the program
points which had been incubating since early March in arti-
cles by Balius, Mingo and others in La Noche. And these were
summed up in the opening paragraph of the Manifesto:

The capitalist State, which suffered a formidable
setback in the memorable events of July, is still ex-
tant, thanks to the counterrevolutionary endeavor
of the petit-bourgeoisie [...]

The Generalidad crisis is categorical evidence that
we have to build a new world, wholly dispensing
with statist formulas.

It is high time that the legion of petit-bourgeois,
shopkeepers and guards was ruthlessly swept
aside. There can be no compromise with counter-
revolution. [...]

This is a time of life or death for the working class.
[...] Let us not hesitate.
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The CNT and the FAIL being the organizations that
reflect the people’s concerns, must come up with a
revolutionary way out of the dead-end street [...]
We have the organs that must supplant a State in
ruins. The Trade Unions and Municipalities must
take charge of economic and social life [...]”

On Sunday April 18, 1937, the Group held a rally in the Po-
liorama Theater, by way of bringing its existence and its pro-
gram to the attention of the public.” Jaime Balius, Pablo Ruiz
(delegate from the Gelsa Group), Francisco Pellicer (a delegate
from the Iron Column) and Francisco Carrefio (a member of
the Durruti Column’s War Committee) all spoke. The meeting

® This meeting to introduce the Group was reported in detail by Rosalio
Negrete and Hugo Oehler in a report written and date-lined in Barcelona the
same day. That report was first published in Fourth International Volume 2,
No. 12, (1937). See Revolutionary History Volume 1, No. 2, (1988), London, pp.
34-35.

The meeting had been called by means of handbills announcing
that Francisco Pellicer would speak on the problelm of subsistence, Pablo
Ruiz on the revolutionary army, Jaime Balius on the war and the revolution,
Francisco Carreflo on trade union unity and political collaboration, and V.
Perez Combina on public order and the present time.

The following notice was carried in the daily newspaper La Noche
(19 April 1937) about the progress of the meeting:

Yesterday morning, in the Poliorama Theatre, a meeting was held
by the Friends of Durruti Group. There was a considerable attendance and
the meeting was chaired by comrade Romero, who, after a few short remarks
outlining the meaning of the meeting, called upon Francisco Pellicer, who
opened with a recollection of Durruti.

Next, attention turned to the problem of subsistence, and he stated
that it was impossible to eat on current rates of pay [...] Pablo Ruiz spoke
on the revolutionary army [...] Then Jaime Balius read some jottings [...]
in which he reviewed the initial fighting against fascism on July 19 [...] He
stated that the Revolution should go hand in hand with the war and that
both have to be won. [...] Francisco Carrefio spoke last on the topic ‘trade
union unity and political collaboration’ [...] He, like the rest of the speakers,
was very warmly applauded.

62

antifascist committee, with that make-up, was
scarcely the embodiment of the fighting in July.!

[...] we advocate that the only participants in the
revolutionary Junta should be the workers of city
and countryside and the combatants who have
shown themselves, at every crucial juncture in the
conflict, to be the champions of social revolution.

[.]

the ‘Friends of Durruti Group’ which knew
enough to work out a precise critique of the
May events is even now sensible of the need to
establish a revolutionary Junta, along the lines we
have in mind, and we regard it as indispensable
for the defense of the revolution [...]

The evolution of the Friends of Durruti’s political thinking
was by now unstoppable. After the necessity of a dictatorship
of the proletariat had been acknowledged, the next issue to
arise was: And who is to exercise that dictatorship of the prole-
tariat? The answer was: the revolutionary Junta, promptly de-
fined as the vanguard of revolutionaries. And its role? We can-
not believe that it can be anything other than the one which
marxists ascribe to the revolutionary party.

However, in No. 2 of La Voz Leninista, Munis was critical of
issue No 6 of El Amigo del Pueblo because he regarded its con-
tents as a retreat from the same formulas devised by the Friends
of Durruti Group during, and in the immediate aftermath of the
May events.

19 So, the Friends of Durruti did not regard the Antifascist Militias’ Com-
mittee (CAMC) as dual power in embryo, but rather as a class collaboration
agency. This was the same conclusion to which Nin, Azafia, Tarradellas, the
Bordiguists, etc. had come and flies in the face of the academic, historiograph-
ical thesis presenting the CAMC as embryonic workers’ power in contradis-
tinction to the Generalidad.
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In the same edition of the paper, there was an analysis
of events since May, which included a denunciation of the
incarceration and trial of POUM militants by the Stalinists,
and the destruction of the collectives. Pointed contrasts were
drawn between the ease in which the middle classes, the
Stalinists’ spawning ground, lived, and the persecution of
revolutionary workers. There was also Fulmen’s usual piece
on the French Revolution, outlining an interesting contrast
between the French revolutionary process and the Spanish.
Finally, there was an outstanding long article denouncing
abortive attempts on the part of the CNT’s leading committees
to have the Friends of Durruti expelled.

Issue No. 6 of El Amigo del Pueblo is dated Barcelona, August
12, 1937. The editorial is headed “Necessity of a Revolution-
ary Junta” reiterating the previous edition’s editorial about the
need for a revolutionary junta and arguing that a revolutionary
junta ought to have been set up in July 1936:

From the July movement we must conclude
that the revolution’s enemies must be ruthlessly
crushed. This was one of the chief mistakes for
which we are now paying with interest. This
defensive mission will fall to the revolutionary
Junta which must show the enemy no mercy. [...]

The establishment of a revolutionary Junta is of
capital importance. It is not a matter of yet another
abstraction. It is the outcome of a series of failures
and disasters. And is the categorical amendment
of the trajectory followed hitherto.

In July an antifascist committee was set up which
was not equal to the implications of that sublime
hour. How could the embryo thrown up by the
barricades have developed, incorporating as it did
the friends and foes of the revolution alike? The
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was a great success and theldeasset out by the speakers were
roundly applauded.

On the first Sunday in May 1937 (May 2) the Group held a
further introductory rally at the Goya Theater: the theater was
filled to overflowing and the rally moved those attending to
delirious enthusiasm. A documentary film entitled “Nineteenth
of July” was screened, reliving the most emotive passages from
the revolutionary events of July 19, 1936. The speakers were De
Pablo [Could this be Pablo Ruiz?], Jaime Balius, Liberto Calle-
jas and Francisco Carrefio. The meeting heard a prediction that
an attack upon the workers by the reactionaries was now im-
minent.

The leadership committees of the CNT and the FAI did not
pay undue heed to this new opposition emanating from within
the libertarian movement, despite the scathing criticisms di-
rected at themselves. In anarchist circles it was not unusual
for groups to bubble to the surface, enjoying a meteoric rise,
only to vanish into nothing as quickly as they had arisen.

The program spelled out by the Friends of Durruti prior to
May 1937 was characterized by its emphasis upon trade union
management of the economy, upon criticism of all the parties
and their statist collaborationism, as well as a certain reversion
to anarchist doctrinal purity.

The Friends of Durruti set out their program in the poster
with which they covered the walls of Barcelona towards the
end of April 1937. Those posters which, even then, ahead of
the events of May, argued the need to replace the bourgeois
Generalidad government of Catalonia with a Revolutionary

Junta, stated as follows:!°

10 Acta de la sessié consistorial del 22-5-1937 del Ajuntamente de Sabadell,
Archivo Histdrico de Sabadell. On page 399 of the book of minutes No. 16,
the poster from the Friends of Durruti, issued in April 1937, is reproduced
in full. This poster, which council member Bruno Lladé (who was also the
comarcal delegate of the Generalidad’s department of economy [headed by
Diego Abad de Santillan]) had put up in his office on Sunday, May 2™, joined

63



Friends of Durruti Group. To the working class:

1. Immediate establishment of a Revolutionary
Junta made up of workers of city and countryside
and of combatants.

2. Family wage. Ration cards. Trade union
direction of the economy and supervision of
distribution.

3. Liquidation of the counterrevolution.

4. Creation of a revolutionary army.

5. Absolute working class control of public order.

6. Steadfast opposition to any armistice.

7. Proletarian justice.

8. Abolition of personnel changes.

Attention, workers: our group is opposed to the
continued advance of the counterrevolution. The
public order decrees sponsored by Aiguadé are not
to be heeded. We insist upon the release of Maroto
and other comrades detained.

All power to the working class. All economic
power to the unions.

Rather than the Generalidad, a Revolutionary
Junta!

The April 1937 poster foreshadowed and explains the leaflet
issued during the events in May and incorporates many of the
themes and concerns dealt with by Balius in the articles he pub-
lished in Solidaridad Obrera, La Noche and Ideas (especially rev-

the book of evidence against him when the councilor was accused of inciting
rebellion against the Generalidad government in the course of the events of
May in Barcelona.

The text of this poster, according to the minutes of the May 22,
1937 sitting of Sabadell Council was reprinted in Andreu Castells: Sabadell,
informe de loposicio. Annex per a la histéria de Sabadell (Vol. V) Guerra i rev-
olucio (1936-1939) (Ed. Riutort, Sabadell, 1982, p. 22.8)
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This is a crucial text, for it represents a landmark in the
evolution of anarchist thinking. The theoretical notions set
out here, previously sketched only in a very confused way, are
now spelled out with dazzling clarity. And these theoretical ac-
quisitions were later to be reiterated and thought through in
Balius’s pamphlet Hacia una nueva revolucion. But here they
appear for the first time. And no one can fail to appreciate
the novelty and significance of them in the context of anar-
chist thought. The Friends of Durruti had picked up old the-
oretical concepts, at which they had arrived at the end of a
painful historical experience, over a civil war and revolution-
ary process, which had starkly exposed the contradictions and
demands of the class struggle. Are we to believe, then, that this
evolution in the political thinking of the Friends of Durruti can
seriously and verifiably be ascribed to the influence of some
outside group, say, Trotskyists or POUMists? It is beyond dis-
pute that this is an evolution attributable to the Friends of
Durruti Group exclusively. In their analysis of the political and
historical situation, they had come to the conclusion that, in a
revolution, there was an ineluctable requirement that a Revolu-
tionary Junta be established. Naturally, the Friends of Durruti
shunned the characteristic terminology of marxism,” and em-
ployed a different idiom, characteristic of anarchist ideology:
and that idiom in which they frame the notion of “dictatorship
of the proletariat,” is further proof that we are dealing here with
evolution internal to the Group, rather than its being colonized
or captivated by some outside group. Social and historical re-
alities are stubborn enough and tough enough to ensure that
the elements of revolutionary theory can germinate in a revo-
lutionary group which simply keeps its eyes open and its mind
alert.

® We need not, we feel, go into the differences between revolutionary
marxism and Stalinism. Anyone interested in this matter can refer to issue
No. 1 of Balance.
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revolution. But the very same persons who, in July,
took fright at the danger of foreign intervention,
come the events of May, displayed a lack of vision
which culminated in that baleful ‘cease-fire’ which,
later, despite a truce’s having been agreed, trans-
lated as an ongoing disarmament and ruthless re-
pression of the working class. [...]

So that, by denying ourselves a program, which
is to say, libertarian communism, we surrender
ourselves entirely to our adversaries, who did and
still do have a program and guidelines [...] to the
petit-bourgeois parties which ought to have been
stamped out in July and in May. In our view, any
other sector, had it enjoyed an absolute majority
such as we possessed, would have set itself up as
absolute master of the situation.

In the preceding edition of our newspaper we
spelled out a program. We are alive to the ne-
cessity for a revolutionary junta, for the unions
to have control of the economy and for the
Municipalities to organize freely. Our Group has
sought to trace a path, for fear lest circumstances
similar to July and May, might see us perform the
same way. And success lies in the existence of a
program which must be unwaveringly backed by
rifles [...]

Revolutions without theory fail to make progress.
We of the ‘Friends of Durruti’ have outlined our
thinking, which may be amended as appropriate
in great social upheavals, but which hinges upon
two essential points which cannot be avoided. A
program, and rifles.

olutionary justice, prisoner exchanges, the need for the rear-
guard to take the war to heart, etc.). For the first time the need
was posited for a Revolutionary Junta to supplant the bour-
geois Generalidad government. This Revolutionary Junta!! was
defined as a revolutionary government comprised of workers,
peasants and militians.

Most significant of all is the consolidated message of the
last three slogans. Replacement of the bourgeois Generalidad
government by a Revolutionary Junta appears alongside the
watchwords “All power to the working class” and “All eco-
nomic power to the unions.”!2

The political program implicit in this poster immediately be-
fore the events of May is undoubtedly the most advanced and
lucid offered by any of the existing proletarian groups, and
makes of the Friends of Durruti Group a revolutionary van-
guard of the proletariat of Spain at this critical and crucial

"' The definition of the Revolutionary Junta offered by the Friends of
Durruti was not always the same, as we shall see anon. But the significance
of the watchwords in the April poster eluded no one. Establishment of a
Revolutionary Junta implied not only the winding up of the bourgeois Gen-
eralidad government, but the introduction of dictatorship of the proletariat:
“all power to the working class” and “all economic power to the unions.” In
an interview granted to Lutte Ouvriere in 1939, Munis took the line that the
terms “revolutionary junta” and “soviets,” as used by the Friends of Durruti,
were Synonymous.

'2 Balius was very conscious of the importance of the watchwords set
out in the April 1937 poster. “May 1 1937 is the Spanish Kronstadt. In Cat-
alonia, uprising was feasible only by virtue of the CNT’s might. And just as,
in Russia, the sailors and workers of Kronstadt arose to a cry of “All power
to the soviets,” so the Friends of Durruti Group called for “All power to the
unions,” and we did so publicly in the many posters stuck up all over the city
of Barcelona and in the manifesto we issued and managed to print up while
the battle raged” (Jaime Balius “Por los fueros de la verdad” in Le combat
Syndicaliste of September 2, 1971)

See also Munis’s comments in La Voz Leninista No. 2 of August 23,
1937.
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juncture as the POUM and the Bolshevik-Leninist Section of
Spain were to acknowledge.

*%

3 Juan Andrade “CNT-POUM” in La Batalla of May 1, 1937. See also G.
Munis “La Junta Revolucionaria y los ‘Amigos de Durruti” in La Voz Lenin-
ista No. 2, of August 23, 1937.
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At no time did Balius allow his imprisonment to interfere with
his contributing to editorials, sometimes even writing articles
from prison.

Issue No. 5 is one of the most interesting of the El Amigo
del Pueblo series. Page one carries an editorial entitled “A rev-
olutionary theory” That article alone would be enough to
highlight the political and historical importance of the
Friends of Durruti, not just in relation to the history of the
civil war, but in anarchist ideology. In the editorial, the Friends
of Durruti ascribed the progress of the counterrevolution and
the failure of the CNT, following its incontrovertible, absolute
triumph in July 1936, to one single factor: lack of a revolution-
ary program. And this had also been behind the defeat in May
1937. The conclusion to which they had come is spelled out
with tremendous clarity:

the downward spiral [of the revolution] must be
attributed exclusively to the absence of a specific
program and short-term achievements, and to the
fact that, on this score, we have fallen into the
snares of counterrevolutionary sectors just when
circumstances were plainly taking a favorable turn
as far as meeting the proletariat’s aspirations was
concerned. And by failing to give free rein to July’s
awakening along plainly class lines, we have ren-
dered possible petit bourgeois rule which could
never ever have come about, had a unanimous de-
termination to place the proletariat in the driving
seat in this country prevailed.

[...] making the blunder of thinking that a revolu-
tion of the social type could share its economic and
social dynamics with enemy sectors. [...]

In May the problem was posed anew. Once again
the talk was of supremacy in the direction of the
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War to the death against speculators, bureaucrats
and those behind the rise in the cost of living. On
a war footing against any armistice.

On page 2, the following announcement or reminder ap-
peared: “Revolutionary Program of the Friends of Durruti
Group:

A revolutionary junta.

Economic power to the unions. Free municipali-
ties.

We want to step up a gear. We are anarchists.”

In addition, there was the customary poem from Eleuterio
Roig, the usual article by Fulmen on the French Revolution,
and a piece by Santana Calero urging the Libertarian youth
and the FAI to get to work in the trade unions and reaffirming
the need to win the war and prosecute the revolution simul-
taneously. Of course, outstanding was a memorable article by
Jaime Balius entitled “In self-defense. I require an explanation.”
In this article, Balius defended himself against the charge that
he was a marxist, a charge leveled at him by the CNT leaders
and CNT press as the most wounding insult of all.

In issue No. 5 of El Amigo del Pueblo, dated July 20, 1937,
and printed in a smaller format, the same address is given for
the paper’s administration and editorial offices as in the very
first issue, even though the Group’s offices had been shut down
by the police and the newspaper was being printed clandes-
tinely. This was part of a ploy to throw police inquiries off the
scent. They thought that El Amigo del Pueblo was probably be-
ing printed in France by then, in Perpignan or in Montpellier,
with the help of French anarchists, although in fact it was still
being published in Barcelona. Starting with this edition, and in
all succeeding issues of El Amigo del Pueblo, all articles were un-
signed, except for the occasional one published under an alias.
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6. The May Events'

On Saturday, May 1, 1937, there was no May Day demonstra-
tion in Barcelona. The Generalidad had announced that this
was a day to be worked for the sake of war production, al-

! Information about the May events has been taken from the following
sources:

J. Arquer Les Jornades de maig Unpublished manuscript deposited
with the AHN in Madrid Burnett Bolloten La Guerra civil espariola: Revolu-
cién y contrarrevolucion (Alianza Editorial, Madrid, 1989, pp. 659-704) [En-
glish language readers should see Burnett Bolloten, The Spanish Revolution,
Chapel Hill, 1979]

Luis Companys “This is a carbon copy of notes made by President
... and of teletyped conversations between various political figures during
the fighting in Barcelona, May 3-7, 1937” [Deposited with the Hoover Insti-
tution]

Manuel Cruells Mayo sangriento. Barcelona 1937 (Ed. Juventud,
Barcelona, 1970)

Francisco Lacruz El alzamiento, la revolucion y el terror en Barcelona
(Libreria Arysel, Barcelona, 1943)

Frank Mintz and Manuel Pecifia Los Amigos de Durruti, los trot-
squistas y los sucesos de mayo (Campo Abierto, Madrid, 1978)

Andres Nin “El problema de los 6rganos de poder en la revolu-
cién espaiiola” Published in French in No. 1 of Juillet. Revue internationale
du POUM in June 1937. Available in a Spanish translation in Balance No. 2
(March 1994)

Hugo Oehler Barricades in Barcelona (1937). Reprinted in Revolu-
tionary History No. 2, (1988) pp. 22-29

George Orwell “Yo fui tesligo en Barcelona” in Boletin de informa-
cion sobre el proceso politico contra el POUM No. 5, Barcelona, December 15,
1937

[Agustin Souchy] Los sucesos en Barcelona, Relacion documental de
las tragicas jornadas de la 1a de semana Mayo de 1937 (Ediciones Espafiolas
Ebro, no place indicated, 3" edition August 1937)

Pavel and Clara Thalmann Combats pur la liberté. Moscou, Madrid,
Paris (Spartacus, Paris, 1983)

Various Los sucesos de mayo de 1937. ona revolucion en la Republica
(Fundacié Andreu Nin, Barcelona 1988)

Various Sucesos de mayo (1937) Cuadernos de la guerra civil No. 1,
(Fundacion Salvador Segui, Madrid, 1987)
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Arms must be in the possession of the prole-
tariat. Rifles are the ultimate guarantee of the
revolution’s gains. No one but the working class
may have access to them. Abolition of ranks.
Fortifications battalions to be made up of the
Proletariat’s enemies.

Compulsory unionization. Employment bureaus.
An end to references in securing employment.
Ration cards. Obligatory labor. The rearguard
must live for the war.

Socialization of all the means of production and
exchange. A fight to the death against fascism and
its accomplices. Purging of the rearguard. Estab-
lishment of neighborhood committees.

Immediate introduction of the family wage, with
no bureaucratic exceptions. The war and the revo-
lution must touch us all equally. Suspension of the
bourgeois Parliament. Suspension of passports.

Mobilization against the counterrevolution.

Absolute non-compliance with the coercive mea-
sures of the State, such as enforcement of censor-
ship, disarming of the workers, State confiscation
of radio stations, etc.

Resolute opposition to Municipalization of the
means of production until such time as the
working class enjoys absolute mastery of the
country.

Reversion to our organizations’ revolutionary
tenor in full.

Utter opposition to governmental collaboration, it
being utterly counter-productive in the emancipa-
tion of the proletariat.
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tion: news of the military successes of the anarchist Cipriano
Mera on the Madrid front: some poems by Eleuterio Roig: an
article by Santana Calero in which he averred that imitating
Durruti meant not appeasement, but rather, advocacy of the
latter’s ideological positions on the necessity of winning the
war if they were to be free: Durruti’s radio broadcast from the
Madrid front was reprinted: there was a demagogic article on
the Aragon front and the rearguard: a scathing denunciation
of the latest statements by Peir6 regarding the introduction of
a republic like the one in existence prior to July 19 : and above
all, most interestingly of all, an article entitled “Apropos of the
May Events” in which the Friends of Durruti retracted the de-

8th about

scription “traitors” used in their Manifesto of May
the CNT’s leading commiittees, and simultaneously asked that
the description “agents provocateurs” used about the Friends
of Durruti by the CNT be retracted too.

In issue No. 4, dated June 22, 1937, there was a report of
Balius’s having been detained without bail. Prominently dis-
played on the cover was the Group’s schedule of demands (al-
ready re-vamped several times since it had first appeared in
the manifesto issued in late March 1937), which proposed dra-
conian measures like compulsory unionization, purges of the
rearguard, rationing, arming of the proletariat, disbanding of
the agencies of repression, etc... aimed at defending a revolu-
tion menaced by the reaction, and winning the war against the
fascists:

We, ‘irresponsible agents provocateurs, call for:
trade union direction of economic and social life.
The free municipality.

The army and public order to be overseen by the
working class.

Dissolution of the Armed Corps. Retention of the
Defense Committees and Defense Councilorships.
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though the real reason was fear of a confrontation between
the different labor organizations following heightened tension
in several comarcas and localities around Catalonia. That Sat-
urday too the Generalidad council met to look into the worry-
ing public order situation in Catalonia. The council endorsed
the effectiveness displayed over the previous few weeks by its
councilors for internal security and defense, agreeing to pass
a vote of confidence in their ability to resolve outstanding?
public order business.

As the council meeting concluded, there was a meeting of
a panel made up of the councilors for defense® and internal
security and the premier, for the purpose of looking into
public order issues.? It seems hard to believe that the initiative
to seize the Telephone Exchange could have been a personal
decision by the councilor for security, Artemi Aiguadé. It
is more likely that the decision would have been made by
the panel which met after the council meeting on May 1%,
or resulted from the incident on Sunday May 2™, when a
telephone conversation between Companys and Azafia (who

% Jordi Arquer Les jornades de maig Unpublished manuscript text de-
posited with the AHN in Madrid.

3 The Councilor for defense was CNT member Francisco Isgleas, a
faithful friend and supporter of Garcia Oliver, who, during the May events,
played a very prominently “neutral” role, preventing CNT and POUM troops
from taking a hand in the fighting. Miguel Caminal offers testimony from
Rafael Vidiella, according to whom Companys ordered Artemi Aiguadé to
take the Telephone Exchange, and this in the presence of several coun-
cilors and the CNT’s Domenech, who merely pointed out the possible con-
sequences of such a move. [In Miguel Caminal Joan Comorera Vol. II, p. 120]

* See Arquer, op. cit. and a report in Solidaridad Obrera of May 2, 1937
of the Generalidad council’s having met on Saturday May 1.

> Yet Arquer (op. cit.) appears to believe that Aiguadé was acting off his
own bat, without the knowledge of the panel. Be that as it may;, it seems obvi-
ous that the Generalidad government had washed its hands of Tarradellas’s
policy of compromise and collaboration and opted instead for the direct con-
frontation (as advocated by Companys) which had worked so well in Bellver
de Cerdana.
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happened to be in Barcelona) was crassly interrupted by
CNT militants. Of course, if the operation failed, the security
councilor would carry the full political responsibility. By a
stroke of luck, on Monday May 3", Companys happened to be
on a visit to Benicarl6 for a meeting with Largo Caballero, con-
veniently enabling him to dissociate himself from the initial
incidents. Be that as it may, Companys’ political action, with
his blinkered, incomprehensible refusal to dismiss Artemio
Aiguadé and Rodriguez Salas,® as the CNT had insisted right
from May 3, was one of the most significant triggers of the
armed clashes in the ensuing days.

On Monday May 3, 1937, three truck loads of heavily armed
Assault Guards, drew up outside the Telephone Exchange in
the Plaza de Catalufia. They were led by Rodriguez Salas, UGT
militant and dyed-in-the-wool Stalinist, the officer command-
ing the public order commissariat in Barcelona. Ever since July
19, the Exchange had been commandeered by the CNT. The
sore point was control of telephone links, border controls and
the control patrols: since January, the Generalidad republican
government and the masses of the CNT had clashed several
times over these. It was an inevitable struggle between the re-
publican state apparatus, which was insisting upon complete
recovery of all of “its” proper prerogatives, and the CNT mem-
bership’s defense of the “gains” of July 19, 1936.

Rodriguez Salas attempted to take control of the Telephone
Exchange. The CNT militants on the lower floors, caught by
surprise, let themselves be disarmed: but on the upper floors

® See the observations of Manuel Cruells (Mayo sangriento. Barcelona
1937 Ed. Juventud, Barcelona 1970, pp. 55-56) on this point. Cruells was a
journalist with the Diari de Barcelona at the time. As for the influence of
Stalinists over Aiguadé or Rodriguez Salas, whether there was any or not
strikes us as irrelevant given that collaboration that was obtained between
Companys, Comorera and the Soviet consul in Barcelona. This view is also
expressed by Agustin Souchy in Los sucesos de Barcelona. Relacion ... op. cit.
p- 13.
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which was not commonly found in the rest of the newspapers
of the time. This, we may say, was a characteristic feature of
El Amigo del Pueblo. This edition’s editorial comment, which
was carried on the back cover under the title “The Negrin gov-
ernment,” bemoaned the formation of a counter-revolutionary
government under Communist Party sponsorship as a result of
the May events, the short-term objective of it being to disarm
the working class and form a bourgeois army. The editorial cat-
egorized the resolution of the crisis in the Valencia government
as a clear example of colonial intervention [Russian interven-
tion, it was implied]. Balius was jailed and refused bail (around
mid-June) over this editorial, although he was never brought
to trial, since the Tribunal charged with hearing the case or-
dered him released. A fortnight after that release, (around mid-
October) he was jailed again (at the start of November) for two
months, under a preventive detention order, and handed over
to Commissioner Burillo.” Thus he was incarcerated for some
nine months in all and only escaped a third period behind bars
because he fled Barcelona to avoid it.

Issue No. 3 bore the date June 12, 1937, claimed to have been
published in Barcelona and was now entirely without color.
This issue seemed a lot more pugnacious, and the articles had
a lot more bite to them. There were denunciations of the mur-
der of several anarchist militants, encroachments against the
Control Patrols which it was intended to outlaw, and the text
of their May handbill was quoted and its content explained. It
was announced as imminent events crucial to the future of the
revolution, which was in immediate danger.8 There was an un-
credited article, ascribable to Fulmen, on the French Revolu-

7 Jordi Arquer Historia ... op. cit. Colonel Burillo had been involved in
the arrest of Nin and the rest of the POUM leadership.

8 In fact, on June 16, four days after the date on which No. 3 of El Amigo
del Pueblo came out, the POUM was outlawed and its militants and leaders
arrested and/or murdered, in an operation, unprecedented in Spain, overseen
by the CPU and Spanish Stalinists.
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No. 2, which displays no censored passages, had a print run
of fifteen thousand copies.’ The colored cover page showed a
drawing commemorating Ascaso’s death in the attack upon
the Atarazanas barracks. This issue was date-lined Barcelona,
Wednesday May 26, 1937. The cover bore the following notice:

The squalid treatment which the censors have
meted out to us requires us to give it the slip. The
impertinence of erasing our most insignificant
remarks is a shame and a disgrace. We cannot,
nor will we put up with it. Slaves, no!

Consequently, this edition was not presented for censorship
and was published clandestinely.® Prominent in this issue was
the denunciation of the watchwords issued by the UGT, the
Stalinist-controlled union which had expelled the POUMists
from its ranks and asked that the CNT treat the Friends of Dur-
ruti likewise. It carried no article with Balius’s byline. However,
two articles stand out, not so much on account of any intrinsic
worth but rather on account of the mentality they mirror. One
of them, signed by “Fulmen” drew parallels between the French
Revolution of 1793 and the Spanish revolution in 1937, between
Marat and Balius and between the Jabobins and the durrutis-
tas. Another, uncredited article denounced a series of leading
Catalanist personalities living in Paris on retainers from the
Generalidad. A comparison was also made in a populist, dem-
agogic way, between the salaries received by Companys and
other politicians and the pay of militians and the difficulties
of raising funds to keep the war going. Both these articles are
interesting, in that they indicate a workerist, demagogic out-
look, which seems to have tied in very well with the day-to-day
economic straits and discomforts of the common people, and

> As stated by Balius in his letter to Burnett Bolloten from Cuernavaca,
June 24, 1946.
¢ Ibid.
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dogged resistance was organized, thanks to a machine-gun
strategically positioned on the top floor. The news spread
like wildfire. Barricades were thrown up immediately all over
the city. We can speak of a spontaneous backlash from the
Barcelona working class, if we regard as such the initiative
shown by the middle ranking cadres of the CNT,” as well
as the fact that there already existed significant militant
organization among the CNT rank and file, in the shape of the

7 Shortly after news broke of the armed clash inside the Telephone
Exchange building: “In order to ensure that this incident would not lead to
wider clashes, the Chief of Service at the Public Order Commissariat, Eroles,
the general secretary of the ‘Control Patrols, Asens and Diaz, representing
the Defense Committee, traveled to the Telephone Exchange to get the at-
tackers to withdraw.

Rodriguez Salas consulted by telephone with Aiguadé, the Coun-
cilor for Internal Security, on whose orders he had acted, and the latter in-
structed him that under no circumstances was he to withdraw, but should
hold the positions he had captured...

Along with some other anarchists, Valerio Mas showed up at the
office of [...] Tarradellas, asking him to order the Assault Guards trying to
occupy the Telephone Exchange to withdraw [...] Tarradellas, and later [...]
Arlemio Aiguadé, on whom they also called, feigned surprise and claimed
that they had not issued any instructions to the effect that the Telephone
Exchange should be occupied.

-This is Rodriguez Salas acting on his own account — Aiguadé told
them. — And I promise you that [...] I will issue the requisite “orders for
peace to be restored”

[From Francisco Lacruz El Alzamiento, la revolucién y el terror en
Barcelona (Libreria Arysel, Barcelona, 1943)]

Francisco Lacruz’s information was probably lifted from the pam-
phlet published anonymously by Agustin Souchy in 1937 which stated: “To
ensure that this incident would not lead to wider clashes, the police chief
Eroles, the Control Patrols’ general secretary Asens, and comrade Diaz, rep-
resenting the Defense Committee, journeyed to the Telephone Exchange [...]
Valerio Mas, along with some other comrades, spoke to the premier, Tarradel-
las and the councilor of the Interior, Aiguadé, to urge them to pull out the
troops. [...] Tarradellas [...] and Aiguadé assured them that they knew noth-
ing of what had happened at the Telephone Exchange. It was discovered later
that Aiguadé himself had signed the order for it to be occupied.” [Los sucesos
de Barcelona. Relacion... op. cit. p. 12]
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district defense committees and the control patrols.® Similarly,
we can speak of a spontaneous backlash, if we bear it in mind
that at no time did an order go out from the CNT leadership,
or from the leadership of any other party, before mobilization
occurred and barricades were thrown up all around the city.

Nor had anyone issued the call for a general strike, which
was the product of class instinct. This was ground ripe for the
action that offered itself to the Friends of Durruti. They man-
aged to attend immediately to what the circumstances required.
Whilst the workers fought with weapons in hand, they strove
to lead them and provide them with a revolutionary objective.
But they soon discovered their limitations. They criticized the
CNT’s leaders, whom they labeled traitors in their May 8 Mani-
festo, but they were unable to overrule the order to quit the bar-
ricades. Nor did they consider supplanting the CNT leadership.
They did nothing to see to it that their slogan about establishing
a Revolutionary Junta was implemented. They knew that their
criticisms of the anarcho-syndicalist leadership would not be
enough to wrest control of the CNT organization from it.

On the other hand, the Group was newborn, lacking experi-
ence and lacking in prestige with the CNT masses. ItsIdeashad
not managed to permeate the rank and file membership thor-
oughly.

Wallowing in this situation of powerlessness, they received
anote from the POUM Executive Committee, requesting an au-

8 See the claims of Julian Gorkin in “Retinion du sous-secretariat in-
ternational du POUM — 14 mai 1937”: “In point of fact the movement was
entirely spontaneous. Of course, that very relative spontaneity ought to be
explained: since July 19, Defense Committees, organized primarily by rank
and file CNT and FAI personnel, had been formed pretty well everywhere in
Barcelona and across Catalonia. For a time, these Committees were scarcely
active, yet it can be said that it was they which mobilized the working class
on May 3. They were the action groups behind the movement. We know that
no general strike instructions went out from either of the two trade union
associations.”
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tion and upon anarcho-syndicalist ideology. The first issue of
El Amigo del Pueblo was published lawfully on May 19,> many
of its galley proofs erased by the censors. The red and black
broad sheet cover page carried a drawing showing a smiling
Durruti holding the red and black flag aloft. Number 1 bore
no date. The editorial and administrative offices were listed as
No. 1, first floor, Rambla de las Flores. The paper proclaimed it-
self the mouthpiece of the Friends of Durruti. Balius was listed
as editor-in-chief, and Eleuterio Roig, Pablo Ruiz and Domingo
Paniagua as editors. The most intriguing article which bore Bal-
ius’s signature was entitled “For the record. We are not agents
provocateurs,” in which Balius deplored the insults and asper-
sions emanating from the CNT’s own ranks. He mentioned
the handbill and the manifesto issued in May, claiming that he
had not reprinted these because they would assuredly and in-
evitably have been censored. He directly attacked Solidaridad
Obrera* for its venomous attitude towards the Friends of Dur-
ruti and refuted the slurs emanating from the CNT leadership:
“We are not agents provocateurs.”

* Issue No. 1 of El Amigo del Pueblo bears no date. The Group had dis-
tributed a notice announcing that El Amigo del Pueblo, the mouthpiece of the
Friends of Durruti, would be appearing, on Wednesday May 19. Tavera and
Ucelay mistakenly give the date of May 11, 1937, probably taken from the
Manifesto reproduced on the second page of the first issue of El Amigo del
Pueblo. Paul Sharkey gives the much more likely date of May 20. Then again,
given the weekly periodicity which it was intended the paper should have,
and that issue No. 2 of El Amigo del Pueblo was published on May 26, 1937,
there can be no doubt of the date on which No. 1 appeared.

* Solidaridad Obrera was under the management of Jacinto Toryho,
who was appointed editor-in-chief of the CNT’s main newspaper on account
of his resolute defense of CNT collaborationism and discipline. He was pro-
foundly at loggerheads with Balius, who had always been highly critical
of anarcho-syndicalist collaborationism. Regarding Toryho and his enmity
and friction with Balius, see the interesting study made in an otherwise de-
plorable article by Susana Tavera and Enric Ucelay da Cal, cited earlier: as
well as Jordi Sabater’s book Anarquisme i catalanisme. La CNT i el fet naciénal
catala durant la Guerra Civil (Ediciéns 62, Barcelona, 1986, pp. 109-110)
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7. After May

The CNT leadership moved that members of the Friends of
Durruti Group be expelled, but it never could get that mea-
sure ratified by any assembly of unions.! The CNT member-
ship sympathized with the revolutionary opposition embodied
in the Group. Not that this means that they subscribed either
to the activities or the thinking of Friends of Durruti, but they
did understand their stance and respected, indeed supported,
their criticisms of the CNT leadership.?

The CNT leadership deliberately used and abused the allega-
tion “marxist,” which was the worst conceivable term of abuse
among anarchists and one that was repeatedly used against the
Group and more specifically against Balius. There is nothing in
the Group’s theoretical tenets, much less in the columns of El
Amigo del Pueblo, or in their various manifestoes and handbills
to merit the description “marxist” being applied to the Group.
They were simply an opposition to the CNT leadership’s col-
laborationist policy, making their stand within the organiza-

' In his article “Por los fueros de la verdad;” Balius has this to say:
“Later came the ukase from the higher committees ordering our expulsion,
but this was rejected by the rank and file in the trade union assemblies and
at a plenum of FAI groups held in the Casa CNT-FAI”

? The welcome and widespread sympathy won by the Friends of Dur-
ruti from the CNT membership are evident, not just in the powerlessness
of the CNT committees and leadership to secure their expulsion, but also in
the discontent and deliberation which led, following the May events, to the
emergence of a conspiratorial structure within the libertarian organizations,
which threw up documents entitled “Aportacién a un proyecto de organi-
zacidn conspirativa” and “Informe respecto a la preparacion de un golpe de
Estado,” as published in the anthology Sucesos de mayo (1937) Cuadernos de
la guerra civil No. 1, (Fundacién Salvador Segui, Madrid, 1987)
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thorized delegation from the Group to meet them.’ Jaime Bal-
ius, Pablo Ruiz, Eleuterio Roig and Martin were selected.’® At
7:00 P.M. on May 4 they met in the Principal Palace in the Ram-
blas with Gorkin, Nin and Andrade.!! Jointly, they scrutinized
the situation, and reached the unanimous conclusion that, in
view of the CNT'? and FAI leaderships’ opposition to a revo-
lutionary uprising, it was doomed to failure.!® It was agreed
that an orderly withdrawal of the combatants was required,

? Jordi Arquer Historia de la fundaci6 i actuacié de la ‘Agrupacié Amigos
de Durruti’ Unpublished manuscript [Deposited with the Hoover Institution]

10 Ibid.

! Jordi Arquer, op. cit. There can be no question but that Nin took an
interest in the Friends of Durruti right from their launch, since as early as
March 4, 1937, in La Batalla , Nin published an article fulsome in its praises
for theldeasmooted by Jaime Balius in an article printed in La Noche of March
2, 1937, in which he warned of the dangers of the counterrevolution’s steady
progress in Catalonia.

12 0n May 3%, the CNT Regional Committee and the POUM’s Execu-
tive Committee met in the Casa CNT-FAI for talks about the situation. After
lengthy and detailed analysis of the prospects for action on the part of the
POUMists, Valerio Mas, on behalf of the CNT Regional Committee, thanked
Nin, Andrade and Solano for a pleasant evening, reiterating several times
that the debate and discussion had been highly interesting, and that they
should do it again some time. But no agreement was reached or made. The
shortsightedness and political ineptitude of the CNT personnel defied belief:
they thought that it was enough that they should have bared their teeth, that
the barricades had to come down now, because the Stalinists and Republi-
cans, having tested the strength of the CNT, would not dare go beyond that.
On making his way back to the Ramblas, and dodging the barricades, An-
drade could not help repeating over and over to himself: “A pleasant evening!
A pleasant evening!” [Oral evidence taken from Wilebaldo Solano, Barcelona
June 16, 1994]

On the meeting between a POUM delegation made up of Nin, An-
drade, Gorkin, Bonet and Solano and the CNT Regional Committee, and,
more especially, with its secretary, Valerio Mas, see Wilebaldo Solano “La
Juventud Comunista Iberica (POUM) en las jornadas de mayo de 1937 en
Barcelona” in Ls sucesos de mayo de 1937, Una revolucion en la Republica (Fun-
dacion Nin y Fundacién Segui, Pandola Libros, Barcelona, 1988, pp. 158—160)

3 Jordi Arquer, op. cit. See also Wilebaldo Solano, op. cit.
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and that the latter should hold on to their weapons.'* And that
this withdrawal should take place once the opposing forces had
abandoned their positions. And that assurances were needed
that there would be no crack-down on the fighters on the bar-
ricades. The next day, the top leaders and officers of the CNT
made a further radio broadcast, calling for the fighting to cease.
By now the grassroots militants had stopped joking about the
“firefighters” of the CNT-FAI and about the Guards kissing Gar-
cia Oliver.

On Wednesday May 5, the Friends of Durruti distributed
around the barricades the celebrated handbill that made them
famous: it read as follows:

CNT-FAL “Friends of Durruti” Group: Workers! A
Revolutionary Junta. Shoot the culprits. Disarm
the armed corps. Socialize the economy. Disband
the political parties which have turned on the
working class. We must not surrender the streets.
The revolution before all else. We salute our
comrades from the POUM who fraternized with
us on the streets. Long live the Social Revolution!
Down with the counterrevolution!

This handbill was printed at gun-point on the night of May
4-5,1937, in a print shop in the Barrio Chino.!® The improvisa-
tion and the Group’s lack of infrastructure were obvious. The
text had been drafted after that meeting with the POUM Ex-
ecutive Committee at 7:00 P.M. on May 4, by which time the
Group and the POUM had agreed upon a defensive withdrawal
with no surrender of weapons, and insisting upon assurances
that there would be no repression. The handbill, endorsed by
the POUM, and reprinted in issue No. 235 of La Batalla (on May

" Jordi Arquer, op. cit. See also La Batalla editorials in Nos. 235 (May
6, 1937) 236 (May 7, 1937) and 237 (May 8, 1937)
15 According to the Thalmanns’ account. See Note 1 above.
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on the Ramblas, especially ones opposite their headquarters,?

and their involvement in the fighting in Sants, La Torrassa and
Sallent. Naturally, their attempts to offer a lead and some min-
imal political demands in the handbill of May 5, 1937 deserve
to be emphasized. Distribution of that handbill was no easy
undertaking and cost several Group members their lives. In
the distribution of it around the barricades, they could depend
upon help from CNT militants. Among the activities during
the May events worth mentioning, we should not forget the
call, issued by Balius from a barricade located at the junction of
the Ramblas and the Calle Hospital, for all of Europe’s workers
to show solidarity with the Spanish revolution.?® Upon receiv-
ing reports that a Column of Assault Guards was on its way
from Valencia to put down the revolt, the Friends of Durruti
responded by trying to marshal an anarchist column to head it
off. But this never got beyond the planning stages, in that it was
not taken up by the CNT militants who set about abandoning
their barricades.

Finally, we ought to single out, from a political point or view,
the agreement reached with the POUM that an appeal should
be issued to the workers that they should seek, before quit-
ting the barricades, assurances that there would be no retalia-
tion: and above all pointing out that retention of arms — which
ought never to be surrendered — constituted the best guaran-
tee of all.

From a theoretical angle, the Friends of Durruti’s role was
much more outstanding after the May events when they set
about publishing their newspaper, which borrowed its name
from the paper published by Marat during the French Revolu-
tion: The People’s Friend.

*%

%5 As Balius says in his article “Por los fueros de la verdad,” cited earlier,
the barricade was built by miners from Sallent.

%6 See Pablo Ruiz “Elogio postumo de Balius” in Le Combat syndicaliste/
Solidaridad Obrera of January 9, 1981.
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out of place. As we have stated already, the Friends of Durruti
did not, at any time, intend to unseat the CNT leadership, but
contented themselves to the utterance of scathing criticisms
of its leaders and their policy of treason towards the revolu-
tion. Maybe they were unable to do anything else, given their
numbers and the slightness of their influence upon the CNT’s
mass following. But we should single out their involvement
in the street-fighting,?* their ascendancy on several barricades

some agreement on the situation, but I believe we only managed to jointly
sign one of two manifestoes urging resistance, because they would not coun-
tenance anything more. Later the group vanished completely and found no
public expression.” [in Juan Andrade, op. cit. 12]

In any event, Andrade’s claims are, to say the least, contradictory,
since one is forced to wonder why the POUM bothered to have talks with
the Friends of Durruti if they amounted to nothing and were nobodies. Then
again, we have already pointed to the interest which Nin displayed in Bal-
ius’s stance and in the birth of the Friends of Durruti, from as early as March
1937. Similarly, there is no question but that Andrade of 1986 contradicts the
Andrade of 1937 who wrote the article “CNT-POUM” carried by La Batalla
on May 1, 1936: see Chapter 5, note 5.

2 As Balius himself was at pains to make clear, the Friends of Dur-
ruti were alone [only the Group and the Bolshevik-Leninist Section issued
leaflets with revolutionary watchwords] in welcoming the street-fighting
and they attempted to provide the spontaneous struggle of the workers dur-
ing the events of May 1937 with a lead and revolutionary purpose: “In Espoir,
Floreal Castillo states that Camillo Berneri was the leader of the opposition
in May. This is wrong. Camillo Berneri published La Lutte de Classes [actu-
ally, it was the Italian language paper Guerra di classe,] but played no active
role. It was the men from the Friends of Durruti who turned up the heat.
It was the miners of Sallent who erected the barricade on the Ramblas at
the junction with the Calle Hospital, beside our beloved Group’s headquar-
ters.” [Jaime Balius “Por los fueros de la verdad” in Le Combat syndicaliste of
September 2, 1971]

Balius’s testimony is corroborated by Jaume Miravithes: “The city
— so far as I know — is occupied throughout by FAI personnel, especially
by groups from the Friends of Durruti, and by relatively large numbers from
the POUM?” [Jaume Miravithes Episodis de la guerra civil espanyola. Notes del
meus arxius (2) (Portic, Barcelona, 1972, p. 144)]
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6) was not backed by any plan of action and was merely a state-
ment of intent and an appeal to the CNT masses’ spontaneity
to press ahead with their activities against the encroachments
of the counterrevolution. In point of fact, everything hinged
upon the decision that the CNT leadership would make. It was
absurd and laughable to believe that the CNT masses, in spite
of their initial inhibitions, or criticisms, would not follow the
leaders of July 19. Only if the CNT leadership were to be sup-
planted by a revolutionary leadership was there any chance,
albeit very slim chance, of the masses’ abiding by the revolu-
tionary watchwords and plan of action of a new leadership. But
neither the Group nor the POUM made any attempt to unseat
the CNT leadership: nor had they drawn up any plan of action.
In practice, both pursued a policy of compliance with the CNT
leadership’s decisions. The POUM’s Executive Committee re-
jected José Rebull’s plan to capture the Generalidad and the
buildings still holding out in the city center, on the grounds
that this was a political matter, not a military one.

Also on May 5 there was a meeting between the POUM Local
Committee in Barcelona and the Friends of Durruti — a meet-
ing which the POUMists described as negative,!” because:

They [The Friends of Durruti] are unwilling to
work directly upon CNT ranks to unseat the lead-
ership, wishing only to influence the movement,
with no more responsibility than that.

In the handbill they issued on May 5, the Friends of Durruti
suggested concerned action with the POUM. As their immedi-
ate objective and to direct the revolution, they proposed that
a Revolutionary Junta be established. But once that watch-
word had gone out, they did nothing to put it into effect.

16 Wilebaldo Solano, op. cit. p. 164

7 The Barcelona Local Committee (of the POUM) “Informe de la ac-
tuacién del Comité local durante los dias de mayo que ésta presenta a dis-
cusion de las celulas de Barcelona,” Archivo Historico Nacidnal de Madrid.
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They were barricade fighters, rather than organizers. The sug-
gestion of concerted CNT-FAI-POUM action was nothing more
than a salute to the militants from other organizations who had
fought alongside them on the barricades. The printed word of
the handbill never progressed as far as a hard and fast agree-
ment. They did virtually nothing to unseat the CNT leadership
and wrest away control of the CNT masses which repeatedly
turned a deaf ear to orders to quit the fighting in the streets.
They failed to exploit, organize or issue specific instructions to
those Group members who were members of the Control Pa-
trols. They issued no orders to Maximo Franco, a Group mem-
ber and delegate of the Rojinegra Column, which, along with
the POUM division commanded by Rovira, had left the front
line in order to intervene in the fighting in Barcelona. Both
Josep Rovira and Méaximo Franco were persuaded to return to
the front by Isgleas, Abad de Santillan and Molina — that is, by
the CNT personnel who gave the orders in the Generalidad’s
Defense Department. The Friends of Durruti trusted entirely to
the creativity and instincts of the masses. There was not even
the merest hint of coordination between the various members
of the Group: instead everyone did as he pleased, wherever he
thought he must or wherever seemed best to him. They failed
to counter the action of the CNT leaders who toured the bar-
ricades to argue with and persuade the grassroots militants to
quit the barricades.

And the CNT masses, bewildered by the appeals from their
leaders (the very same leaders as on July 19!) eventually chose
to give up the fight, even though, to begin with, they defied
the CNT leadership’s appeals for concord and for the fighting
to cease for the sake of antifascist unity. On Tuesday May 6'",
as a gesture of good will and to restore peace to the city, the
militants of the CNT withdrew from the Telephone Exchange
building where the fighting had begun: it was immediately oc-
cupied by the security forces and UGT members took up the
work stations. When anarchist leaders protested, the Generali-
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government. Stalinist policy coincided with Companys’s aims:
the undermining and side-lining of revolutionary forces, that
is, of the POUM and the CNT, were Soviet aims that could only
be encompassed if the bourgeois Generalidad government
could be strengthened. The protracted crisis opened up in
the Generalidad government following the CNT’s refusal
to accept the March 4, 1937 decree disbanding the Control
Patrols, was resolved with violence (after several instances of
armed skirmishing in Vilanesa, La Fatarella, Cullera (Valencia),
Bellver, and at Roldan Cortada’s funeral, etc.) in the attack
upon the Telephone Exchange and in the bloody events of
May in Barcelona. Stultifying shortsightedness, unshakable
fidelity to antifascist unity and the extent of the main anarcho-
syndicalist leaders’ (from Peir6 to Federica Montseny, from
Abad de Santillan to Garcia Oliver, from Marianet to Valerio
Mas) collaboration with the republican government, were not
negligible factors, nor had the Generalidad government and
Soviet agents overlooked them. They could also count upon
an asinine saintliness, as was amply demonstrated during the
May events.

As far as the actions of the Friends of Durruti Group during
the May events are concerned, a misleading mythologization
of its role on the barricades and its handbill*® would also be

 Because they puncture all the mythology, Andrade’s comments upon
the Friends of Durruti are extremely interesting: “[...] we made contact with
the ‘Friends of Durruti’, a group of which it has to be said that they did
not amount to much, being a lightweight circle which had no intention of
doing anything more than act as an opposition within the FAI, and was in
no way disposed to engage in concerted action with ‘authoritarian marxists’
like us. I am making this point because an attempt has since been made to
depict the ‘Friends of Durruti’ as a mightily representative organization, ar-
ticulating the revolutionary consciousness of the CNT-FAI In reality, they
counted for nothing organizationally and were a monument of confusion in
ideological terms: they had no very precise idea of what they wanted and
what they loved was ultra-revolutionary talk with no political impact, pro-
vided always that they involved no commitment to action and did not breach
FAI discipline. We did all that we could, in spite of everything, to come to
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and to the transfer of responsibilities for security and defense
(not those under Generalidad control, but the ones under CNT
control) to the central government in Valencia:

The treason is on a monumental scale. The two es-
sential guarantees of the working class, security
and defense, are offered to our enemies on a plat-
ter.

The Manifesto closed with a short self-criticism of some tac-
tical shortcomings during the May events, and an optimistic
look to the future — one which the immediate tide of repres-
sion unleashed on May 28 would show to be vain and insub-
stantial. May 1937 did not end in stalemate, but was a heavy
defeat for the proletariat.

For all of the mythology surrounding the events of May
1937, the fact is that it represented a very chaotic, confused?®?
situation, characterized by every one of the sides involved in
the fighting developing an enthusiasm for negotiations. May
1937 was not at all a revolutionary insurrection, but began as
a defense of “trade union ownership” established in July 1936.
What triggered the fighting was the storming of the Telephone
Exchange by Generalidad security troops. And that move was
part and parcel of the Companys’s government’s ongoing
intent to recover, bit by bit, the powers which the “irregular”
situation of a workers’ uprising in July 19 had momentarily
had wrested from it. The recent successes scored in Puigcerda
and throughout the Cerdana paved the way for a definitive
move in Barcelona and right across Catalonia. It is obvious that
Companys felt that he had the backing of Comorera (PSUC)
and Antonov-Ovseenko (the Soviet consul) with whom he
had worked very closely and to great effect since December,
when the POUM had been dropped from the Generalidad

?2 See Juan Andrade Notas sobre la guerra civil (Actuacién del POUM)
(Ediciones Libertarias, Madrid, 1986, pp. 117-125)
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dad’s response was that “it was a matter of a fait accompli” and
the CNT leaders chose not to broadcast this further “treachery,”
lest it inflame passions.

The Friends of Durruti Group was at no time a serious im-
pediment to the CNT’s policy of antifascist unity. At most they
were an opposition critical of the CNT and FAI leaderships, and
above all, an irksome and unwelcome reminder that the policy
of collaboration with the machinery of the State was a betrayal
of anarcho-syndicalist principles and ideology.

Distribution of the handbill around the barricades was no
easy undertaking, risking the suspicions of many militants and
even braving physical'® retaliation.

We know of one meeting between Balius and Josep Rebull,
the secretary of the POUM’s Cell 72, during the May events. A
meeting which, given the numerical slightness of both organi-
zations, had no practical effect. The Friends of Durruti declined
Josep Rebull’s suggestion that they issue a joint Manifesto.!”

'8 According to Balius’s own claims in his correspondence with Bur-
nett Bolloten, distributing the handbill on the barricades cost several Group
members their lives.

For the printing and distribution of the handbill, see Pavel and
Clara Thalmann Combats pour la liberte. Moscou, Madrid, Paris (Spartacus,
Paris, 1983, pp. 189-191)

1 Josep Rebull’s answer No. 7 to a questionnaire put to him by Agustin
Guillamoén (Banyuls-sur-mer, December 16, 1985):

Question: Did Cell 72 attempt to establish contacts with other
groups with an eye to creating a revolutionary front, that is to say, with the
Friends of Durruti, the Libertarian Youth, Balius, Munis, or other segments
of the POUM?

Josep Rebull: The only contact with the ‘Friends of Durruti’ came
during the May events, but the numerical slightness of that group, which
had no links with the rank and file, and the modest representativity of Cell
72 did not produce a practical agreement, such as we wished to suggest, that
we issue a manifesto to the struggling workers.
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The Manifesto which the Group distributed on May 8t 2
in which they reviewed the May events, was printed on the
presses of La Batalla . The Group, having been denounced by
the CNT as a band of provocateurs, had no presses on which
to print it. A POUM militian by the name of Paradell, a leader
of the Shop assistants’ union, upon discovering the problem
facing the Friends of Durruti Group, raised the matter with
Josep Rebull, the administrator of the POUM newspaper, and
the latter, honoring his basic duty of revolutionary solidarity,
and without consultation with any higher party authority, of-
fered the use of his presses to the Friends of Durruti Group.?!

In the Manifesto, the Friends of Durruti linked the seizure
of the Telephone Exchange with earlier provocations. They
named the Esquerra Republicana, the PSUC, and the Generali-
dad’s armed agencies as responsible for having triggered the
May events. The Friends of Durruti asserted the revolutionary
character of July 1936 (and argued that it was not just oppo-
sition to a fascist uprising) and of May 1937 (which was not
simply aimed at a change of government):

Our Group which was on the street, on the
barricades, defending the proletariat’s gains, calls
for the total triumph of the social revolution. We
cannot countenance the fiction, and the counter-
revolutionary fact, whereby a new government is
formed with the same parties, but with different
representatives.

 Balius slated in 1971: “on account of the ‘cease-fire’ order issued by
the CNT’s ministers, we issued a manifesto describing the committees re-
sponsible for that order as ‘traitors and cowards. That manifesto was dis-
tributed throughout the Catalan capital by the members of the Group and
by the Libertarian Youth [Jaime Balius “Por los fueros de la verdad” in Le
Combat syndicaliste of September 2, 1971]

1 Jordi Arquer, op. cit.
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The Friends of Durruti countered the parliamentary compro-
mises which they labeled as deceit with their revolutionary pro-
gram, as set out in that handbill distributed on May 5

Our Group demands the immediate establishment
of a revolutionary junta, the shooting of the guilty
ones, the disarming of the armed corps, the social-
ization of the economy and the disbanding of all
the political parties which turned on the working
class.

The Friends of Durruti Group had no hesitation in arguing
that the battle had been won by the workers and, that being
so, they had to do away once and for all with a Generalidad
that signified nothing. The Group leveled a charge of treason
against the CNT’s committees and leaders who had brought
the victorious workers’ uprising to a standstill:

The Generalidad stands for nothing. Its continued
existence bolsters the counterrevolution. We
workers have carried the day. It defies belief
that the CNT’s committees should have acted
with such timidity that they ventured to order a
‘cease-fire’ and indeed forced a return to work
when we stood on the very threshold of total
victory. No account was taken of the provenance
of the attack no heed paid to the true meaning
of the present events. Such conduct has to be
described as treason to the revolution which no
one ought to commit or encourage in the name
of anything. And we know how to categorize the
noxious work carried out by Solidaridad Obrera
and the CNT’s most prominent militants.”

The description “treason” was repeated in a reference to the
CNT Regional Committee’s disavowal of the Friends of Durruti,
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8. Balius’ Pamphlet: Towards
a Fresh Revolution

The pamphlet Hacia una nueva revolucion, of which fifty
thousand copies were printed,! even though it was published
clandestinely, fleshed out a program which had until then
been rather vague. Balius set to work on the drafting of it
sometime around November 1937,2 and it was published by
the Friends of Durruti Group in January 1938.> Without doubt,

! According to Arquer, op. cit., although the figure seems to us a bit
inflated, if not incredible.

% On page 16 of the pamphlet Hacia una nueva revolucién it is stated:
“Sixteen months have past. What remains? Of the spirit or July, only a mem-
ory. Of the organisms of July, a yesterday.” From which our deduction is that
the pamphlet was drafted around November 1937, which is to say, sixteen
months after July 1936.

* In his 1978 introduction to the English-language edition of the pam-
phlet, Towards a Fresh Revolution, he says that it was published [he says
“written” when he ought to have said “published”] in mid-1938: and he also
explains the background to its publication:

“I shall now proceed with a short introduction to our pamphlet:
Hacia una nueva revolucion. First of all, when was it written? Around mid-
1938. [...] Such was the tragic hour when we of the Friends of Durruti, at
the Group’s last session, after prolonged examination of the disaster into
which the counterrevolution had plunged us, and regardless of the scale of
the disaster, refused to accept the finality of such defeat. The infamous pol-
icy pursued by Largo Caballero, whose government contained several anar-
chist militants, had eroded the revolutionary morale of the rearguard: and
the Negrin government, the government of defeat and capitulation, gave the
defeat hecatomb proportions. For this reason we decided to publish Hacia
una nueva revoluciéon which was, as we said, a message of hope and a deter-
mination to renew the fight against an international capitalism which had
mobilized its gendarmes of the 1930s (in other words, its blackshirts and its
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it is the Friends of Durruti’s most extensive text and for this
reason deserves a separate comment.

The pamphlet’s most significant theoretical contributions
had been set out before in editorials in issues Nos. 5, 6, and 7
of El Amigo del Pueblo, which is to say, between July 20 and
August 31, 1937.

So, the pamphlet has no great theoretical novelties to offer.
The great novelty of it resides in any case in the adoption by an
anarchists group of concepts which marxism had systematized
as the most elementary idiom of the revolutionary theory of
the proletariat. On that score the vocabulary used by Balius
differs from that used by the marxist classics. But as we shall
see, it is not too hard to recognize a familiar idea even when it
is called by different names.

The pamphlet comprised 31 pages,* divided into eight chap-
ters. The first chapter offered a short historical introduction, in
which Balius offered an overview of the period between the
Primo de Rivera dictatorship and October 1934. In the second
chapter, the events leading up to the revolutionary uprising in
July 1936 were examined. A number of claims stand out, being
startling, though none the less true for that:

The people had to go and look for weapons. They
took them by right of conquest. Gained them by
their own exertions. They were given nothing:

brownshirts) to put down the Spanish working class at whose head marched
the anarchists and the revolutionary rank and file of the CNT.

See the Friends of Durruti Group Towards a Fresh Revolution (New
Anarchist Library (2) Translated by Paul Sharkey. Sanday, Orkney 1978).

However, in spite of what Balius claims in no. 12 of EIl Amigo del
Pueblo there was a reference to the pamphlet, recently published by the Group
and entitled Towards a Fresh Revolution. Since issue No. 12 of the Friends
of Durruti’s mouthpiece is dated February 1, 1938, it can be stated that the
pamphlet appeared in January 1938.

* We have consulted the pamphlet in the original, which differs slightly

from the reprint by Etcétera, which is only 28 pages in length, although the
text is full and complete.
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not by the Government of the Republic, not by
the Generalidad — not one rifle.

The Friends of Durruti’s searching analaysis of the revolu-
tion of July 19, 1936 is worth highlighting:

The vast majority of the working population stood
by the CNT. Inside Catalonia, the CNT was the ma-
jority organization. What happened, that the CNT
did not make its revolution, the people’s revolu-
tion, the revolution of the majority of the prole-
tariat?

What happened was what had to happen. The
CNT was utterly devoid of revolutionary theory.
We did not have a concrete program. We had
no idea where we were going. We had lyricism
aplenty: but when all is said and done, we did
not know what to do with our masses of workers
or how to give substance to the popular effusion
which erupted inside our organizations. By not
knowing what to do, we handed the revolution on
a platter to the bourgeoisie and the marxists who
support the farce of yesteryear. What is worse,
we allowed the bourgeoisie a breathing space:
to return, to re-form and to behave as would a
CONnqueror.

The CNT did not know how to live up to its role.
It did not want to push ahead with the revolution
with all of its consequences.

So, according to the Friends of Durruti, the July revolution
failed because the CNT lacked a revolutionary theory and a rev-
olutionary program. From anarchist quarters, lots of reasons
have been advanced for this and several different explanations
offered of the character of the July revolution: some of these
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arguments are pretty attractive, but neither Vernon Richards,
Semprun Maura, Abad de Santillan, Garcia Oliver, nor Berneri
were as plain and clear-cut, nor did they probe the nature of
the July revolution as deeply as the Friends of Durruti did in
the extract just cited.

Nevertheless, this is only a sampler, because the Friends of
Durruti, who were not brilliant theorists nor gifted organizers,
but essentially barricade fighters who argued their theoretical
case from deliberation upon first hand experiences, with no
more than their class instinct to guide them, arrived, in the
text which we shall being looking at anon, at one of the finest
contemporary analyses of the Spanish revolution. An analysis
that deserves to be considered, and which we ought not to tag
as anarchist or marxist, because it is an analysis from men who
did not dice with words but with lives and primarily with their
very own lives:

When an organization’s whole existence has been
spent preaching revolution, it has an obligation
to act whenever a favorable set of circumstances
arises. And in July the occasion did present itself.
The CNT ought to have leapt into the driver’s seat
in the country, delivering a severe coup de grace
to all that is outmoded and archaic. In this way, we
would have won the war and saved the revolution.

But it did the opposite. It collaborated with the
bourgeoisie in the affairs of the state, precisely
when the State was crumbling away on all sides. It
bolstered up Companys and company. It breathed
alungful of oxygen into an anemic, terror-stricken
bourgeoisie. One of the most direct reasons why
the revolution has been asphyxiated and the CNT
displaced, is that it behaved like a minority group,
even though it had a majority in the streets. [...]
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analyzed and repeatedly emphasized in this work the limita-
tions of the band of revolutionaries known as the Friends of
Durruti Group, we cannot close without paying tribute to
the memory of a working class organization which embodied
the proletariat’s class consciousness and which strove, at
a given point, and with a full complement of limitations and
shortcomings, to fill the role of a revolutionary vanguard.

In Barcelona it was and still is possible to overhear expres-
sions of hatred and contempt relating to Durruti and “his
friends” coming from the lips of the class enemy: however, in
working class circles, the mythic Durruti, the huge proletarian
demonstration at his funeral, the indomitable rebelliousness of
the Durruti-ists, and the revolutionary anarchist feats of July
19 have always been spoken of with respect. During the long
night of Francoism, anonymous hands scrawled the names
on the unmarked graves of Durruti and Ascaso. It is not the
task of the historian to respect myth: but it is the task of the
historian to confront defamation, misrepresentation and insult
when they pass themselves off as historical narrative.

And although we tackle that thankless task, we prefer to
draw the lessons that matter to the class struggle. It should
be enough to bear two pictures in mind. In the first, we see a
humble, persuasive, loquacious Companys on July 21 , offer-
ing to make room for anarchist leaders in an Antifascist Front
government, on the grounds that they had routed the military
fascists and power was in the streets. In the second, we see
a brazen, cornered Companys beseeching the Republican gov-
ernment on May 4 to order the air force to bomb the CNT’s
premises. The film of the revolution and the war is running
between these two pictures.

May 1937 was incubated in July 1936. The Friends of Dur-
ruti Group had realized that revolutions are totalitarian or are

defeated: therein lies its great merit.
*%
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We cannot wind up this study without a concluding note
expressing our political repugnance and our repudiation, in our
capacity as readers of history, of those who, hiding behind their
alleged academic objectivity,” dare to defame, judge, condemn,
insult and hold up to ridicule persons and organizations from
the workers’” movement — all from a bourgeois standpoint,
which they of course consider to be scientific and impartial,
although they may have utilized no methodology other than
misrepresentation of the facts and the most asinine nonsense.

There may be those who take the line that the criticisms artic-
ulated here of the Friends of Durruti’s and the CNT’s political
stances have, on occasion, been very harsh: we shall be satis-
fied if they are also regarded as rigorous and class-based, and
our response will be that the repression that the defeat of the
proletariat brought in its wake was even harsher.

Balius was not the crippled, bloodthirsty ogre as which the
terror of the bourgeois and the cleric depicted him in 1937: or
as he is represented today by the “comic books” from the Cata-
lanist publishing house of the Benedictines of Montserrat, and/
or the unwarranted hogwash from quite a few academic histo-
rians. Balius was a modest, intelligent, honest person, a coher-
ent and intransigent and extremely commonsensical revolu-
tionary. But even if Balius had been — as he was not — the
demon as which the terrified clergy and bourgeoisie imagined
him, that would not have altered our assessment of the Friends
of Durruti one iota. Precisely because we have acknowledged,

® Spanish historiography on the civil war has turned from being mili-
tant history written by protagonists and eyewitnesses of the civil war, with
all of the dangers implicit in that, but also the irreplaceable passion of some-
one who does not gamble with words because previously he gambled with
his very life, into inane academic history written by ninnies and character-
ized by nonsense, incomprehension and indeed contempt for the militants
and organizations of the workers’ movement. Still, there are a few honorable
exceptions — among them the lines of inquiry opened up by Vilanova, Monjo
and Vega, which we might describe as an academic history that fulfills its
function, and requires the addition of no further qualifying term.
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On the other hand, we would assert that rev-
olutions are totalitarian, no matter who says
otherwise. What happens is that the various
aspects of revolution are progressively dealt
with, but with the proviso that the class which
represents the new order of things is the one with
the most responsibility. And when things are
done by halves, we have what presently concerns
us, the disaster of July.

In July a committee of Antifascist Militias was set
up. It was not a class organ. Bourgeois and coun-
terrevolutionary factions had their representatives
on it. It looked as if this Committee had been set
up as a counterbalance to the Generalidad. But it
was all a sham.

First of all, we ought to underline the definition of the Cen-
tral Antifascist Militias Committee as a class collaborationist
agency and not as the germ of embryonic worker power. On
this score, there is total agreement with Nin in the articles he
wrote after the May events. And of course the Friends of Dur-
ruti were unaware of that article.

To the truism that a revolutionary organization’s sole obli-
gation is to make revolution was added a critique of the CNT’s
cooperation in the rescue and reconstruction of the State.

Thus far, the arguments of the Friends of Durruti were or-
thodoxly anarchist. But as a direct result of these arguments,
or perhaps it would be better to say, as a result of the contradic-
tions within the CNT which was embroiled in such an unlikely
anarchist endeavor as rescuing and rebuilding a crumbling cap-
italist State, we come to a remarkable theoretical advance by
the Friends of Durruti: revolutions are totalitarian. If such
a self-evident truth was at odds with the libertarian mentality,
then it has to be said that an anarchist revolution is a contradic-
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tion defying resolution. Something of the sort was experienced
by the anarchists of Spain in 1936.

In its next section, Balius’s pamphlet dealt with the revolu-
tionary uprising in May 1937. The Friends of Durruti’s reason-
ing was as plain and radical as could be: the roots of the May
events went back to July because of the failure to make the
revolution in July.

Social revolution could have been a fact in Catalo-
nia. [...] But the events took a different turn. The
revolution was not made in Catalonia. Realizing
that once again the proletariat was saddled with
a leadership of quibblers, the petit bourgeoisie,
which had gone into hiding in its back-rooms in
July, hastened to join the battle.

Their analysis of Stalinism and of the crucial role it played
as a springboard for counterrevolution was not only perceptive
but probed further into a profile of the social strata which had
afforded it support. It ought to be pointed out, though, that the
term “Stalinism” was never used: instead the preferred terms
were “socialism” or “marxist” though these carried the mean-
ing with which we today invest the term “Stalinism” from all
historical and ideological angles:

In Catalonia, socialism has been a pitiful creature.
Its ranks have been swollen by members opposed
to revolution. They have captained the counterrev-
olution. It has spawned a UGT which has been
turned into an appendage of the GEPCI. Marxist
leaders have sung the praises of counterrevolution.
They have sculpted slogans about the issue of a
united front while first eliminating the POUM,?
then trying to repeat the exercise with the CNT.

> Note the distinction drawn by the Friends of Durruti between the
“marxist” leaders (marxist meaning Stalinist counterrevolutionaries) and the
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demise of the revolutionary process was inevitable. However,
the tension between the CNT-FATI's reformist anarchism and
the Friends of Durruti’s revolutionary anarchism was not
plain and stark enough to provoke a split which would have
clarified the contrasting stances of them both.

So, although the political thinking set out by the Friends of
Durruti was an attempt to accommodate the reality of the war
and revolution in Spain within anarcho-syndicalist ideology,
one of the primary grounds on which it was rejected by the
CNT membership was its authoritarian, “marxist” or “Bolshe-
vistic” flavor. From which we may conclude that the Friends
of Durruti were trapped in a cul de sac. They could not em-
brace the collaborationism of the CNT’s leadership cadres and
the progress of the counterrevolution: but when they theorized
about the experiences of the Spanish revolution, that is, con-
cluded that there was a need for a Revolutionary Junta to over-
throw the bourgeois republican government of the Generali-
dad of Catalonia and use force to repress the agents of the coun-
terrevolution, they were dubbed marxists and authoritarians,®
and thereby lost any chance they might have had of making re-
cruits from among the CNT rank and file. We have to wonder
if the Friends of Durruti’s dilemma was not merely a reflection
of Spanish anarcho-syndicalism’s theoretical inability to face
up to the problems posed by the war and the revolution.

8 The description ‘authoritarian, a term of abuse among libertarians,
was not, however, a product of CNT propaganda, since one of the most sig-
nificant of the Group’s theoretical advances was its assertion of the authori-
tarian, or totalitarian character of any revolution. This is an assertion which
the Friends of Durruti reiterated on several occasions. It was first made in an
article which Balius published on December 6, 1936, under the title “El tes-
tamento de Durruti,” and was placed in Durruti’s mouth in the course of his
harangue from the Madrid front on November 5, 1936: and the last mention
was in the 1978 introduction to the English language edition of the pamphlet
Towards a Fresh Revolution, which reads thus:

In that booklet back in 1938, we said that all revolutions are totali-
tarian.
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Hence the interest which the POUM and Trotskyists’ dis-
played in bringing the Friends of Durruti under their influence
— something in which they never succeeded.

The main theoretical contributions of the Group to anarchist
thinking can be summed up as these:

1. The need for a revolutionary program.

2. Replacement of the capitalist State by a Revolu-
tionary Junta, which must stand by to defend the
revolution from the inevitable attacks of counter-
revolutionaries.

Anarchists’ traditional apoliticism meant that the CNT
lacked a theory of revolution. In the absence of a theory, there
is no revolution, and the failure to assume power meant that it
was left in the hands of the capitalist State. In the estimation of
the Friends of Durruti Group, the CAMC (Central Antifascist
Militias Committee) was a class collaborationist agency,
and served no purpose other than to prop up and reinforce
the bourgeois State which it neither could nor wished to
destroy. Hence the Friends’ advocacy of the need to set up a
Revolutionary Junta, capable of coordinating, centralizing and
reinforcing the power of the countless workers’, local, defense,
factory, militians’ etc. committees, which alone held power
between July 19 and September 26. This power was diffused
through numerous committees, which held all power locally,
but by failing to federate, centralize and reinforce one another,
were channeled, whittled down and converted by the CAMC
into Popular Front councils, into the management boards of
unionized firms and the battalions of the Republican army.
Without utter destruction of the capitalist State, the revolu-
tionary events of July 1936 could not have opened the way to
a new structure of workers’ power. The decline and ultimate

7 See Munis’s article on the Friends of Durruti in La Voz Leninista No. 2,
August 23, 1937, entitled “La junta revolucionaria y los ‘Amigos de Durruti.”
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The maneuvers of the petit bourgeoisie, in alliance
with the socialists and communists, culminated in
the events of May.

According to the Friends of Durruti, the May events repre-
sented a deliberate provocation designed to create a climate of
indecision preparatory to dealing the working class a decisive
blow, in order to put paid once and for all to a potentially rev-
olutionary situation:

The counterrevolution wanted the working class
on the streets in a disorganized manner so that
they might be crushed. They partially attained
their objectives: thanks to the stupidity of some
leaders who gave the cease-fire order and dubbed
the ‘Friends of Durruti’ agents provocateurs just
when the streets had been won and the enemy
eliminated”

The accusation leveled against the anarchist leaders (and al-
though no names are given, we cannot help thinking of Garcia
Oliver and Federica Montseny) is not intended as an insult but
is a fair assessment of their performance during the May days.

The Friends of Durruti’s belief was that the counterrevolu-
tion had achieved its chief aim — Valencia government control
of public order.

The Friends of Durruti’s description and assessment of the
workers’ backlash against the Stalinist provocation, that is, the
May event, is extremely interesting:

a) It was a spontaneous backlash.

b) There was no revolutionary leadership.

exclusion of the POUM (POUMists as revolutionaries different from the Stal-
inists) from the united front.
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c) Within a few hours, the workers had scored a
resounding military victory. Only a few buildings
in the city center were holding out and these could
have been taken with ease.

d) The Uprising had been defeated, not militarily,
but politically.

At the end of a few hours, the tide had turned in
the favor of the proletarians enrolled in the CNT
who, as they held in July, defended their rights
with guns in hand. We took the streets. They were
ours. There was no power on earth that could have
wrested them from us. Working class areas fell to
us quickly. Then the enemy’s territory was eaten
away, little by little, to a redoubt in a section of the
residential district — the city center which would
have fallen soon, but for the defection of the CNT
committees.

Next, Balius justified the Friends of Durruti’s actions during
the bloody week of May 1937: the Friends of Durruti, in a con-
text of indecision and widespread disorientation in the work-
ers’ ranks, issued a leaflet and a manifesto, in the intention of
affording events a revolutionary lead and purpose. Later the
Group’s primary concern in the face of the CNT leadership’s
incredible policy of appeasement and fraternization was that
the barricades should not come down unconditionally or with-
out assurances.

According to Balius, in May there had still been time to sal-
vage the revolution,® and the Friends of Durruti had been alone

® In 1971 Balius reiterated this view: “And I want to finish with the up-
rising of May 1937. The mistakes made could still have been set right. Again
we had mastery of the streets. Two front-line divisions made for Barcelona,
but the ‘cease-fire’ and the pressures and arguments brought to bear upon
the commanders of the two divisions [the CNT’s Rojinegra division com-
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practical guide-lines for campaigning on behalf of them. The
Group was constituted as an FAI affinity group. Perhaps the
terror-stricken bourgeoisie and the disguised priest regarded
them as savage beasts, but their numbers included journalists
like Balius and Callejas, militia column commanders like Pablo
Ruiz, Francisco Pellicer and Maximo Franco and councilors
like Bruno Lladoé. For their distant origins we have to go back
to the libertarians who shared the revolutionary experience of
the Upper Llobregat insurrection in January 1932 and to the
FAI's “Renacer” affinity group between 1934 and 1936. Their
more immediate roots lay in the opposition to militarization
of the militias (especially in the Gelsa sector and within the
Iron Column) and in the defense of revolutionary gains and
criticism of the CNT’s collaborationism as set out in articles
published in Solidaridad Obrera (between July and early
October 1936), in Ideasand La Noche (between January and
May 1937), by Balius in particular. Their campaign weapons
were the handbill, the poster, the newspaper and the barricade:
but a split or rupture was never contemplated as a weapon,
any more than exposure of the CNT’s counterrevolutionary
role, or, during the May events at any rate, confronting the
CNT leaders in an effort to counter the CNT-FAI’s defeatist
counsels.

Yet the historical significance of the Friends of Durruti can-
not be denied. And it resides precisely in their status as an inter-
nal opposition to the libertarian movement’s collaborationist
policy. The political importance of their emergence was imme-
diately detected by Nin, who devoted an approving, hopeful ar-
ticle to them,® on the grounds that they held out the prospect of
the CNT masses’ espousing a revolutionary line and opposing
the CNT’s policy of appeasement and collaboration.

% Andres Nin “Ante el peligro contrarrevoluciénario ha llegado la hora
de actuar” in La Batalla of March 4, 1937.
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began publication of El Amigo del Pueblo, although they had
been disowned by the CNT and the FAI In June 1937, although
they had not been outlawed as the POUM had, they suffered
the political persecution that hit the rest of the CNT’s mem-
bership. Their mouthpiece El Amigo del Pueblo was published
clandestinely from issue No. 2 (May 26) onwards, and its man-
aging editor Jaime Balius endured a series of jail terms. Other
Friends of Durruti members lost their posts or their influence,
like Bruno Lladd, a councilor on Sabadell city council. Most of
the Durruti-ists had to endure FAI-sponsored attempts® to have
them expelled from the CNT. In spite of all of which they car-
ried on issuing their newspaper clandestinely and in mid-1938
they issued the pamphlet Hacia una nueva revolucién, by which
time the counterrevolution’s success had proved final and over-
whelming and the republicans had already lost the war.

Their chief tactical proposals were summed up in the
following slogans: trade union management of the economy,
federation of municipalities, militia-based army, revolutionary
program, replacement of the Generalidad by a Revolutionary
Junta, concerted CNT-FAI-POUM action.

If we had to sum up the historical and political significance
of the Friends of Durruti, we should say that it was the failed
attempt, originating from within the bosom of the libertarian
movement, to establish a revolutionary vanguard that would
put paid to the CNT-FAT’s collaborationism and defend and de-
velop the revolutionary “gains” of July.

The attempt was a failure because they showed themselves
incapable, not just of putting their slogans into practice, but
even of effectively disseminating their ideas and offering

> See the articles in which the FAI moved that the Friends of Durruti be
expelled, in Boletin de informacion y orientacion organica del Comite peninsu-
lar de la Federacion Anarquista Iberica, like “La desautorizacion de la entidad
‘Amigos de Durruti” in No. 1, Barcelona, May 20, 1937, and “La sancién pub-
lica a los inteurantes de la agrupaciéon Los Amigos de Durruti” in No. 3, June
6, 1937.
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in showing themselves equal to the circumstances. The CNT-
FAT’s blinkered attitude to the repression that would needlessly
batten upon the revolutionary workers had already been fore-
told by the Friends of Durruti.

The next chapter in the pamphlet tackles the subject
of Spain’s independence. The entire chapter is replete with
wrong-headed notions which are short-sighted or better suited
to the petit bourgeoisie. A cheap and vacuous nationalism is
championed with limp, simplistic references to international
politics. So we shall pass over this chapter, saying only that
the Friends of Durruti subscribed to bourgeois, simplistic
and/or backward-looking ideas with regard to nationalism.’

The chapter given over to collaborationism and class strug-
gle is, by contrast, greatly interesting. Collaboration in the gov-
ernment business of the bourgeois State was the big accusation
which the Group leveled at the CNT. The Friends of Durruti’s
criticism was even more radical than that of Berneri, because
Berneri was critical of CNT participation in the Govern-
ment, whereas the Group was critical of the CNT’s collabo-
ration with the capitalist State. It was not just a matter of
two slightly divergent formulations, but rather of a quite dif-
ferent political outlook underpinning it. To return to the pam-
phlet:

manded by Maximo Franco (a Group member) and the POUM division under
Josep Rovira: they were stopped thanks to the overtures by the CNT mem-
ber Molina and the Defense councilor, the CNT’s Isgleas prevented them
from reaching the Catalan capital. The counterrevolution’s day had come.
The hesitancy in May did for the 20™ century’s proletarian epic.

Had we been able to call upon a capable revolutionary leadership,
we would have made and consolidated a revolution that might have set an
example for the world and would have put paid once and for all to the shabby
Muscovite bogey” (Jaime Balius “Recordando julio de 1936” in Le Combat
syndicaliste of April 1, 1971).

7 And yet Balius had (in 1935?) published through the Editorial Renacer
a pamphlet entitled El nacionalismo y el proletariado in which he set out,
from an anarchist and workerist angle, very intriguingIdeason the matter of
nationalism.
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There must be no collaboration with capitalism,
whether outside the bourgeois state or from
within government itself. As producers, our place
is in the unions, reinforcing the only bodies that
ought to survive a revolution headed by the
workers. [...] And the State cannot be retained in
the face of the Unions — let alone bolstered up
by our own forces. The fight against capitalism
goes on. Inside our own territory, there is still
a bourgeoisie connected to the international
bourgeoisie. The problem is now what it has been
for years.

The Friends of Durruti ventured to suggest that the collab-
orationists were allied with the bourgeoisie, which was tanta-
mount to saying that the anarchist ministers and all who advo-
cated collaborationism were allied with the bourgeoisie.

The collaborationists are allies of the bourgeoisie.
Individuals who advocate such relations have no
feeling for the class struggle, nor have they the
slightest regard for the unions. Never must we ac-
cept the consolidation of our enemy’s positions.
The enemy must be beaten. [...] There can be abso-
lutely no common ground between exploiters and
exploited. Which shall prevail, only battle can de-
cide. Bourgeois or workers. Certainly not both of
them at once.

However, the Group at no time took the next definitive step,
the inevitable break with a collaborationist type organiza-
tion which had demonstrated its inability to call off and fin-
ish with this policy of alliance with the bourgeoisie. The
Group never proposed a break with the CNT, and the denunci-
ation of that organization as one of capitalism’s organizations.
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that would not lead to expulsion. In the case of the Friends of
Durruti, expulsion was averted thanks to the sympathies they
enjoyed among the CNT rank and file membership, albeit at
the cost of severe ostracism and near absolute isolation.

The ultimate aim of the Group was to criticize the CNT lead-
ers and to end the policy of CNT participation in government.
They sought not only to preserve the “gains” of July but to pros-
ecute and pursue the process of revolution. But their means
and their organization were still extremely limited. They were
barricade-fighters, not good organizers and indeed were worse
theorists, although they did have some good journalists. In May
they trusted entirely to the masses’ spontaneity. They failed to
counter official CNT propaganda. They neither used nor orga-
nized militants who were members of the Control Patrols. They
issued no instructions to Maximo Franco, a Friends of Durruti
member, a delegate of the CNT’s Rojinegra Division, which at-
tempted to “go down to Barcelona” on May 4, 1937, only to
return to the front (as did the POUM column led by Rovira) fol-
lowing overtures made to it by Molina.® The high point of their
activities was the poster distributed in late April 1937, in which
the overthrow of the Generalidad government and its replace-
ment by a Revolutionary Junta was urged: control of several
barricades in the Ramblas during the May events: the reading
of a call, addressed to all Europe’s workers,* for solidarity with
the Spanish revolution: distribution around the barricades of
the famous May 5™ handbill: and the assessment of the May
days in the manifesto of May 8. But they were unable to put
these slogans into practice. They suggested the formation of
a column to go out and head off troops coming from Valen-
cia: but they soon abandoned the idea in view of the cool re-
ception received by the proposal. After the May events they

3 Letter from Balius to Burnett Bolloten, dated Cuernavaca July 13,
1946.

* According to Pablo Ruiz’s claims in “Elogio péstumo de Jaime Balius,
in Le Combat syndicaliste/Solidaridad Obrera of January 9, 1981.
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They forswore everything and in return got ... nothing. These
were opportunists without opportunity. The uprising of July 19
had no revolutionary party capable of taking power and mak-
ing revolution. The CNT had never considered what was to
be done once the army mutineers had been defeated. The July
victory plunged the anarcho-syndicalist leaders into bewilder-
ment and confusion. They had been overtaken by the masses’
revolutionary dynamism. And, not knowing what to do next,
they agreed to Companys’s suggestion that they set up a Pop-
ular Front government in conjunction with the other parties.
And they posited a phony dilemma between anarchist dic-
tatorship or antifascist unity and collaboration with the
State for the purposes of winning the war. They had no idea
what to do with power, when the failure to take it resulted in
its falling into the bourgeoisie’s hands. The Spanish revolution
was the tomb of anarchism as a revolutionary theory of the pro-
letariat. Such was the origin and motivation behind the Friends
of Durruti Group.

However, the Group’s boundaries were very plain and well-
defined. As were its limitations, too. At no time did they con-
template a break with the CNT. Only utter ignorance of the
organizational mechanics of the CNT could lead us to imagine
that it was possible to carry out critical or schismatic activity

Rosenberg’s quarters. Occasionally, Mariano R. Vazquez was invited along
with me, passing many a long hour in lazy conversation, drinking cup after
cup of coffee or tea.

See also the testimony of Abad de Santillan, from the FAI’s Penin-
sular Committee: “We were none too pleased with the power for which the
Militias Committee stood and could impose. There was a government, there
was the Generalidad and we would have liked the thousands of problems
and gripes and demands brought to us every day to have been heard and
resolved by the lawful government, which was not recognized by the broad
masses. During some casual get together, we invited President Companys
to attend so that people might get used to regarding him as a friend of ours,
whom they could trust” [Diego Abad de Santillan Alfonso XIII, la I Republica,
Francisco Franco (Julcar, Madrid, 1979, p. 349)]
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The ideological premises set out were not explored in all that
they entailed. It was easier to point the accusing finger at a few
individuals, a few leaders who advocated a policy of collabora-
tion with the bourgeoisie than to arrive at the stark and dismal
conclusion that the CNT was an organization for collaborat-
ing with the bourgeoisie, by virtue of its very nature as a trade
union. It was not the anarchist ministers who were lead-
ing the CNT away from its principles, but rather the CNT
that was churning out ministers. But the Group reckoned
that the trade unions were class struggle organizations. Even
the Catalan UGT, Stalinist through and through and nothing
more than an instrument of the PSUC, the party of counterrev-
olution, was not regarded as an organ of the bourgeoisie. So
it was impossible for the Friends of Durruti to take that cru-
cial step. If they could not acknowledge the true nature of the

unions® as capitalist State machinery, they could not contem-

¥ See Benjamin Peret and G. Munis Los sindicatos contra la revolucion
(FOR, Apartado 5355, Barcelona, 1992). See also the appeal issued by the
Bolshevik-Leninist Section of Spain on June 26, 1937 (ten days after the out-
lawing of the POUM) to the POUM left:

Instead of using a United Front to marshal the revolutionary anar-
chist masses against their anarcho-reformist leaders, your leadership blindly
followed the CNT. This fact was most plainly demonstrated during the May
events, when the POUM ordered a retreat before any concrete objective, such
as the disarming of the security forces, had been achieved. During the events,
the POUM was merely an appendage of the anarcho-reformist leadership.

The reverse side of this policy of support for the CNT bureaucracy
has been the abandonment of the committees of workers, peasants and com-
batants which had sprung up spontaneously. So you are cut off from the
masses. Your leaders concocted new theories under which the unions, those
aged bureaucratic machines, could take power. You had done nothing to halt
the dissolution of the local committees, while you were expelling our com-
rades for carrying out propaganda on the committees’ behalf. But during the
May events you swiftly turned to the defense committees. This eleventh hour
stance was of course utterly inadequate, for it is not enough to issue a hasty
call for “committees”: they have to be organized in practical terms. But in
fact, right after the May events your platonic solicitude for the committees
ceased completely.
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plate breaking with the CNT either. Very much the opposite;
the unions were a fundamental factor in the Group’s theoreti-
cal argument. Its charges were leveled at individuals, not
at organizations. There was no acknowledgment of the dis-
ease, nor of its causes: only a few of the symptoms were rec-
ognized.’

The pamphlet continues with an exposition of the positions
and program of the Friends of Durruti. Perhaps because they
were hastily drafted, or because of the poor reception awaiting
them at that point, the main and most typical tactical politi-
cal positions, were set out in a more incomplete, confused and
vague form than in previous expositions. Those points were as
follows: 1. Workers’ direction of the war through a workers’
revolutionary army. 2. Rejection of class collaboration, mean-
ing that the unions were to be strengthened. 3. Socialization of

(Bolshevik-Leninist Section of Spain — (on behalf of the Fourth In-
ternational) “El viejo POUM ha muerto: viva el POUM de la IV Internacional,”
Barcelona June 26, 1937)

° In 1939 Eduardo Maurico came up with a very similar critique of the
Friends of Durruti’s program:

For such groups [groups such as the Friends of Durruti] the root
of all evil had been the abandonment of ‘principles’ by the leadership. A re-
version to ‘wholesome principles’, a return to ‘purity’, ‘a fresh start’ — that
in its entirety was the program and the rallying cry of these factions. Now,
starting afresh is an utter impossibility. There is more likely to be a reenact-
ment of history. There can be no return to the situation prior to July 19: but
the same mistakes can be made in similar circumstances. The biggest mistake
that these factions today can make is to fail to draw all of the lessons evident
in the Spanish Revolution, all in the name of ‘purity of principles.’ That initial
mistake would induce them sooner or later to make the same mistakes and
compromises which today they are against. And the primary consequence
of the Spanish Revolution is that the compromises by the Garcia Olivers and
the Cipriano Meras were not due to the abandonment of the CNT’s tradi-
tional ‘apoliticism, but were down to that ‘apoliticism’ itself, that is, to the
lack of a revolutionary theory, in the absence of which revolution is
impossible. (Lenin)

[O. Emem “Situacién revoluciénaria. El poder. El partido.” in jEx-
perience espaiiole. Faits et documents No. 2, Paris, August 1939]
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over in favor of antifascist unity and the need to adapt to cir-
cumstances. Without revolutionary theory there is no revolu-
tion. If principles were good for nothing other than to be dis-
carded at the first hurdle erected by reality, it might be better
to acknowledge that we have no principles. The top leaders of
Spanish anarcho-syndicalism imagined themselves skillful ne-
gotiators, but they were manipulated like so many puppets.?

? The degree of familiarity and day to day friendly relations between
Federica Montseny and the Russian ambassador, Rosenberg, defies belief,
and the assistance and fillip which Abad de Santillan attempted to afford
a discredited Companys likewise defies imagination. The sublime saintliness
of the anarchist leaders accounts for the ease with which they were manipu-
lated. By way of an example of what we are saying, see Frederica Montseny’s
own declarations (in Agusti Pons Converses amb Frederica Montseny: Freder-
ica Montseny, sindicalisme i acracia [Laia, Barcelona, 1977, pp. 169-170]):

Before setting off for Russia, having been recalled, Ambassador
Rosenberg who had become my friend — called to see me [...] [I] was stay-
ing at the Metropol, which was the seat of the Russian embassy. I was to be
one of the last government figures to arrive in Valencia, when the govern-
ment, in view of the military situation, resolved to move there from Madrid.
Neither the Ministry of Health nor myself, who held that portfolio, could
find anywhere to settle in. Everywhere was occupied. Until, eventually, the
Russians very kindly turned over to me one of the floors of the hotel which
had been turned into their embassy. Many a time I found a bouquet of red
carnations in my room. But the flowers were only an excuse for rummaging
around the whole room.

But the following excerpt from Frederica Montseny’s letter, dated
Toulouse May 31, 1950, to Burnett Bolloten, strikes us as even more reveal-
ing:

Rosenberg very kindly offered me two rooms in the Hotel
Metropol [in December 1936, in Valencia] which was occupied by the Soviet
Embassy and its personnel. I reckon that his intention must have been to
keep me continually under his influence. I accepted, after consultation with
Vazquez, who had just been appointed secretary of our National Committee,
and I moved into the Metropol. I ate in the Hotel dining room, mingling with
the Russian officials, and, very often, in the Ambassador’s personal quarters.
Virtually every night, he would invite me in for coffee. There I met Marty,
Gallo, Kleber, Blucher, Tito [?] and Gorev, whom I had met before in Madrid.
And very often I saw, or my secretary who was nosier or less discreet than
me, saw Alvarez del Vayo, Garcia Oliver and Lopez coming and going from
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11. Conclusions and
Concluding Note

The Friends of Durruti Group was an affinity group, like
many another existing in anarcho-syndicalist quarters. It was
not influenced to any extent by the Trotskyists, nor by the
POUM. Its ideology and watchwords were quintessentially in
the CNT idiom: it cannot be said that they displayed a marxist
ideology at any time. In any event, they displayed great inter-
est in the example of Marat during the French Revolution, and
it may be feasible to speak of their having been powerfully at-
tracted by the assemblyist movement of the Parisian sections,
by the sans-culottes, the Enrages and the revolutionary govern-
ment of Robespierre and Saint-Just.

Their objective was nothing less than to tackle the CNT’s
contradictions, afford it an ideological coherence and wrest it
from the control of its personalities and responsible commit-
tees in order to return it to its class struggle roots. The Group
had been set up to criticize and oppose the CNT’s policy of
concession after concession,! and of course the collaboration
of anarcho-syndicalists in the central and Generalidad govern-
ments. They were against the abandonment of revolutionary
objectives and of anarchism’s fundamental and quintessential
ideological principles, which the CNT-FAI leaders had thrown

! According to Arquer [letter to Bolloten dated 16 July 1971, deposited
with the Hoover Institution] the Friends of Durruti were a passing eruption
which at one point articulated the deepest feelings of the CNT membership
in Catalonia, and, had the anarchists succeeded that tendency might well
have consolidated itself and grown, but once defeated, they lost all influence
and their leaders came within an ace of expulsion.
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the economy. 4. Anticlericalism. 5. Socialization of distribution,
through eradication of bureaucracy and universal rationing of
all consumer products. 6. Equal pay. 7. Popular courts. 8. Equal-
ity between countryside and town, and defense of the agrarian
collectivizations. 9. Worker control of public order.

The central basis of the program was the July experience,
which the Friends of Durruti very tellingly depicted as a suc-
cessful uprising, which had been found wanting in revolution-
ary theory and revolutionary objectives:

They had no idea which course of action to pursue.
There was no theory. Year after year we had spent
speculating around abstractions. What is to be
done? the leaders were asking themselves then.
And they allowed the revolution to be lost. Such
exalted moments leave no time for hesitancy.
Rather, one has to know where one is going. This
is precisely the vacuum we seek to fill, since we
feel that what happened in July and May must
never happen again.

We are introducing a slight variation in anarchism
into our program. The establishment of a Revolu-
tionary Junta.

The revolutionary Junta was described by the Group as a
vanguard established for the purpose of repressing the revolu-
tion’s enemies:

As we see it, the revolution needs organisms to
oversee it and to repress, in an organized sense,
hostile sectors. As current events have shown,
such sectors do not accept oblivion unless they
are crushed.

There may be anarchist comrades who feel
certain ideological misgivings, but the lesson
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of experience is enough to induce us to stop
pussy-footing.

Unless we want a repetition of what is happening
with the present revolution, we must proceed with
the utmost energy against those who are not iden-
tified with the working class.

After this preamble, the Friends of Durruti set out their rev-
olutionary program, which boiled down to three major points:
1. Establishment of a Revolutionary Junta or National De-
fense Council, the task of which would be to oversee the war,
control public order and handle international affairs and revo-
lutionary propaganda. 2. All economic power to the unions:
this meant the formation of an outright trade union capitalism.
3. Free Municipality as the basic cell of territorial organiza-
tion, the intersection between State decentralization and the
quintessentially anarchist federal approach.

The pamphlet closed with a final section bearing the same
title as the whole pamphlet: there was a realistic, categorical
statement: “the revolution no longer exists” After a long string
of speculations and questions about the immediate prospect,
acknowledging the strength of the counterrevolution, a timid,
utopian, well-meaning and perhaps rhetorical summons was
issued to a future anarchist revolution capable of satisfying hu-
man aspirations and the anarchist ideal. However, the counter-
revolution’s success in the republican zone and the fascists’ vic-
tory in the war were by then inevitable, as Balius conceded in
his 1978 foreword (“Forty Years Ago”) to an English-language
edition of Hacia una nueva revoluciéon (Towards a Fresh Revolu-
tion).

*%
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So we may conclude that although various groups were in
touch with the Friends of Durruti we cannot strictly speak of
any significant decisive outside influence upon the Friends of
Durruti: Contacts? yes, but influence? No.

We have already dealt at length with the existence of con-
tacts between Trotskyists, POUMists, Group members and an-
archist militants. Contacts that consisted not just of discussion
and political debate, exchange and distribution of newspapers
but which also culminated in memorable high-risk acts of soli-
darity in the face of counterrevolutionary and Stalinist repres-
sion. A solidarity that was closer to the camaraderie?” among
activists than the ideological or organizational type of prosely-
tizing influence imagined by historians. Or to put it in such a
way that it may be comprehensible even to the most fatuous,
pompous, lying, conceited sanctimonious hypocrite from the
closed and illustrious guild of academic historians — help was
tendered to a comrade from a different organization simply be-
cause he had shown that he “had balls” and not because of any
abstract indeterminate degree of ideological influence in play.

However, there may be those who cannot grasp the meaning
of the word solidarity between revolutionaries.

*%

to accuse them of allying themselves with marxists. After the May events
there was more friendliness and interaction between the two groups. The
influence of both inside the CNT grew considerably. Generally speaking, it
was members of the latter who were most involved in distributing El Amigo
del Pueblo and La Voz Leninista”

#2 Munis and Balius, who had never met before May 1937, subsequently
struck up a comradely relationship, based on mutual appreciation and re-
spect, ideologically and personally. This friendship flourished in exile in Mex-
ico, since Balius lived in Munis’s home for a time, according to Arquer.
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— intelligence passed on to the Trotskyists by militants from
the POUM. There was also the underground publication by the
same printer Baldomero Palau of issue No. 3 of La Voz Leninista
and several issues of El Amigo del Pueblo on presses located in
the Calle Salmer6n.?°

Although the Trotskyists and the Durruti-ists were not in
touch prior to May 1937: and although they mounted no joint
action despite the contacts that were established during the
May events and in the ensuing weeks: from June onwards after
the proscription of the POUM, the Bolshevik-Leninist Section
and the Friends of Durruti’s newspaper there was a period of
solidarity and cooperation between the various underground
organizations and indeed of personal friendships between their
militants.?!

% Asis recorded in the report of the search of Baldomero Palau’s print-
works, a report taken by the magistrate drafting the indictment against the
Trotskyist militants: “In Barcelona, at 8.30 A.M. on the fourteenth of Febru-
ary nineteen hundred and thirty eight, officers [...] acting on instructions
from above, and carrying a search warrant [...] arrived at No. 241, Calle
Salmeron, a printworks, in order to effect a scrupulous search, in that it ap-
peared that it was being used for the printing of clandestine publications, in
some of which the lawfully constituted government was being attacked.

Once there and in the presence of the Manager of the presses,
namely Baldomero Palau Millan, who lives on the premises in the Calle
de Cera [...] they proceeded to carry out the order, the upshot being that
three printer’s “mastheads” were found: these, when copies were taken from
them turned out as follows: one was the mast-head from El Amigo del Pueblo,
having in the right hand margin, boxed, writing which stated “The Public En-
tertainments clash, which has been resolved happily, was a provocation by
Comorera. While our comrades fight at the front, this wretch is busily torpe-
doing the rearguard. The unity of these workers has frustrated his designs”
[text taken from No. 12 of EIl Amigo del Pueblo of February 1, 1938]: another,
from La Voz Leninista and a third from EI Amigo del Pueblo: all of which were
seized by the duty officers for transmission to their Superiors.”

2 See G, Munis’s letter of October 2, 1948 from Paris:

During the May events, the B-L Section contacted the Friends of
Durruti, but nothing was coordinated, for practical reasons and also — I imag-
ine although I cannot be certain — because the Friends of Durruti thought
they might lose popularity in the CNT if the leadership of the latter were
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9. Balius’s Thoughts from
Exile in 1939

An exiled Balius had two articles printed in the French anar-
chist review L’Espagne nouvelle. The first of these marked the
third anniversary of July 19, 1936. The second, published in
September 1939, by which time France and England had for-
mally declared war on Germany, was devoted to May 1937.
Both articles were the result of long, considered reflection by
Balius, who signed both articles in his capacity as “secretary of
the Friends of Durruti”

Both these articles stand out on account of the precision of
the language used and of their central focus upon the funda-
mental issues raised by the Spanish revolution. Thus, they offer
us with the utmost clarity of Balius’s thinking on the question
of power, the indispensable function of a revolutionary lead-
ership and the need to destroy the State and introduce a new
structure in its place (in earlier writings, this was described as
arevolutionary junta) capable of repressing counterrevolution-
ary forces.

In the article entitled “July 1936: import and possibilities”
he contradicted those who argued that the July events were
simply the result of the struggle against the rising by the mil-
itary and the fascists, which is to say that “without the army
rebellion there would have been no armed popular movement”
Instead, Balius claimed that this outlook was in keeping with
Popular Front-ism, the result of the subordination of the work-
ing class to the republican bourgeoisie, itself the chief reason
why the proletariat had been defeated. Balius recalled how the
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republican bourgeoisie had refused the workers the arms with
which to confront the fascist rebellion:

In Barcelona itself, we had to suffer the Transport
Union to be stormed by Generalidad goons who,
only hours before the crucial battle, were still ea-
ger to take away the rifles which we had seized
from aboard the Manuel Arnus, and which were
intended for use against the fascists.

According to Balius, the victory over the military had only
been achieved in those places where the workers, weapons at
the ready, and with no sort of deals with the petit bourgeoisie,
had taken on the fascists. Wheresoever the workers — as in
Zaragoza — had hesitated or made deals, the victory had gone
to the fascists.

The most important issued raised in July 1936, according to
Balius, was not the army’s success in a few areas in Spain. The
most important issue had arisen inside the republican zone:
who took power and who directed the war? To which question
there could be only two answers: the republican bourgeoisie,
or the proletariat:

But the most important issue arose in our zone. It
was a matter of determining who had won. Was it
the workers? In which case the governance of the
country fell to us. But ... the petit bourgeoisie as
well? That was the mistake.

Balius argued that the working class ought to have taken
power regardless in July 1936. Which would have represented
the only guarantee and only chance of victory in the war:

“The CNT and the FAI which were the soul of
the movement in Catalonia could have afforded
the July events their proper color. Who could
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administrative director of La Batalla and Ediciones Marxistas.
Rebull, without even bothering to consult the POUM leader-
ship, and honoring the most elementary — though no less
risky — duty of solidarity, granted the Group access to the
POUM’s presses so that they could print the Manifesto which
the Friends of Durruti distributed in Barcelona on May 8.1

Might this perhaps mean that Rebull had an influence over
the Friends of Durruti? Absolutely not. Did Moulin’s involve-
ment in the Group’s interminable discussions mean that Trot-
skyists had influence with the Group? Again no.

There is no denying that there was ongoing contact between
militants of the Bolshevik-Leninist Section of Spain and the
Friends of Durruti and that several militants of the Group were
recipients of the clandestine press produced by the Trotsky-
ists."?

However these contacts were not confined to a simple swap-
ping of the underground press produced by each group. The
various organizations outlawed in June 1937 kept in touch and
shared assets and intelligence in order to stand up to the re-
pression and carry on the fight from their common clandestine
circumstances or simply showed solidarity with fellow revolu-
tionaries. Such as in the ongoing campaign calling for solidar-
ity with those indicted in the show trial against the POUM. Or
else the intelligence that Captain Narwitsch was a police spy

'8 Jordi Arquer Historia de la fundacio ... op. cit.

' In the affidavit taken from Manuel Fernandez (“Munis”) by a magis-
trate and used as part of the book of evidence in the Espionage and High
Treason Tribunal of Catalonia versus the militants of the Bolshevik-Leninist
Section of Spain, we read: “Questioned as to which anarchist groups the
Bolshevik-Leninist Section, of which the deponent [“Munis”] was the gen-
eral secretary, was in cahoots with, he states: That they were in cahoots with
no one, since, had he been, it would have been with persons who had stopped
being anarchists in order to join the Bolshevik-Leninist Section, adding that
they used to send the clandestine press they published to some persons who
belonged to the ‘Friends of Durruti’, as well as to UGT and CNT personnel

»

too.
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counterrevolution everywhere, and I struck a
heroic or suicidal pose, saying to myself: “Let
death come if it will, but I am off to the front” Off
I went as a volunteer, and from then on I took no
further interest in the rearguard.

Peirats’s testimony offers us the key to anarcho-syndicalist
rationale and psychology. The Friends of Durruti, according
to Peirats, were authoritarians and Bolshevistic, and that was
reason enough to have no truck with them and even to go to
the extreme of embracing militarism and espousing a suicidal,
passive attitude to the progress of the bourgeois counterrevolu-
tion. Peirats, who, while in exile, took upon himself the CNT’s
commission to write an official history'® of the CNT during the
civil war, could not accept that there is nothing more author-
itarian than a successful revolution. But this was a very hard
lesson for anarchists to take on board.

Does all of the above mean that the Trotskyists had no con-
tacts with Rebull or with the Friends of Durruti? No.

In any case the POUM left (Rebull) and the Friends of Dur-
ruti (Balius) had a meeting during the May events, but the nu-
merical slightness of both organizations and the refusal by the
Friends of Durruti to issue a joint manifesto with Cell 72 en-
sured that these contacts failed to produce anything practical.!”

After the May events, the Group was disowned by the CNT
leadership, and although its members were in the end not ex-
pelled from the CNT, insofar as the Friends of Durruti always
retained a measure of support in the unions’ assemblies, they
were denied the use of the CNT presses. It was on account of
this that the Friends of Durruti Group turned to Rebull, the

16 José Peirats La CNT en la revolucién espariola three volumes. (Ruedo
Ibérico, Paris, 1971). In this, the official history of the CNT, Peirats hardly
mentions the Friends of Durruti.

!7 Unpublished interview given to Agustin Guillamén by Josep Rebull,
as cited previously.
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have stopped them? Instead of which, we allowed
the Communist Party (PSUC) to rally the oppor-
tunists, the bourgeois right, etc., ... on the terrain
of the counterrevolution.

In such times, it is up to one organization to take
the lead. Only one could have: ours.

[...] Had the workers known how to act as mas-
ters in antifascist Spain, the war would have been
won, and the revolution would not have had to en-
dure so many deviations right from the start. We
could have had the victory. But what we managed
to gain with four handguns, we lost when we had
whole arsenals full of arms. For those culpable for
the defeat, we have to look past Stalinism’s hired
assassins, past the thieves like Prieto, past scum
like Negrin and past the usual reformists: we bore
the guilt for not having it in us to do away with
all this riffraff [...] But, while we are all jointly
to blame, there are those who bear a particularly
heavy burden of responsibility. Namely, the lead-
ers of the CNT-FAI, whose reformist approach in
July and whose counterrevolutionary intervention
in May 1937 especially barred the way to the work-
ing class and dealt the revolution a mortal blow.

Such was Balius’s summing-up of the thousand doubts and
objections which the anarcho-syndicalist leaders had faced
in July 1936, regarding the minority status of the anarchist
presence outside of Catalonia, the need to maintain antifascist
unity and the repeated compromises which the war forced
upon the revolution. Balius claimed that the anarchists’
victory in Catalonia could have presaged the quick crushing
of the fascist uprising all across Spain, had the proletariat
taken power. According to Balius, that was the mistake
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made in July 1936: power had not been taken. And out
of that mistake came the rapid degeneration of the revolution,
and its difficulties. That mistake left the door open for the
growth of the counterrevolution, of which Stalinism was the
chief architect. But Balius reckoned the blame lay, not with
the Stalinists and the republican bourgeoisie, but rather with
those anarchist leaders who had preferred antifascist unity —
which is to say, collaboration with the bourgeoisie, the State
and capitalist institutions — over proletarian revolution.

In his article on the events of May 1937, published in Septem-
ber 1939, and entitled “May 1937: a historical date for the pro-
letariat,” Balius described the two years following May 1937 as
the simple aftermath of those revolutionary events. According
to Balius, May 1937 was not a protest, but rather a consciously
revolutionary uprising of the Catalan proletariat, which suc-
ceeded militarily and failed politically.

The failure was down to treachery by the anarchist leaders.
Again we find the charge of treason leveled by the Friends of
Durruti during the events of May 1937, only to be retracted
later in El Amigo del Pueblo:

But the treason of the reformist wing of the CNT-
FAI manifested itself here.

Repeating the dereliction shown in the July events,
again they sided with the bourgeois democrats.
They issued the cease-fire order. The proletariat
was reluctant to abide by that call and in a raging
fury, ignoring the orders from its faint-hearted
leaders, it carried on defending its positions.

And this is how Balius depicted the role played by
the Friends of Durruti in May 1937:

We, the Friends of Durruti, who fought in the front
lines, sought to ward off the disaster which would
have been the people’s constant fare, had they laid
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Peirats: Yes, before Durruti’s death, but especially
afterwards, there were lots of comrades who
refused to be militarized. The Durruti Column
was still a Militias unit, not yet the 26" Division.
Quite a few defied instructions and returned to
the rearguard, creating a certain climate there.
These were the ones that fought during the May
events in Barcelona, and although there were
other fighters as well, it was they who bore the
brunt of the attack. When things ended in such
a disgraceful compromise, there was a few who
hoisted the rebel flag again, formed the “Friends
of Durruti” group, brought out the newspaper El
Amigo del Pueblo and kept in touch. But they had
little impact, for some of them were not genuinely
anarchists: they were merely revolutionaries
and this created a certain malaise. They were
not widely welcomed, even in quarters that we
might term refractory towards the Organization’s
watchwords. I am merely articulating my feelings
here. As I knew the individuals concerned, I
never had any real sympathy with the ‘Friends
of Durruti’, because I found its leanings very au-
thoritarian. Talk along the lines of “We are going
to impose this, and whoever does not ... we will
shoot him” struck me as rather Bolshevistic. And
for that reason I was not a follower of theirs. I did
attend some meetings, but always for discussions
with them. The attitudes displayed by some of
them ensured that many of us held back from
helping them. And they achieved nothing. They
themselves devalued their own work. The real
work of opposition, therefore, carried on outside
of them [...] In the end, around about October
1937, 1 felt so weary, because of the creeping
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Consequentially, no group wielded discernible influence
over the Friends of Durruti. This contention, which we have
attempted to demonstrate, is, we believe, how the historical
record stands at present. But it is equally certain that the
insults tossed around by the CNT did not fall on deaf ears,
and that in the eyes of the majority of CNT militants the
Friends of Durruti as a group was “suspected” of marxism,
and that Friends of Durruti militants were always described
as being authoritarian and/or ‘marxist” in outlook. Take, for
instance the claims made by Peirats who was, let it not be
forgotten, chief editor of Acracia and one of the listed contrib-
utors to Ideas. Peirats was a CNT militant highly critical of
collaboration with the State and was actively and prominently
involved in the CNT opposition to the CNT leadership cadres’
acceptance of ministerial portfolios. By November 1937, he
was persuaded that the revolution had been lost and opted,
despite his anti-militarist convictions, to go to the front “to
seek death,” by way of a sort of suicide arrangement, on
account of the CNT’s contradictions. However Peirats was
not a sympathizer with the Friends of Durruti and in an oral’®
interview in 1976 he had this to say:

Question: Were you aware of the creation and in-
tentions of the ‘Friends of Durruti’ group? Were
you in touch with them?

Peirats: This was a group that emerged at the time
of the May events. In fact its origins, I believe,
can be traced back to the autumn of 1936, when
the campaign for militarization started. There
were lots of comrades at that time unwilling to
militarize and they quit the fronts.

Question: Prior to Durruti’s death?

15 José Peirats El movimiento libertarion en Espaia (1) José Peirats Colec-
cién de Histoérid Oral, Fundaciéon Salvador Segui, Madrid, undated.
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down their arms. We issued the call for the fight-
ing to be resumed and that the fighting should not
cease without certain conditions first having been
met. Unfortunately, the spirit of attack had already
been broken and the fighting was halted without
its revolutionary objectives having been achieved.

Balius very vividly underlined the paradox of the prole-
tariat’s having succeeded militarily but failed politically:

This was the first time in the entire history of so-
cial struggles that the victors surrendered to the
vanquished. And without even the slightest assur-
ance that the vanguard of the proletariat would
not be touched, dismantling of the barricades be-
gan: the city of Barcelona returned to its appear-
ance of normality, as if nothing had happened.

In Balius’s analysis, the May events appeared as a crossroads:
either the revolution was forsworn once and for all, or power
was taken. And he explained away the anarchists’ constant re-
treat since July as the fruits of the damnable Popular Front-ist
policy of alliance with the republican bourgeoisie. And also as a
consequence of the divorce existing within the CNT between a
counterrevolutionary leadership and a revolutionary rank and
file. May 1937 was a failure because the workers failed to
come up with a revolutionary leadership:

“The proletariat was at a fatal crossroads. There
were only two courses to choose between: either
bend the knee before the counterrevolution or pre-
pare to impose one’s own power, to wit, proletar-
ian power.

The drama of the Spanish working class is charac-
terized by the most absolute divorce existing be-
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tween the grassroots and the leadership. The lead-
ership was always counterrevolutionary. By con-
trast, the Spanish workers [...] have always stood
head and shoulders above their leaders when it
comes to perceiving events and to interpretation
of them. Had those heroic workers found a revo-
lutionary leadership, they would have written one
of the most important pages in their history while
the whole world looked on.”

According to Balius, in May 1937, the Catalan pro-
letariat had urged the CNT to take power:

For the essence of the May Events, one must look
to the proletariat’s unshakable determination to
place a workers’ leadership in charge of the armed
struggle, the economy, and the entire existence of
the country. Which is to say (for any anarchist
not afraid of the words) that the proletariat was
fighting for the taking of power which would
have come to pass through the destruction of the
old bourgeois instruments and the erection in their
place, of a new structure based upon the commit-
tees that surfaced in July, only to be promptly sup-
pressed by the reaction and the reformists.”

In these two articles, Balius had broached the fundamental
point of the revolution and Spanish civil war, without which
what happened remains incomprehensible: the issue of power.
And he indicated too the organs which were to have embod-
ied that power, and above all recognized the need to dismantle
the capitalist State apparatus in order to erect a proletarian re-
placement in its place. Moreover, Balius pointed to the absence
of a revolutionary leadership as having been the root cause of
the Spanish revolution’s failure.

After a reading of these two articles, it has to be acknowl-
edged that the evolution of Balius’s political thinking, rooted
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After May 1937, neither the POUM’s left'? (Josep Rebull) nor
the Friends of Durruti'?® (Jaime Balius) agreed to attend a meet-
ing summoned by the Trotskyists for the purpose of working
out concerted action, as noted in No. 2 of La Voz Leninista and
in Wolf’s report to Trotsky, dated July 6, 1937.

Only in French exile and from 1939 on was there any men-
tion of possible Trotskyist influence over the Friends of Dur-
ruti, influence which, in fact, failed to prosper, as confirmed
in Munis’s extremely optimistic letter to Trotsky on April 27,
1940.1

This is a crucial juncture. It will be too late next time. General Strike in every
industry not working for the war effort until such time as the reactionary
government steps down. Proletarian power alone can guarantee military vic-
tory. Complete arming of the working class. Long live the CNT-FAI-POUM
unity of action! Long live the Revolutionary Front of the Proletariat. Revolu-
tionary Defense Committees in the workshops, factories, barricades, etc..”

'2 Munis offered a very lively criticism of the ambiguity and indecision
of the so-called POUM left in Barcelona, in the form of Cell 72, which, at
the beginning of 1938, would dwindle to its secretary Josep Rebull and no
one else: see Grandizo Munis “Carta a un obrero poumista. Ia Bandera de la
IV Internaciénal es la unica bandera de la revolucién proletaria” in La Voz
Leninista No. 3, of February 5, 1938.

B In La Voz Leninista No. 2 (23 August 1937), Munis made a critique
of the notion of the “revolutionary junta” set out in No. 6 of El Amigo del
Pueblo (August 12, 1937). In Munis’s view, the Friends of Durruti suffered
from a progressive theoretical decline and a practical inability to influence
the CNT, which led them to abandon some positions which the May experi-
ence had enabled them to occupy. Munis noted that in May 1937 the Friends
of Durruti had issued the call for a “revolutionary junta” alongside “all power
to the proletariat™: whereas in No. 6 of El Amigo del Pueblo (August 12, 1937)
the slogan “revolutionary junta” was invoked as an alternative to the “fail-
ure of all Statist forms” According to Munis, this represented a theoretical
retreat from the Friends of Durruti’s assimilation of the May experiences,
taking them further away from the marxist notion of the dictatorship of the
proletariat, and drawing them back into the ambiguities of the anarchist the-
ory of the State.

'* Reproduced in Pierre Broué Léon Trotsky. La revolucién espafiola
(1930-1940) Vol. 11, pp. 405409.
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But I have had occasion to talk with old anarchist
militants, some of them quite influential. All
of them openly express the same notion: ‘I can
no longer stand by the ideas I supported before
the war. Let me proclaim my agreement with
dictatorship of the proletariat, which cannot be a
party dictatorship as in the USSR, but rather that
of a class. In the organs of proletarian power, all
of the working class’s organizations may come
together and collaborate.

This intriguing and impassioned interview with Munis in
La Lutte ouvriére merely bears out what we have been saying
about the Friends of Durruti. In the first place, that they were
not marxists, and secondly, that the emergence of the Friends
of Durruti as a theoretical anarchist dissidence was due to the
insufferable contradictions which the hard reality of war and
revolution created within a Spanish anarchist movement char-
acterized by its mammoth organizational strength and absolute
theoretical vacuousness.

Let us, therefore, rehearse the historical context of dealings
between the Friends of Durruti and the Bolshevik-Leninist
Section of Spain. There had been contacts prior to May 1937,
through the person of Moulin. It cannot strictly be claimed
that Moulin exercised any ideological influence of any sort
over Balius and the Group. During the May events there
was no collaboration between them either. They merely
encountered one another on the streets and both groups
issued leaflets with watchwords calling for the fight to be
continued.!! But neither of them was strong enough to unseat
the CNT leadership.

'! The leaflet from the Bolshevik-Leninist Section distributed on May 4,

1937 (reconstituted from the facsimile published in Lutte ouvriere No. 48, of
June 10, 1937) reads:

Long live the revolutionary offensive! No compromises. Disarm

the GNR [Republican National Guard] and the reactionary Assault Guards.
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in analysis of the wealth of experience garnered during the civil
war, had led him to confront issues taboo in the anarchist ide-
ology: 1. the need for the proletariat to take power. 2. the in-
eluctability of the destruction of the capitalist State apparatus
to clear the way for a proletarian replacement. 3. the indispens-
able role of a revolutionary leadership.

What we have just said does not exclude the fact that there
were other facets to Balius’s thinking, secondary facets, maybe,
not at issue in these articles and which are in keeping with the
traditional anarcho-syndicalist ideology: 1. trade union direc-
tion of the economy. 2. committees as the organs of proletarian
power. 3. municipalization of the administration, etc.

There cannot be any doubt that Balius, operating on the ba-
sis of the ideology of Spanish anarcho-syndicalism, had made
tremendous efforts to digest the brutal experiences of civil war
and the Spanish revolution. The merit of the Group lies pre-
cisely in that effort to comprehend reality and assimilate the
first-hand experiences of the Spanish proletariat. Life was eas-
ier as an anarchist minister than as an anarchist revolutionary.
It was easier to forswear ideology as such, that is, to renounce
principles “temporarily” in the moment of truth, in order to
revert to them once defeat and the passage of history had ren-
dered contradictions irrelevant. It was easier to call for antifas-
cist unity and a share in the governance of a capitalist State,
and to embrace militarization in order to defer to a war directed
by the republican bourgeoisie: than to confront those contra-
dictions and assert that the CNT should have taken power,
that the war was winnable only if the proletariat was in the
driving seat, that the capitalist State had to be destroyed, and
above all that the proletariat had to erect power structures of
its own, use force to crush the counterrevolution and that all of
this was impracticable in the absence of a revolutionary lead-
ership. Whether or not these conclusions were anarchist
mattered a lot to those who never paused to question
whether it was anarchist to prop up the capitalist State.
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Between 1936 and 1939, the anarcho-syndicalist ideology was
repeatedly put to the severest tests, with regards to its capabil-
ity, coherence and validity. Balius’s thinking, and that of the
Friends of Durruti Group was the only worthwhile attempt
by a Spanish anarchist group to resolve the contradictions and
dereliction of principle which characterized the CNT and the
FAL If the theoretical endeavors of Balius and the Group led
them to embrace conclusions that can be described as alien to
anarcho-syndicalism, maybe it would be necessary to recog-
nize anarchism’s inadequacy as a revolutionary theory of the
proletariat. Balius and the Group never took that step, and at all
times regarded themselves as anarchists, although they stuck
by their criticisms of the CNT’s collaboration in the State.

We will not venture to describe such a stance as either co-
herent or contradictory. The Stalinist repression that battened
upon revolutionaries following the May events did not target
the Group as such, in that it was never outlawed, but targeted
all CNT militants in general. Doubtless that helped preclude
further theoretical clarification and an organizational rupture,
which we, in any case, do not believe would have come to pass.

However, we concede that our analysis is overly political,
subtle, inconvenient and problematical: it is much more con-
venient, whimsical, academic and suited to the anecdotes and
caricatures on offer to fall back upon the deus ex machina of en-
tryism and Trotskyist influences upon Balius and the Friends
of Durruti.
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events, during which the Friends of Durruti lined
up with the Bolshevik-Leninists in the front line
of the barricades, this group’s influence made
deep inroads into the (CNT) trade union center
and into the ‘political’ group which directed it, the
FAI The panicking bureaucrats tried to take steps
against the Friends of Durruti leaders, accusing
them of being ‘marxists” and ‘politicals. The CNT
and FAI leadership passed a resolution to expel.
But the Unions steadfastly refused to implement
that resolution.

Unfortunately, the leaders of the Friends of Dur-
ruti have failed to capitalize upon the potential
force at their disposal. In the face of charges
that they are ‘marxist politicals’, they retreated
without a fight.

[Question] Are there actual indications of the
workers’ turning away from the anarchist outlook
and moving towards the notion of conscious
proletarian power?

The anarchist leaders’ collaboration with the
bourgeoisie and the overall experience of the
revolution and the war opened most anarchist
workers’ eyes to the fact that a proletarian power
was vital for the protection of the revolution
and of proletarian gains. Agreement between the
Bolshevik vanguard and individual workers was
readily achieved. But the organizational expres-
sion of that agreement failed to crystallize, partly
on account of the absence of a strong Bolshevik
nucleus, partly due to the absence of political
clear-sightedness in the Friends of Durruti.
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influenced by us, is espousing an outlook with
quite pronouncedly marxist features. At our
direct instigation, and on behalf of the ‘Friends of
Durruti’, an initial bulletin was drafted, the text of
which is still in our possession, in which the need
to overhaul all anarchist theories is posited. [...]
But we have lost ground in this regard, because of
our being materially powerless to afford effective
economic assistance to the ‘Friends of Durruti’ It
is not our aim to encourage movement in our di-
rection through financial means alone, but rather
to utilize the latter to bring Bolshevik ideas to the
workers who follow said current (...) we entertain
no wild expectations, but economic resources will
quickly secure us a preponderant influence that
would bring the ‘Friends of Durruti’, partly at any
rate, into the Fourth International.

Munis’s painstaking report talks throughout about the
prospects of influencing the Friends of Durruti ideologically
and even of drawing them into the Fourth International: but
that very same prospect, which existed in August 1939, is
confirmation that it had come to nothing in 1937.

f. In the interview published by La Lutte ouvriére, in its edi-
tions dated February 24 and March 3, 1939, Munis took this line
with regard to the Friends of Durruti:

This circle of revolutionary workers [the Friends
of Durruti] represented a beginning of anar-
chism’s evolving in the direction of marxism.
They had been driven to replace the theory of
libertarian communism with that of the ‘revo-
lutionary junta’ (soviet) as the embodiment of
proletarian power, democratically elected by the
workers. To begin with, especially after the May
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10. The Friends of Durruti’s
Relations with the
Trotskyists!

It requires only a cursory perusal of El Amigo del Pueblo
or Balius’s statements to establish that the Friends of Durruti
were never marxists, nor influenced at all by the Trotskyists or
the Bolshevik Leninist Section. But there is a school of histori-
ans determined to maintain the opposite and hence the neces-
sity for this chapter.

For a start, we have to demolish one massive red herring: the
so-called “Communist Union Manifesto” supposedly jointly en-
dorsed by the Friends of Durruti, the POUM and the Libertarian
Youth: but which, in point of fact, never existed. Its existence is
just a fantasy of the historian’s trade. Like Peter Pan’s shadow,
the “Communist Union Manifesto” acquired a life of its own
and refuses to be tied to its master’s slippers.

The misconstrued document in question was a “Manifesto”
from Union Communiste, a French Trotskyist group which dis-
tributed it in Paris in June 1937 at a rally organized by French
anarchists in the Vel d’Hiver in Paris, a rally with the partic-
ipation of Federica Montseny and Garcia Oliver.? The initial

! There were two rival Trotskyist groups in existence in Spain during
the civil war: the Bolshevik-Leninist Section led by Munis and the “Le Soviet”
group led by “Fosco.” We make no references here to “Le Soviet” because it
had no dealings with the Friends of Durruti. For this reason we use the term
Trotskyist as a synonym for militants of the Bolshevik-Leninist Section.

? For the “Communist Union Manifesto” as an historiographical error
see: Agustin Guillamén “El Manifiesto de Unién Commuistda: un repetido
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peddler of this mistake, which was subsequently repeated by
many others, was César M. Lorenzo.

As for the matter of Moulin’s* sway over the Friends of
Durruti, we are forced to conclude that this is an utterly un-
warranted historiographical invention. From the Thalmanns’
book it emerges that it was more a question of Moulin’s having
been swayed by the Friends of Durruti.® But even if this were
not the case, the influence of Moulin within the Group’s
ideology, as set out in its leaflets, manifestoes and above all
in the columns of El Amigo del Pueblo, does not warrant any
claim that it amounted to anything of significance, if indeed it
existed.

At all times the Group articulated an anarcho-syndicalist ide-
ology, although it also voiced radical criticism of the CNT and
FAI leadership. But it is a huge leap from that to claiming that
the Group espoused marxist positions. In any case, we have no
problem agreeing that analysis of the reality and of the upris-
ings in July and May led the Friends of Durruti to espouse two
fundamental notions which can scarcely be described as essen-
tially marxist — though they are that, too — so much as the
most elementary idioms of any proletariat-driven revolution-
ary uprising.* Those two notions are, to borrow the Durruti-
ists expressions, are as follows:

1. That one must impose a revolutionary pro-
gram, libertarian communism, which must be

error en la historiografia sobre la guerra civil” in La Historia i el Joves his-
toriadors catalans, Ponencies i Comunicacions de les Primeres Jornades de
Joves Historiadors Calalans, celeblades els dies 4, 51 6 d’octubre de 1984 (Edi-
ciéns La Magrana Barcelona 1986) and Paul Sharkey The Friends of Durruti.
A Chronology (Editorial Crisol, Tokyo May 1984)

? On this point we are in agreement with Paul Sharkey.

* See Munis’s article in No. 2 of La Voz Leninista (August 23, 1937) en-
titled “La Junta revolucionaria y los ‘Amigos de Durruti’,” wherein Munis
analyses the concept of revolutionary junta championed by the Group in
No. 6 of El Amigo del Pueblo (August 12, 1937).
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influence to bear on the Friends of Durruti and on the POUM’s
left, that influence never amounted to anything more than a
failed effort.

d. E. Wolf’s report to Trotsky, dated July 6, 1937, states as
follows [translated from the French original]:’

A tactical switch is required at this point. In
the past we focused almost exclusively on the
POUM. The anarchist revolutionary workers
were unduly neglected, with the exception of the
Friends of Durruti. But the latter are rather few in
number and it will be impossible to achieve any
collaboration with them. We even invited them,
along with the left fraction of the POUM, to take
part in a meeting to discuss joint action. Neither
the POUMists nor the Friends would agree to
the meeting. Not just because we appeared too
weak to them, but because they are still under
the influence of the monstrous campaign against
Trotskyism. Assuredly they say to themselves:
‘Why should we run such a risk and provide
our enemies with further ammunition about our
being “Trotskyists”?’

e. Munis’s report to Trotsky, dated August 17, 1939,1% which
appears to contradict our claims regarding the Trotskyists’ in-
fluence over the Group, has this to say:

In the socialist and anarchist sectors, there
is considerable scope for our work. The chief
leader of the ‘Friends of Durruti’, ostensibly

° Reprinted with the permission of The Houghton Library (Harvard
University).

10 Reprinted with the permission of The Houghton Library (Harvard
University).
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a letter to the ‘Friends of Durruti’, to the party’s
Madrid branch committee and to the left fraction
in Barcelona, proposing that we jointly sign a man-
ifesto demanding the immediate release of those
arrested, the restoration of premises, uncensored
freedom for the worker press, the disarming of the
Assault Guards, legalization of the Control Patrols
under the direction of workers’ committees and
a proposal for a CNT-FAI-POUM united front to
press for these points.

In the same letter, whose contents we may not
reveal because of the police, our Committee
arranged a rendezvous for discussion of any items
upon which there might be differences of opinion.
None of those invited showed up for the meeting
nor has any thus far replied to our message.
Unofficially, we have discovered that the POUM
leftists did not think the time was right for a break
with their E.[xecutive] C.[ommittee] and the
‘Friends of Durruti’ see little advantage to their
aims in alliance with the Bolshevik-Leninists.

In reality, the occasion could not have been better
suited for the POUM’s left wing and anarchism’s
leftist wing to demonstrate their capabilities as
leaders and their resolution in difficult times.

Regrettably, they have chosen to support their re-
spective organizations’ inertia rather than appear
to be active alongside Trotskyists. We cannot dis-
guise the fact that we regard this as reminiscent of
the universal terror of Trotskyism.

This text, which we reproduce in its entirety, is a sufficiently
clear indication to us that whereas there were strenuous efforts
made on the part of the Trotskyist group led by Munis to bring
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defended by force of arms. The CNT, which
had a majority on the streets, ought to have in-
troduced libertarian communism and then should
have defended it with force. In other words,
which is to say, switching now to the marxist
terminology: the dictatorship of the proletariat
ought to have been installed.

2. There is a need for the establishment of a
Revolutionary Junta, made up of revolution-
aries who have taken part in the proletarian
uprising, to exercise power and use violence
to repress the non-proletarian factions, in
order to preclude the latter’s taking power, or
embarking upon a counterrevolutionary process
to defeat and crush the proletariat. That this
Revolutionary Junta, as the Friends of Durruti
call it, while others call it the vanguard or the
revolutionary party, can shock only those who
are shocked by words rather than by the defeat of
the proletariat.

So, it seems obvious that there was an evolution within anar-
chist thought processes, leading the Friends of Durruti Group
to embrace two notions fundamental to every proletarian rev-
olutionary process and which have, of course, long since been
incorporated into the elements of revolutionary marxism. But
it is a very different thing to argue that the Friends of Dur-
ruti were influenced from without by Trotskyists and turned,
overnight, into marxists. Such a contention has validity only as
an insult in the propaganda deployed by the CNT against the
Friends of Durruti.

That the Friends of Durruti were not in any way beholden
to Spanish Trotskyists is transparent from several documents,
which we shall now analyze:
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a. On a number-of occasions, Balius’s own statements
roundly denied that the Friends of Durruti had been influ-
enced in any way by the POUM or the Trotskyists,> and
maintained that he still considered himself an anarchist
militant, although, naturally, one very critical of the CNT’s
governmental and ministerial collaboration:®

Anarchists may go to jail and perish as Obregon,
Ascaso, Sabater, Buenaventura and Peir6 have,
whose lives are worthy of the praises of a Plutarch.
We may die in exile, in concentration camps, in
the maquis or in the death-ward, but assume
ministerial positions? That is unthinkable.

b. The appeal issued by the Bolshevik-Leninist Sec-
tion of Spain on June 26, 1937 (ten days after the
POUM was outlawed) to the POUM’s left:

> In his letter to Bolloten written from Cuernavaca and dated June 20,
1946 Balius stated:

The alleged influence of the POUM or the Trotskyists upon us is
untrue. You will appreciate that the Group of us CNT comrades who headed
the Group knew perfectly well what we wanted. We were not newcomers to
the revolutionary lists. Consequently, all of the claims that have been tossed
around are utterly unfounded.

By my reckoning what I have said should be enough. You may
describe the Friends of Durruti Group as an attempt by a group of CNT mili-
tants to rescue it from the morass in which it found itself and at the same time
to salvage the Spanish revolution which had been menaced from the outset
by counterrevolutionary forces which the CNT in its naiveté had failed to
eliminate. Especially in Catalonia, where no one could have challenged our
supremacy.

In a letter from Hyéres (France) to Paul Sharkey, on September
7, 1974, Balius himself stressed the independence of the Group, confirming
the complete absence of contacts between the Friends of Durruti and the
Trotskyists and the POUM, prior to May 1937: “We had no contact with the
POUM, nor with the Trotskyists, but there was some mixing on the streets,
with rifles in hand.”

¢ Jaime Balius “Por los fueros de la verdad” in Le Combat syndicaliste
of September 2, 1971.
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Although you do not see eye to eye with us
upon every question and indeed are against our
entry, you nonetheless did not have any right to
reject collaboration with genuinely revolutionary
groups. On the contrary: you have a duty to invite
the ‘Friends of Durruti’, as well as ourselves,
to seek some common accord on the requisite
practical steps which may afford an escape from
this situation and pave the way for new struggles
that will lead us on to victory.

This invitation, issued by the Trotskyist group to the left of
the POUM, to summon a meeting between the outlawed and
persecuted POUM, the Friends of Durruti and the Bolshevik-
Leninist Section of Spain, that is, between the three revolution-
ary groups in existence after the May events, indicates that the
Friends of Durruti were deemed to be an independent group
organizationally and ideologically, on a par with the POUM or
the Bolshevik-Leninist Section of Spain:

c. This was the reaction to No. 2 of La Voz Leninista’ to re-
jection of the invitations the Trotskyists has issued to hold a
meeting between the POUMS left, the Friends of Durruti and
the Bolshevik-Leninist Section and endorse a common mani-
festo:

The ‘Friends of Durruti’ and the POUM’s left wing
have rejected a specific proposition. Following the
dissolution of the POUM and the arrest of its mili-
tants, the Bolshevik-Leninist Section of Spain sent

" La Voz Leninista No. 2, Barcelona, August 23, 1937.

® In Barcelona the POUM’s left was represented by Cell 72, and more
specifically by its secretary Josep Rebull, the administrator of La Batalla and
the Editorial Marxista. Josep Rebull had drafted a counter-proposition in an-
ticipation of the convening of the POUM’s second congress, at which he
delivered a radical critique of the political policy pursued by the POUM Ex-
ecutive Committee.
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